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SODIC is a leading real estate developer in Egypt 
that has established a distinguished reputation 
for more than 25 years through its diversified 
operations in West Cairo, East Cairo, and the 
North Coast.

The company specializes in sustainable, large-
scale, mixed-use communities that cater to the 

growing demand for high-quality residential, 
commercial, and retail properties. Our commu-
nities are home to over 30,000 residents and offer 
a diverse range of amenities, including schools, 
medical establishments, entertainment facilities, 
sports clubs, and retail outlets. 

ABOUT US

SODIC is listed on the EGX and is one of the 
few non-family-owned companies traded on 
the exchange, prudently managed with strong 
governance and discipline, with a track record 
of delivering projects ahead of time. Our unwa-
vering belief in the potential of the outskirts of 

Cairo drives us to develop ground-breaking com-
munities that significantly enhance residents' 
quality of life. Customer satisfaction is our top 
priority, and we continuously strive to exceed 
expectations by pushing the bar and delivering 
exceptional results.
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+30,000

NUMBER OF 
RESIDENTS

720

NUMBER OF 
EMPLOYEES

55

NET PROMOTER 
SCORE (NPS)

4,67
MN SQM

UNLAUNCHED 
LANDBANK

27
YEARS

YEARS OF 
OPERATIONS

2,873

TOTAL UNITS 
SOLD IN 2022

1,279

TOTAL UNITS 
DELIVERED IN 

2022

19
NUMBER OF 
PROJECTS 
ACROSS 

MARKETS

32

S&P
ESG RATING

295,945
TCO2e

CARBON 
FOOTPRINT
BASELINE

 +10,500

2022 CSR 
BENEFICIARIES

SODIC IN NUMBERS

11 | SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | OVERVIEW SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | OVERVIEW | 12

 �OVERVIEW  

 J ABOUT US  

 � OUR PURPOSE  

 � GENERAL MANAGER'S MESSAGE   

 � CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S MESSAGE  

2022 HIGHLIGHTS  

 � OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 � SUSTAINABILITY & CSR  

 � STRATEGIC OVERVIEW  

 � DEVELOPMENT VISION   

 � NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENTS  

 � VISION, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, 
AND TRANSFORMING SPACES  

PEOPLE & CAPABILITIES  

 � DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN  

 � VALUING OUR PEOPLE  

 � FOSTERING INNOVATION  

OUR GOVERNANCE  

 � BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 � LEADERSHIP TEAM   

 � CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

https://sodic.com/


OUR VALUES

OUR 
PURPOSE

WINNERS
We do it better, faster, and 
we never settle. We are here 
to beat the market.

CREATIVE
We constantly look for new and 
better ways to do things.

CUSTOMER-OBSESSED
We start with the customer and 
work our way backwards; customer 
happiness is everyone’s job.

SUSTAINABLE
We act responsibly to create value 
for all our stakeholders, both for 
today's and future generations.

OUR VISION 

To lead the Egyptian real estate land-
scape through diversity, experience, 
and value creation.

OUR MISSION

We create and deliver sustainable develop-
ments that redefine the real estate market. 
We work hand in hand with our stakeholders, 
safeguarding their interests, earning their 
trust for life.

W
e 

ar
e
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Ayman Amer

General Manager

GENERAL 
MANAGER'S 
MESSAGE

“2022 was an exceptional year for SODIC, 
doubling sales and scaling up the business 
to be able to deliver on our future growth.”
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BUILDING TRUST, DRIVING GROWTH:
DISCUSSING GROWTH AND RESLIENCE 
WITH GENERAL MANAGER,  
AYMAN AMER

A YEAR OF ACHIEVEMENTS
Over the past five years, SODIC has consistently 
maintained a market position of leadership. 2022 
was a continuation to our success, having nearly 
doubled our sales from EGP 11 bn in 2021 to EGP 21 
bn in 2022, increasing our revenue backlog to over 
EGP 34.2 bn and expanding our market share by 
over 45% among listed developers. Our strong 
reputation and ability to offer quality products 
that meet the evolving needs of our customers 
continue to fuel sales growth. 

WEATHERING CHALLENGES 
SODIC faced the challenges posed by global and 
local economic conditions with a sound strategy 
and an unwavering commitment to excellence. 
To mitigate the effects of cost fluctuations, we 
successfully minimized construction duration. 
VYE and KARMELL are notable examples as they 
are ahead of schedule and expected to be deliv-
ered by mid-2025, six months ahead of schedule.

To reduce the impact of higher-than-expected 
inflation, SODIC also employed hedging 
strategies. 

SODIC is a market leader in construction inno-
vation and sustainable building solutions. By 
combining both elements, we have developed 
our own technologies that achieved lower costs 
and reduced cost volatility during construction. 

BUILDING TRUST 
THROUGH CREDIBILITY
SODIC's steadfast dedication to timely deliveries 
and focus on customer satisfaction has resulted 
in an exceptional Benchmarking Net Promoter 
Score (NPS) of 55. This score, recorded at world-
class levels in 2022, is a testament to SODIC's 
record for meeting the expectations of its clients 
and delivering quality products and services. Our 
year-on-year improvement on this metric despite 
ranking 1st is a testament to our commitment 
to continuous improvement for our customers.

RELAUNCHING THE 
464-ACRES PROJECT
As is customary for SODIC, we placed open com-
munication and transparency at the forefront 
of our handling of the change in location and 
master plan of the 464-Acres project in West 

Cairo, resulting from changes in the new city’s 
zoning. We promptly communicated the impli-
cations to our clients, offering them the choice 
of relocation at the same terms or a full refund 
forgoing the usual cancelation fee. Our track 
record of credibility and excellence led to the 
successful relocation of over 90% of the project’s 
clients, and those who requested refunds were 
promptly reimbursed, reaffirming the customer 
centricity of our approach at every stage of the 
process.

EXPLORING NEW AVENUES 
FOR GROWTH
SODIC’s appetite for growth has led us to evaluate 
several acquisition opportunities in the market. 
Our focus is on integrating with entities that 
add value to SODIC’s portfolio or complement 
our capabilities. We remain opportunistic when 
evaluating opportunities for acquisition while 
adhering to our strategy-guided criteria. 

THE SODIC FAMILY
Our employees are the driving force behind our 
achievements and our key competitive edge as 
industry leaders. We are committed to support-
ing and investing in them, even more so amid 
challenging macroeconomic situations. We 
have established multiple initiatives and pro-
grams to help our employees grow and develop. 
At SODIC, we take pride in being one family, 
working together toward the common goal of 
delivering exceptional developments, and cre-
ating long-term value for all our stakeholders. 

2023 FORWARD-
LOOKING STRATEGY
In 2023, we remain focused on sustainable growth 
and delivering value to our clients and sharehold-
ers while navigating market changes. We aim to 
introduce relevant products, procure new land 
for growth, develop our hospitality business, and 
grow our commercial portfolio. Our fundamental 
mission is to maintain sound financial health and 
pursue ambitious expansion objectives, contin-
uing to lead and flourish in a competitive sector.
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CHIEF  
FINANCIAL
OFFICER'S 
MESSAGE
“SODIC delivers outstanding results despite facing 
economic headwinds in 2022. As macroeconomic 
uncertainty persists, the company leverages risk 
mitigation strategies and creative solutions to 
ensure sustainable growth for the future.

Mahmoud Badran

Chief Financial Officer 

”
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WEATHERING ECONOMIC VOLATILITY: 
EXPLORING THE STRATEGIES FOR RISK 
MITIGATION AND FUTURE GROWTH 

MITIGATING ECONOMIC 
AND FINANCIAL RISKS
In 2022, SODIC employed various strategies 
to minimize economic and financial risks. 
This included launching a smaller inventory 
to decrease launch-related risks and facilitate 
potential price adjustments. Additionally, we 
established a discounting arrangement with 
fixed interest rates as a safeguard against rising 
interest rates.  

The company enjoys a very liquid balance 
sheet, with cash and Treasury Bills investments 
amounting to EGP 2.9 bn, along with a prudent 
collection policy. Additionally, we have project 
finance facilities available for drawdown, along 
with EGP 1.7 bn of short-term account receiv-
ables, providing short-term cash flow visibility

GROWING WITH RESILIENCE
At SODIC, we are strong believers in the strength 
of our sector's fundamentals and our ability to 
grow the company despite challenges. SODIC 
has proven resilient to current economic chal-
lenges and has maintained its commitment to 
all stakeholders. This is evidenced by our continu-
ity of spending on all projects, timely delivery of 
projects, and strong track record of meeting our 
obligations to customers, employees, suppliers, 
communities, and shareholders.  

In our view, high and persistent inflation is 
currently the primary challenge to growth. In 
response, SODIC has devised risk management 
plans that involve smaller launches, stress testing 
models, expedited procurement of volatile mate-
rials, and a higher hold percentage of launched 
inventory. These measures are aimed at mitigat-
ing potential risks and ensuring sustained growth 
and stability.

2023 STRATEGIC FORESIGHT 
When it comes to SODIC’s medium-term targets 
for our cash position and debt-to-equity ratio, our 
plan is to align our leverage with the growth of 
our business. We anticipate increasing our lever-
age soundly, aiming to strike a balance between 
financing opportunities and enhancing share-
holder returns. In 2023, SODIC plans to explore 
additional avenues of funding, such as sukuk, 
securitization, and corporate bonds. 

As for long-term success, we strive to solidify 
our market position as a forward-looking entity. 
SODIC has a well-defined strategic business 
expansion plan, as we aim to become a prominent 
regional real estate developer offering diverse 
products and services. This involves acquiring and 
launching new plots and growing the company 
by increasing market share in existing markets 
and exploring new geographies.
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EGP

21
BN

87%
EGP

7.0
BN

1,279

GROSS  
CONTRACTED SALES

YoY GROWTH IN GROSS 
CONTRACTED SALES  

CASH  
COLLECTIONS

UNITS 
DELIVERED

EGP

7.81
BN

13%
EGP

2.19
BN

REVENUES YoY GROWTH 
IN REVENUES GROSS PROFIT

AN EXCEPTIONAL YEAR
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2022  
HIGHLIGHTS
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EAST CAIRO

W

EST CAIRO

N
O

R
TH

 C
O

AST
28

%

35%

37%

GROSS
SALES

OPERATIONAL AND 
FINANCIAL REVIEW  

A STRONG PERFORMANCE 
ACROSS OUR MARKETS 
2022 was characterized by exceptional sales 
growth with SODIC recording an all-time high 
of EGP 21.29 bn, up 87% YoY. The year-on-year 
growth was driven by the sale of 2,873 units across 
SODIC’s main markets. West Cairo contributed 
37% supported by the relaunch of the 464-Acres 
project at the end of 2021, which generated EGP 
3.72 bn in sales throughout 2022. East Cairo 
accounted for 35% of gross contracted sales on 
the back of higher sales volumes across Villette 
and SODIC East. In the North coast, June con-
tinued to enjoy strong demand from buyers and 
accounted for 28% of contracted sales in 2022. 

CANCELLATIONS 
Cancellations of EGP 1.25 bn were recorded 
during 2022, representing 6% of the year’s gross 
contracted sales compared to 17% during 2021. 
The company achieved record-low cancellation 
rates, falling below its 7% pre-pandemic average. 

CONTRACTED SALES

SODIC delivered stellar results in 2022 fueled 
by an increase in sales volume and surpassing 
last year’s record-high gross contracted sales. 
The impressive growth recorded in 2022 was 

primarily driven by the successful relaunch of 
the New Zayed project, combined with a solid 
performance across SODIC’s East Cairo and North 
Coast projects.
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 UNITS258
WEST CAIRO

 UNITS1,001
EAST CAIRO

 UNITS20
NORTH COAST

RESIDENTIAL

206
UNITS

COMMERCIAL

52
UNITS

72
UNITS

11
UNITS

390
UNITS

439
UNITS

28
UNITS

4
UNITS

11
UNITS

9
UNITS

127
UNITS

79
UNITS

89
UNITS

20
UNITS

COMMERCIAL

89
UNITS

RESIDENTIAL

912
UNITS

DELIVERIES
SODIC delivered 1,279 units during the year in 
comparison to the 1,163 units delivered in 2021, up 
c.10%, principally led by the 1,001 units delivered 
across its East Cairo projects. West Cairo projects 
followed with 258 delivered units, while the North 
Coast accounted for 20 of the units delivered 
during the year. East Cairo’s figures were boosted 
by the commencement of deliveries on the 655-
acre flagship SODIC East project at the beginning 
of the year, which resulted in the delivery of 439 
units as of 31 December 2022.

CASH COLLECTIONS
Net cash collections reached EGP 7.02 bn for the 
year compared to EGP 4.95 bn in 2021.

DELINQUENCIES 
Delinquencies contracted to 5.1% for 2022, down 
from 5.9% in 2021, despite market fluctuations and 
a series of devaluations of the Egyptian pound 
(EGP). This is testament to the company’s solid 
financial foundation and efficient debt manage-
ment strategy.   

DELIVERIES  
AND CASH COLLECTIONS
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REVENUES
Revenues of EGP 7.81 bn were recorded during 
2022, increasing 13% from EGP 6.92 bn in 2021. 
Revenues grew on the back of stronger deliveries 
in East Cairo projects, which, combined, con-
tributed 75% of the year’s total delivered value. 
East Cairo’s performance was led by Vilette's 
Sky Condos and SODIC East, which generated 
26% and 24% of the delivered value, respectively. 
Meanwhile, West Cairo projects accounted for 21% 
of total value, with North Coast projects contrib-
uting the remaining 4% of 2022’s total delivered 
value. 

GROSS PROFITS
Gross profit registered EGP 2.19 bn in 2022 com-
pared to EGP 2.34 bn in 2021, a 6% YoY decrease.  
Gross profit margin also contracted to 28% versus 
the 34% recorded in 2021 as the company booked 
EGP 542 mn in provisions to hedge against infla-
tionary pressures and the expected impact of the 
recent currency devaluations. 

This provision brings forward the potential impact 
of the inflationary headwinds on units that will be 
delivered in the coming two to three years and 
comes as part of SODIC’s prudent approach to 
financial management. It also further demon-
strates the company’s continued commitment to 

transparency toward its shareholders and value 
delivery for its customers.

Excluding the effect of these provisions, SODIC 
would have recorded a 17% YoY growth in gross 
profit to EGP 2.73 bn, which would have translated 
into a 120-bps expansion in gross profit margin 
to 35%.

OPERATING PROFITS
Operating profits reached EGP 650 mn for the 
year, with an operating profit margin of 8%. 
Operating profitability was negatively impacted 
by the provisions recorded to hedge against rising 
execution costs. Excluding the effect of the one-
off provisions, SODIC would have recorded an 
operating profit of EGP 1.19 bn, up 2% YoY. 

NET PROFIT
Net profit after tax and non-controlling interests 
reached EGP 520 mn in 2022, weighed down by 
one-off provisions. Normalized net profit after tax 
and non-controlling interests amounted to EGP 
941 mn, representing a 9% YoY increase, and with 
a corresponding margin of 12%. 

CASH BALANCE
SODIC maintained its strong liquidity position 
with total cash and cash equivalents reaching 
EGP 2.9 bn by year-end 2022 compared to EGP 
1.9 bn as at 31 December 2021. 

RECEIVABLES
Total receivables stood at EGP 31.1 bn as at year-
end 2022 of which EGP 6.8 bn were short-term 
receivables providing strong cash flow visibility 
for the company. It is important to note that the 
company reported EGP 4 bn in receivables as at 
31 December 2022 on its balance sheet reflecting 
only receivables related to delivered units already 
recognized as revenue. Additionally, the company 
also held EGP 27.1 bn in receivables related to 
undelivered units that are not reported on the 
balance sheet but are disclosed in the footnotes 
to the financial statements.

CLIENT DEPOSITS
SODIC’s total backlog of unrecognized revenue 
stood at EGP 34.2 bn as of 31 December 2022, 
which provides strong revenue visibility for the 
company. 

LEVERAGE AND INVESTMENT
SODIC continues to maintain a low bank leverage, 
with bank debt-to-equity recording 0.43x at year-
end 2022 and outstanding bank debt amounting 
to EGP 3.16 bn as of 31 December 2022. Over 
the past three years, SODIC has been gradually 
increasing leverage mainly to enhance returns. 
More specifically, debt-to-equity amounted to 
0.38x at year-end 2021, with EGP 2.55 bn of out-
standing debt, and to 0.37x at year-end 2020, with 
EGP 2.3 bn of outstanding debt.

INCOME STATEMENT BALANCE SHEET 
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SODIC consistently proves its unwavering com-
mitment to sustainability through tangible 
achievements and the seamless integration of 
sustainable practices across its entire value chain. 
In 2022, SODIC achieved a remarkable milestone 
by becoming the first developer to publish a GRI-
assured sustainability report, exemplifying its 
dedication to transparency and accountability.

Moreover, SODIC took the pioneering step of 
measuring its carbon footprint across all projects, 
positioning itself as the first real estate developer 
in Egypt to undertake such a comprehensive 
assessment. This initiative not only demonstrates 
SODIC's deep-rooted commitment to reducing 
carbon emissions but also underscores its proac-
tive approach to understanding and mitigating 
its environmental impact.

SODIC takes immense pride in its participation 
in the annual S&P Global Corporate Sustainability 
Assessment (CSA) for 2022. This significant 
initiative enabled SODIC to establish a solid 
sustainability baseline and gain valuable inde-
pendent insights into its performance relative 
to peer companies. After achieving an S&P ESG 
score of 32 for 2022, SODIC continues to strive 

for excellence in sustainability practices, setting 
a remarkable example within the industry.

To further underline its commitment to corporate 
sustainability, SODIC actively participated in the 
global Earth Hour movement. On March 26th, the 
company symbolically turned off all non-essential 
lights across its major project buildings, contrib-
uting to the collective endeavor of conserving 
energy and raising awareness about the impor-
tance of sustainable practices.

SODIC's sustainability leadership dates back to 
2014 when it became a signatory of the United 
Nations Global Compact (UNGC), committing 
itself to upholding principles related to human 
rights, labor, environment, and anti-corruption. 
Beyond adopting solar energy for its headquar-
ters and obtaining green building certification 
for its flagship commercial project, EDNC, SODIC 
actively collaborates with innovative startups to 
develop sustainable building materials as part of 
its ongoing innovation program. This steadfast 
dedication to sustainable innovation underscores 
SODIC's unwavering commitment to driving pos-
itive change in the industry and beyond.

SUSTAINABILITY & CSR

SODIC proudly participated in and sponsored 
COP27, the United Nations Climate Change 
Conference held in Egypt for the first time in 
November 2022. SODIC played a crucial role as 
a provider and supporter of the conference, sign-
ing a sponsorship agreement with the global 
conference. 

The company enthusiastically engaged in cli-
mate action discussions and emphasized its 
commitment to a sustainability-led corporate 

strategy, highlighting the vital role of the inter-
national private sector in promoting sustainable 
business models and supporting climate goals. 
SODIC's participation in COP27 aligns with its 
ongoing commitment to integrating environ-
mental, social, and corporate governance (ESG) 
frameworks into its operations, reflecting its 
responsibility toward stakeholders.

A LEADER IN SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABILITY

SODIC proudly receives green building certification 
for its flagship commercial project EDNC.

PARTICIPATION IN COP27
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SODIC has been actively involved in several 
impactful initiatives aimed at promoting educa-
tion and social development. In collaboration with 
Alfanar, SODIC launched Egypt's first Education 
Social Enterprise Seed Cycle in 2022. Five edu-
cational social enterprises, namely Future Zone, 
Mahrati, Makouk, Man Ahyaha, and Sawaa, were 
shortlisted as part of the program. These enter-
prises received a monetary award each and 
underwent four months of Alfanar Sustainable 
Social Enterprise Training (ASSET) and personal-
ized management support to strengthen their 
impact models, theory of change, management 
systems, business canvas models, governance, 
and communication plans. 

The Education Seed Cycle earned recognition 
for its goal-driven approach, providing intensive 
training and support for sustainable impact and 
change. SODIC and Alfanar have been successful 
partners since 2009, transforming over 30,000 
lives through grant funding and management 
support.

Another notable initiative supported by SODIC is 
emonovo, established in 2015 to provide educa-
tional opportunities and scholarships to youth in 
the Arab world. With an expansive online platform 
serving 2.5 million visitors per month, emonovo 
has become a leading platform for learning and 
development. In 2022, emonovo offered scholar-

ships and a life skills/entrepreneurship program 
to over 1,000 underprivileged students.

Sprints, established in 2019 as the first edTech 
social enterprise, focuses on providing hiring 
programs with deferred payment options for 
learners. Through Sprints, individuals can access a 
wide range of edTech courses in software develop-
ment, digital skills, engineering, and work-related 
skills. In 2022, Sprints signed a two-year contract 
with the Egyptian government and Udacity to 
reach and train 250,000 Egyptian youth, ulti-
mately aiming to employ 25,000 of them. SODIC's 
support has enabled Sprints to train over 3,000 
disadvantaged youth and women, offering them 
employment opportunities in the IT sector.

For more than 10 years, SODIC has supported 
Tawasol in running a community school that 
follows an integrated community development 
approach. The school not only provides education 
but also offers vocational and performing arts 
training. Additionally, the school serves as a com-
munity hub where members produce handmade 
products, generating revenue for the commu-
nity. SODIC's contributions positively impacted 
over 650 beneficiaries annually, covering school 
expenses and facilitating the acquisition of land 
for Tawasol's state-of-the-art school in Ezbet 
Khairallah. The new school, built to international 
standards, spans over 1,050 sqm and can accom-
modate more than 500 students.

CSR 
EDUCATION PROGRAMS

RELIEF PROGRAMS

SODIC embraces its responsibility toward 
fostering societal growth and development, 
recognizing its role in contributing to the bet-
terment of the national community and the 
creation of sustainable cities for the future. 
Through its dedicated Relief Program, SODIC 
organizes annual donation drives, blood drives, 
blanket drives, and food packing and distribu-

tion initiatives, channeling all collections with 
utmost care and diligence to support those who 
are most in need. Since 2019, SODIC's impact-
ful efforts have touched the lives of over 9,000 
families, reflecting its unwavering commitment 
to making a positive difference in the lives of 
others and creating a more compassionate and 
inclusive society. 

35 | SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | 2022 HIGHLIGHTS SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | 2022 HIGHLIGHTS | 36

OVERVIEW  

 � ABOUT US  

 � OUR PURPOSE  

 � GENERAL MANAGER'S MESSAGE   

 � CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S MESSAGE  

 � 2022 HIGHLIGHTS  

 � OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 J SUSTAINABILITY & CSR  

 � STRATEGIC OVERVIEW  

 � DEVELOPMENT VISION   

 � NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENTS  

 � VISION, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, 
AND TRANSFORMING SPACES  

PEOPLE & CAPABILITIES  

 � DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN  

 � VALUING OUR PEOPLE  

 � FOSTERING INNOVATION  

OUR GOVERNANCE  

 � BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 � LEADERSHIP TEAM   

 � CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

https://sodic.com/


STRATEGIC OVERVIEW WITH 
CHIEF STRATEGY, BRAND, AND 
SUSTAINABILITY OFFICER, 
NADINE OKASHA

A STRONG 2022
2022 was a successful year for SODIC on multiple 
fronts. The company achieved strong financial 
performance, nearly doubling sales YoY and 
competently navigating the challenges posed by 
local and global economic conditions. Following 
last year’s acquisition, the integration with Aldar 
was completed through a 100-day plan running 
across various work streams. The company also 
successfully established two independent busi-
ness units within the organization: a development 
business unit and an investment business unit. 
We continued to make significant progress on 
our sustainability journey, launching a series of 
initiatives and publishing our inaugural sustain-
ability report.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION 
IS IN OUR DNA
At SODIC, we are committed to delivering the 
highest quality products and services to our 
customers. The company measures client satis-
faction through the Net Promoter Score (NPS), 
a customer loyalty metric that indicates the like-
lihood of clients recommending our products 
and services to others. In 2022, we achieved an 
exceptional NPS of 55. 

Two NPS assessment methods are employed: 
Benchmarking once a year through a third-party 
research house that surveys owners of different 
developers to compare our NPS against our 
peers, and Transactional NPS, which measures 
customer satisfaction at every touchpoint. After 
each interaction, customers receive a short survey 
asking about their experience. This visibility 
enables us to constantly improve, reinforcing a 
consistent and positive customer experience.

A SECURE INVESTMENT 
As a developer with a solid track record of suc-
cess, SODIC is uniquely positioned to benefit 
from Egypt's strong demographic fundamentals. 
With a young and rapidly growing population, 
the demand for housing continues to rise in 
aggregate. Historically, this demand has out-
stripped supply, creating an expanding market 
that Egyptians turn to for financial security during 
tough economic times. Inflation and economic 
turbulence have proven to be catalysts for real 
estate sales in Egypt. SODIC has consistently 
distinguished itself through its prudent and dis-
ciplined management approach, making it best 
equipped to manage delivery and execution in 
the current high-inflationary environment.

CREATING COMMUNITIES
While SODIC's focus is predominantly residen-
tial, the launch of Spalanda, a distinct retail and 
commercial park located outside of a residential 
development, is a testament to the company's 
appetite to explore new opportunities and diver-
sify its portfolio. SODIC has always developed and 
curated tailored services and amenities for its 
communities, including schools, sports clubs, 
offices, and medical offerings, which are part 
of the larger development story. The company 
provides a comprehensive living experience to its 
customers by creating self-sustaining commu-
nities that cater to diverse needs and lifestyles. 
Spalanda will take SODIC's retail offering to 
the next level, offering visitors a distinguished 
experience.  

2023 FORWARD-
LOOKING STRATEGY
SODIC remains confident in its ability to weather 
any challenges that may arise in 2023 and is 
well-positioned to do so. SODIC's risk-averse 
approach to its balance sheet and forecasted 
income statement has historically enabled it to 
succeed in times of uncertainty while remaining 
uncompromising on shareholder value. The com-
pany has a track record of successfully managing 
challenges by providing unique and in-demand 
products, targeting the appropriate segments, 
and driving market trends.

In the next two years, the company is planning 
to expand its customer strategy, to ensure that 
we are responding to a comprehensive under-
standing of our customers' experiences. We are 
working with consultants to develop a customer 
journey map that measures other KPIs beyond 
NPS, such as customer effort, value created, and 
time to resolve issues. 

Our five-year strategy is an ambitious one cen-
tered around growth and leadership. This strategy 
is well-cascaded across the organization with 
both business units spearheading the growth 
across our portfolio. We continue to align the 
organization to achieve these ambitions, measur-
ing and reiterating as we progress. We are excited 
to see our long-term strategies come to reality 
one building block at a time.
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 STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

GROWTH  
& EXPANSION

SCALING UP  
OPERATIONS

CUSTOMER  
CENTRICITY

INNOVATION & DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION

CULTURE  
TRANSFORMATION
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2022 ACHIEVEMENTS 

 � 13% YoY increase in revenues to reach EGP 
7.81 bn

 � 87% YoY increase in gross contracted sales to 
reach EGP 21 bn

 � Overall market share increase by 4% (*)

 � East Cairo market share increase by 5% (*)

 �West Cairo market share increase by 8% (*)

 � 35% YoY growth in new customers 

* Among publicly listed developers, SODIC estimates

GROWTH & 
EXPANSION

OUR OBJECTIVE IS 
TO SUSTAINABLY 
GROW REVENUES, 
IMPROVE MARGINS, 
AND GROW MARKET 
SHARE IN EXISTING 
MARKETS AND NEW 
GEOGRAPHIES
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2022 ACHIEVEMENTS 

 � 10% YoY increase in delivered units, amounting 
to 1,279 during the year

 � Establishment of Asset Management Business 
Unit responsible for the effective management 
of current and future assets 

 � Establishment of Transformation Management 
Office (TMO) to oversee 22+ transformation 
projects covering automation, customer cen-
tricity enhancement, robust governance, and 
innovation

 � Establishment of Center of Excellence (CoE) 
department to support the deployment of the 
new target operating model, achieve a robust 
governance structure, and implement organi-
zational excellence

SCALING UP 
OPERATIONS

WE AIM TO  
PREPARE FOR 
PLANNED GROWTH 
THROUGH SCALING UP 
OPERATIONS AND 
STRENGTHENING 
OUR GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORKS
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2022 ACHIEVEMENTS 

 � 55 NPS in our annual benchmarking third-party 
commissioned report, up 13 pts YoY and ranking 
1st real estate developer in Egypt for the second 
year in a row

 � 605 existing customers made new purchases

 � Brand awareness rank improvement by two 
places (*)

 � Launch of “Voice of the Customer” program

 � First Egyptian real estate developer to measure 
their carbon footprint and issue GRI-assured 
sustainability report

* Brand Health Tracker conducted by a third-party  
agency [Awe Research]

CUSTOMER 
CENTRICITY

TO DEVELOP 
AND IMPLEMENT 
A CUSTOMER 
STRATEGY THAT 
BRINGS THE VOICE 
OF THE CUSTOMER 
INTO EVERY ASPECT 
OF THE BUSINESS
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2022 ACHIEVEMENTS 

 � Implementation of various modules for 
Salesforce CRM, enhancing sales and services 
processes with automated workflows and a 
comprehensive customer view across the organ-
ization, resulting in streamlined operations and 
empowering decision-making

 � Implementation of the Qualtrics customer 
feedback management solution, facilitating the 
measurement, analysis, and enhancement of 
NPS across all digital channels and touchpoints.

 � Launch of online payment gateway

 � 22 innovation ideas under implementation, 
focused on customer experience, efficiency, and 
operations

 � In 2021, SODIC & Green Impact MED (GIMED) 
Project organized an innovative competition to 
support green and sustainable startups in the 
Egyptian market.

INNOVATION 
& DIGITAL 
TRANSFORMATION

WE AIM TO 
CONSISTENTLY LEAD 
THE REAL ESTATE 
MARKET THROUGH 
PERSISTENT FOCUS 
ON INNOVATION 
AND THE 
ADOPTION OF NEW 
TECHNOLOGIES

 � Collaboration with companies and startups 
developing sustainable building materials, 
including: 

 � TileGreen: highly performing and eco-friendly inter-
locking tiles from recycled plastics. – Piloted in VYE & 
Karmell

 � Taqtak: renewable energy solutions for outdoor areas, 
such as charging stations in beach shadings, as well 
as large-scale maintenance of LED lighting. – Piloted 
in Villette 

 � Block Solutions: develops environmentally friendly 
Block-modules, using 100% recycled plastic. – Piloted 
in VYE & Karmell security room 

 � Unidome: a network of plastic mold that creates voids 
in the ceiling structure. – Piloted in one of the buildings 
at VYE& Karmell. SODIC will be the first real estate 
company to officially use this 100% recycled solution 
in Egypt. Reduces the concrete amount by up to 35%, 
the steel amount by up to 20%, and the CO2 emission 
by 20%.

 � Lafarge: Green Concrete: using ECOpact concrete 
actively reduces carbon emissions by 30%–50% than 
standard concrete (OPC). – Piloted in VYE & Karmell
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CULTURE 
TRANSFORMATION 

SODIC’S CULTURE 
IS ONE OF ITS KEY 
COMPETITIVE 
ADVANTAGES – WE 
FOSTER A CULTURE 
OF DIVERSITY 
AND INCLUSION 
IN A SAFE AND 
HEALTHY WORKING 
ENVIRONMENT 
WHERE INNOVATION 
AND CREATIVITY 
ARE CELEBRATED

2022 ACHIEVEMENTS 

 � Established a unit specialized in workplace 
health and safety

 � Development of new capacity building and 
career development framework and business 
simulation training tool

 � Identified innovation sponsors in every depart-
ment to champion progress in innovation 
throughout the business
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A RECORD-BREAKING YEAR
In 2022, SODIC achieved significant growth, with 
record-breaking sales in multiple locations lead-
ing to unprecedented revenues. 

We have exciting developments underway, 
including Villette, our signature development, 
with only 20% of inventory remaining. SODIC East 
began delivery in late 2022 and has been selling 
quickly due to its maturity, having begun deliv-
ery last year. June, our latest beach destination, 
saw first-of-its-kind concept floating villas sell out 
quickly in phase one, prompting us to expedite 
phase two. The 464-Acres project was success-
fully relocated, and construction was fast-tracked 
to deliver units by 2025. 

EDNC, our commercial project, is now occupied 
with premium office units under lease. We are 
developing a retail strategy and have assigned 
leasing to an external agency. Contracts with 
tenants will be finalized by mid-2023, with full-ca-
pacity operations possible by October 2023. We 
are eager to see our vision for this thriving com-
mercial hub come to life.

CUSTOMER CENTRICITY 
AT SODIC
SODIC prioritizes customer satisfaction by 
creating an exceptional living experience and 
providing after-sales services, such as property 
management and facility management, through 
our sister company, Edara. Our focus on com-
munity-building is reflected in the development 
and operation of community centers and clubs 
designed to foster a sense of belonging. 

We conduct extensive research before embarking 
on new projects through using our database, 
and engaging with residents. Our measurable 
approach identifies needs, allowing us to classify 
features that can be developed over time. Market 
research is conducted through surveys, and we 
maintain close relationships with clients to under-
stand their needs, preferences, and definition of 
luxury. Collaboration with top consultancies and 
strategists in engineering and market research 
is integral to our approach when developing a 
new masterplan. 

DEVELOPMENT VISION: A TALK 
WITH CHIEF DEVELOPMENT 
OFFICER, AHMED EL HALAWANY
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At SODIC, sustainability and digitalization are 
key aspects of our technological advancements. 
In 2022, we formally integrated sustainability as 
one of our core pillars and developed a compre-
hensive strategy around it. Our approach involves 
benchmarking against our peers in Egypt to 
ensure that we are implementing sustainable 
initiatives effectively and setting a positive exam-
ple in the market. Our efforts extend throughout 
every corner of our business, and as a company, 
we believe in equipping our employees with 
the necessary tools to promote sustainability in 
alignment with our core values.

SODIC's departments are researching new initia-
tives to achieve sustainability goals. One example 
is the Unidome system that reduces the use of 
cement and steel in construction and reduces our 
carbon footprint. Unidome is integrated into the 
464-Acres project, and we are working to refine 
it for future projects. Solar power drones at the 
VYE and Karmell developments offer energy-ef-
ficient lighting and heating solutions, reducing 
our reliance on conventional energy sources. We 
are proud of our progress and plans to promote 
a more sustainable future.

In 2023, we aim to focus on expanding our 
presence in the North Coast, where significant 
untapped potential exists given the demand 
for summer homes. Caesar has already been 
fully developed and delivered. However, in 2023, 
we successfully expanded the project's land-
bank by 180 acres for future development. Our 
June project was launched in September 2021, 
and our future plans include the launch of our 
next major development in June’s North Coast, 
“Beach Town” by mid-2023.

SODIC East, a project initiated in 2018, is at an 
exciting stage of maturity with the delivery of 
almost 400 units in 2022. Within two to three 
months of delivery, we witnessed residents 
moving in and furnishing their homes, showcas-
ing our ability to create luxurious and comfortable 
communities from the start. Sales have been on 
the rise over the past year, and we anticipate a 
significant transformation in 2023. The project is 
scheduled to be completed in 2031.

INNOVATING FOR A 
GREENER FUTURE

BUILDING FOR TOMORROW: SODIC'S 
FUTURE NEXT-GEN DEVELOPMENTS
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NEXT 
GENERATION 
DEVELOPMENTS

SODIC's next generation developments embody the essence of sustaina-
bility, modernity, and technological integration. These developments carry 
forward the exceptional qualities that have made SODIC's previous ven-
tures successful. They are designed to be multi-use spaces, incorporating 
diverse functions and amenities to cater to various needs and lifestyles, 
and create vibrant and dynamic communities. Embracing cutting-edge 
technology, these next generation developments leverage innovation to 
enhance residents' living experiences, providing advanced infrastructure 
and smart solutions. With an unwavering commitment to sustainability, 
they prioritize eco-friendly practices and materials, contributing to a 
greener and more environmentally conscious future. 
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Strategically located in SODIC West, SODIC’s 
first fully-integrated medical facility, SODIC 
Medical District, includes the renowned 
maternity hospital El Nada, as well as SODIC’s 
own Westown Clinics. In addition to the medi-
cal facilities, the development encompasses a 
number of retail outlets designed to comple-
ment the comprehensive nature of a medical 
destination.

Targeting a new generation of homebuyers, VYE brings a new kind 
of mixed-use development to New Zayed, built with innovation and 
sustainability in mind. Located within the 464-Acres project, it offers 
novel solutions to Egypt, with Neo, the first expandable apartments 
within multi-family buildings, and Sol, the first solar-powered town 
and twin homes. VYE’s unique designs and solutions stand apart 
with outdoor spaces designed to cater to sports and community 
activities. Among its perks, VYE’s outdoor areas are Wi-Fi connected 

to serve as co-working spaces for a growing entrepreneurial gener-
ation, all while being linked to the main Nova Park, delivering busy 
and vibrant living through and through.

VYE’s units were heavily sought after, the first phase of the project 
was sold out just 48 hours after its launch.

VYE
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Strategically located in SODIC West, SODIC’s 
first fully-integrated medical facility, SODIC 
Medical District, includes the renowned 
maternity hospital El Nada, as well as SODIC’s 
own Westown Clinics. In addition to the medi-
cal facilities, the development encompasses a 
number of retail outlets designed to comple-
ment the comprehensive nature of a medical 
destination.

SODIC’s second development on the 464-Acres project, Karmell, 
is inspired by California’s Carmel-by-the-Sea. It is designed as a 
small town, cantered around easy living, with shops in every corner 
and nature interwoven in everyday life. Karmell brings a walkable, 
enjoyable central town experience, fostering a graceful, carefree 
way of life. The first phase of the development saw the launch of 
innovative modern homes, including fully-finished double-floor 
houses with modern flying staircases, as well as the innovative 

Garden house and Sky house, which enjoy the privacy features of 
villas within multi-family buildings. This is in addition to the urban 
villas that are efficiently designed to include private quarters for 
parents/couples and garden rooms. The first phase of the project 
was sold out on the day of its launch.KARMELL
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Strategically located in SODIC West, SODIC’s 
first fully-integrated medical facility, SODIC 
Medical District, includes the renowned 
maternity hospital El Nada, as well as SODIC’s 
own Westown Clinics. In addition to the medi-
cal facilities, the development encompasses a 
number of retail outlets designed to comple-
ment the comprehensive nature of a medical 
destination.

Located a mere five minutes from SODIC West and spanning 150 
acres in New Zayed, SODIC’s high-end signature development 
features 160,000 sqm of landscape and open spaces. The Estates is 
master-planned with a 13% footprint to ensure privacy and seamless 
integration with nature. Serviced by a world-class designer club-

house and spa at the heart of the project, The Estates will boast 
spacious, luxurious homes ranging from mansion-like flat villas 
to town and twin homes. The upscale gated community offers 
something entirely new with traditional values at heart.

THE ESTATES
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Strategically located in SODIC West, SODIC’s 
first fully-integrated medical facility, SODIC 
Medical District, includes the renowned 
maternity hospital El Nada, as well as SODIC’s 
own Westown Clinics. In addition to the medi-
cal facilities, the development encompasses a 
number of retail outlets designed to comple-
ment the comprehensive nature of a medical 
destination.

Located at the heart of New Zayed, the modern-day prime location 
of West Cairo, The Estates Residences neighbors The Estates. With 
easy access to the Cairo-Alex Desert Road and Dabaa Road, the 
development is in conveniently close proximity to all services in 
the surrounding Sheikh Zayed area. 

Offering luxury multi-family homes, The Estatates Residences' 
asymmetrical architecture and nature-matching color scheme are 
a nod to simpler times. The development covers a 124-acre area, 
offering a mix of apatments and villas.

THE ESTATES 
RESIDENCES 
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SODIC East is a full-fledged world-class destination in East Cairo, 
located between two of Cairo’s main throughways: the Cairo-Suez 
and Cairo-Ismailia roads. It is directly adjacent to Al Shorouk City 
and in close proximity to the New Administrative Capital. SODIC 
East is master-planned by the renowned Massachusetts-based 

Sasaki, boasting over 84% open and green spaces. Parcelled into 
neighborhoods, homes are designed around outdoor living, foster-
ing a true sense of community while benefiting from the extensive 
range of amenities offered within the larger development.

SODIC EAST
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Strategically located in SODIC West, SODIC’s 
first fully-integrated medical facility, SODIC 
Medical District, includes the renowned 
maternity hospital El Nada, as well as SODIC’s 
own Westown Clinics. In addition to the medi-
cal facilities, the development encompasses a 
number of retail outlets designed to comple-
ment the comprehensive nature of a medical 
destination.

SODIC’s latest beachfront destination, June, is a coastal beach 
town with a beautiful sandy beach and pristine seawater. The 
Miami-inspired development offers a wide range of neighbor-
hoods, each with a very unique sense of the summer feel, to 
meet diversified tastes and living needs. Interconnected for 
residents’ convenience, June also offers pedestrian-only tracks. 

With hotel-serviced apartments and villas, a scenic coastline, 
swimmable lagoons, unobstructed horizon pools, beach hotels, 
and a plethora of amenities, June adds a one-of-a-kind home feel 
to the owner’s summer escape. June is built with an eco-friendly 
vision and brings smart green living to the North Coast. 

JUNE

67 | SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | 2022 HIGHLIGHTS SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | 2022 HIGHLIGHTS | 68

OVERVIEW  

 � ABOUT US  

 � OUR PURPOSE  

 � GENERAL MANAGER'S MESSAGE   

 � CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S MESSAGE  

 � 2022 HIGHLIGHTS  

 � OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 � SUSTAINABILITY & CSR  

 � STRATEGIC OVERVIEW  

 � DEVELOPMENT VISION   

 J NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENTS  

 � VISION, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, 
AND TRANSFORMING SPACES  

PEOPLE & CAPABILITIES  

 � DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN  

 � VALUING OUR PEOPLE  

 � FOSTERING INNOVATION  

OUR GOVERNANCE  

 � BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 � LEADERSHIP TEAM   

 � CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

https://sodic.com/


SODIC is laser focused on continually achieving 
sustainable and profitable growth while growing 
our market share. As we continue to scan the 
market for inorganic growth opportunities, our 
main priority remains expanding our portfolio 
of residential developments, particularly in the 
high-potential area of East Cairo. We are also 
exploring acquisition opportunities for prime 
commercial assets to bolster recurring income 
sources.

Within our communities, we continue to grow 
and diversify our asset portfolio with the addi-
tion of exciting new developments that provide 
exceptional offerings to our customers. We cur-
rently have two hotels under development, two 

schools in the pipeline, and 36,000 sqm of retail 
space nearing delivery. 

Place-making plays a pivotal role in SODIC's asset 
management strategy, with a central focus on 
engaging top-tier partners and operators for our 
diverse range of non-residential assets. Whether 
it involves introducing cutting-edge educational 
systems to our residents or the newest hospi-
tality concepts, SODIC remains dedicated to 
collaborating with industry leaders to deliver an 
unparalleled and inspiring living experience for 
its residents.

CHIEF INVESTMENT OFFICER HEBA 
MAKHLOUF'S INSIGHTS ON VISION, 
GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, AND 
TRANSFORMING SPACES

SODIC'S VISION FOR RETAIL SPACES 

SODIC’s unique retail spaces are curated to the 
tastes and needs of our clientele while foster-
ing a rich sense of community through shared 
experiences. From design to tenant selection and 
through every step of the customer journey, we 

strive to surpass expectations and provide a novel 
experience in every community. As we continue 
developing our flagship retail space in Eastown, 
we look forward to its opening toward the end 
of 2023.
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BUILDING CONNECTIONS AND 
ENHANCING COMMUNITIES

FOSTERING TALENTS WITH CLUB S

Club S, SODIC’s dedicated sports management 
division, currently manages three sports clubs 
across our communities in East and West Cairo, 
with plans for a fourth club in Villette, New Cairo. 
Our philosophy at Club S is to build clubs that 
become an extension of residents’ homes and a 
shared space for our communities. At SODIC, our 
goal is to enrich our residents’ lives by providing 
convenient access to a healthy and active lifestyle, 
as well as creating spaces that forge meaningful 
social connections.

We are delighted to share that Club S Westown 
is registered as an official sports club under the 
Ministry of Youth and Sports. The state-of-the-art 
facility offers more than 22 sports academies led 
by former Olympians and esteemed Egyptian 
athletes. Thanks to this registration, Club S 
Academies are eligible for participation in 
national and international competitions. We are 
excited that young members of our communities 
can flourish across different sports in a nurturing 
environment that caters to their individual paths.

EDARA: A KEY DIFFERENTIATOR 
AND SOURCE OF PRIDE

Edara, SODIC’s facility management arm, is crit-
ical in delivering the comprehensive range of 
services and on-ground experiences offered to 
our residents. With more than a decade of expe-
rience to leverage, Edara’s record of excellence 
sets us apart from our competition. 

Edara comprises a dedicated workforce of 
over 3,000 professionals who uphold our high 
standards of customer service. We have a robust 
training and upskilling curriculum in place for 
Edara's staff. All of our efforts are aimed at per-
petuating a culture of continual improvement 
that benefits our staff, customers, and, ultimately, 
all stakeholders. 

Additionally, we are proud to announce that Edara 
Property Management has been recognized as 
an industry leader, receiving the prestigious 

Facilities Management Firm of the Year award 
at the Big 5 Egypt Impact Awards. This accom-
plishment serves as a testament to the company’s 
unwavering dedication to delivering excellence 
in all facets of facility management.

INTEGRATING SUSTAINABILITY 
IN EVERYTHING WE DO

In line with SODIC’s strategy, sustainability occu-
pies a central role across Edara’s operations. We 
have formed a dedicated Sustainability Unit of 
20 professionals who translate our sustainabil-
ity strategy into action, establish sustainability 
guidelines for Edara, provide training, and pro-
mote initiatives that foster sound environmental, 
social, and economic performance. The team 
collaborates with various stakeholders for the 
creation of a cooperative platform that catalyzes 
innovation and drives sustainable construction 
practices and material use. 
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PEOPLE & 
CAPABILITIES

03
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DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN: 
AHMED SAMIR, CHIEF PEOPLE AND 
CAPABILITIES OFFICER, SHARES HOW 
SODIC DRIVES CHANGE FROM WITHIN

SODIC’S NEW OPERATING  
MODEL
This year, SODIC achieved exceptional growth 
and sales, driven by an improved internal frame-
work, SODIC 2.0. This new structure strengthens 
governance, streamlines processes, and leverages 
automation to support our expansionary growth. 
The company has transitioned from a more 
controlled structure, with decision-making cen-
tralized at the top, to a fast-paced environment 
with increased diversification and delegation. 
Our internal structure now consists of two core 
business units: Development Unit and Asset 
Management and Investment Unit.

The Development Unit handles tasks conducted 
in the pre-handover phase, including land acqui-
sitions, marketing, customer relations, and sales. 

The Asset Management and Investment Unit 
oversees post-handover activities, such as prop-
erty and facility management, recurring income, 
and new investments.

To ensure prudent governance, SODIC intro-
duced several new functions. The Governance 
Risk and Compliance function enables 
informed decision-making and risk reduction 
in accordance with regulatory requirements. A 
Customer Experience function was established 
to enhance client experiences through con-
tinuous feedback collection. We also created 
a Corporate Brand function to safeguard our 
brand identity.

CULTURAL TRANSFORMATION

SODIC's early days were characterized by a collab-
orative culture centered around the success of the 
Beverly Hills project. However, as the company 
expanded, it transitioned from a controlled envi-
ronment to a more competitive one, empowering 
individuals and delegating authority to nurture 
talent and drive greater responsibility across the 
organization.

This transformation from control to competition 
was challenging yet essential. SODIC has suc-
cessfully translated its aspirational values into 
a practical and comprehensive framework that 
improves decision-making and promotes healthy 
competition. This was accomplished through the 
implementation of department-specific score-
cards, aligning goals and enhancing policies.

CENTER OF EXCELLENCE: 
A NEW GOVERNANCE 
FRAMEWORK  
The Center of Excellence at SODIC was created 
with the aim of aligning all components of the 
company, enhancing efficiency, and establishing 
a streamlined operational model. By implement-
ing improved delegation practices across 60% of 
our key operational units, we bolstered individual 
management skills and maximized productiv-
ity within the organization. This approach was 
successfully applied throughout SODIC and its 
subsidiaries, utilizing frameworks, committees, 
and charters to equip departments with the 
necessary tools for the effective delegation of 
processes and procedures. 
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TRANSFORMATION 
MANAGEMENT OFFICE
In July 2022, we established the Transformation 
Management Office (TMO). The office is respon-
sible for program management and evaluating 
the benefits of all transformation activities at 
SODIC. Program management is divided into 
three categories: support, control, and directive. 
We worked with PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) 
to design, build, and provide knowledge transfer 
in the establishment of the TMO. We managed to 
onboard 22 initiatives through this new approach 
and were able to close out seven projects in 2022. 

OUR VALUES  
AT SODIC
Integrity and ethics guide our actions and goals 
as longstanding company values. We recently 
incorporated additional strategic strengths into 

our core values, which now include winning, 
customer centricity, creativity, and sustainability. 
These values are deeply ingrained in every SODIC 
employee and purposefully incorporated in our 
organizational culture and practices. In 2022, we 
organized an event called "This Is Us" to reinforce 
our values and a winning brand image among 
employees. 

Our culture of creativity and innovation is deeply 
embedded in both our internal and external 
structures. SODIC has emerged as a leader in pro-
moting ecosystem enhancement and developing 
innovative real estate technology that promotes 
sustainability and reduces construction costs.

Our dedicated sustainability team has made 
incredible progress in aligning our strategic goals 
with sustainability KPIs. Last year, SODIC released 
its first sustainability report, becoming the first 
company in the Egyptian real estate market to 

publish a GRI-compliant sustainability report. We 
also introduced our plan to reduce our reliance 
on limited resources while amplifying our positive 
impact on the environment. 

LOOKING AHEAD
As we embark on the new year, our optimism is 
fueled by the triumphs we have experienced in 
overcoming market challenges. Looking ahead to 
2023, our primary objective is to optimize and fully 
embrace the robust framework that propelled 
SODIC's growth in the previous year. Building 
upon the momentum we achieved, our focus is 
on aligning our strategy, internal structure, and 
operational practices to sustain our continued 
success. 

We will be adopting a more prudent approach 
toward large expansions. Our efforts will be 
directed toward refining our operational model, 
streamlining business processes, and fostering 
a culture of innovation. We will continue imple-
menting policies that aim to mitigate the risk 
of talent attrition, recognizing the invaluable 
contribution of our skilled workforce.

In 2023, we also plan to enhance our existing 
reward system to recognize employees who 
exemplify SODIC’s values in their work. We 
will integrate these values into each depart-
ment's KPIs, emphasizing our customer-centric 
approach through new strategies reflected in 
our scorecards.
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At SODIC, we value our people and recognize that 
our success as a leading real estate company is 
a result of their efforts. Our People department 
is dedicated to ensuring the well-being, growth, 
motivation, integrity, and equitable treatment of 
our employees, while also aligning their career 
aspirations with our organizational goals.

In 2022, we undertook a comprehensive restruc-
turing of the department to better support our 
team and reinforce SODIC's core values and 
vision. This included conducting "Crafting our 
Values" workshops, where we integrated SODIC's 
values into the workplace and assessed various 
policies for enhancement.

Recognizing the accomplishments of our employ-
ees has been instrumental in boosting morale 
and fostering a positive work environment. To 
achieve this, we introduced a rewards program 
that empowers managers to acknowledge excep-
tional work and contributions, while also sharing 
employee achievements and success stories.

We actively promote connection, engagement, 
and a sense of community among our employees, 
the company, and society as a whole. Regular 
initiatives, such as company-wide Ramadan iftar 
gatherings and corporate social responsibility 
(CSR) activities, foster a strong sense of belonging 
and camaraderie.

VALUING OUR 
PEOPLE

BUILDING CAPACITY AND 
CURATING TALENT
SODIC recognizes the importance of continu-
ous learning to foster growth and encourage our 
policy of promoting from within. Our learning and 
capacity building practices have been revamped 
with dedicated academies and career develop-
ment programs, and our robust methodology 
focuses on growth, retention, and operational 
excellence. As part of this initiative, we have intro-
duced a new capability framework that comprises 
three essential trainings: 

SODIC 101 Onboarding

SODIC 201 Aspirational Values

SODIC 301 Real Estate Industry Knowledge

We offer vertical and horizontal transition pro-
grams to drive growth and development. The 
vertical model focuses on competency develop-
ment, management training, assessments, and 
rotations, enabling progression within roles. The 
horizontal framework provides tailored oppor-
tunities for high-potential employees. These 
initiatives ensure comprehensive talent manage-
ment and continuous enhancement at all levels.

PRIORITIZING HEALTH, 
SAFETY, AND WELLNESS
SODIC is committed to the health, safety, and 
well-being of its people. In 2022, we established 
a dedicated Health and Safety department to 
develop our policies and procedures for work-
place health and safety. We also collaborated with 
Adze, a leading workplace consultant, to assess 
our framework and enhance workplace comfort 
and productivity.

A healthy lifestyle is imperative at SODIC; our 
people have access to fresh and nutritious staff 
meals, physical activity, and friendly competitions 
like the Ramadan Football Tournament, triath-
lons, and Run for a Cause event.

Employee’s financial well-being is important to 
us, and we provide a path to financial security 
through SODIC employment. We offer exclusive 
corporate deals and compensation adjustments 
to ensure affordability amid market inflation.

A crucial element of our ongoing health and 
safety efforts is our whistleblower policy. We 
provide a secure channel for anonymous sub-
missions to protect the identity of whistleblowers 
and encourage the disclosure of complaints and 
illegal activity. 

EXPANDING INCLUSION 
AND DIVERSITY
We believe that diversity in the workplace 
enhances creative problem solving and increases 
employee engagement, and we work tirelessly 
to attract a diverse pool of talent and ensure that 
SODIC is an inclusive and equitable employer. 
We are committed to hiring people of determi-
nation and ensuring our offices are accessible by 
providing appropriate accommodations, such 
as designated parking spaces and specialized 
facilities.

Women comprise more than 26% of our staff, 
and in 2022, we increased the number of female 
employees on our management team; of the 188 
women employed at SODIC, three are part of 
SODIC’s Management Committee. 

Additionally, our “Baby Creche” center provides 
a safe space for onsite childcare for mothers of 
children aged 0–3, ensuring an easy transition 
back to the office for working mothers without 
the need to extend their maternity leave. This 
has empowered many SODIC mothers to enjoy 
uninterrupted careers while ensuring safe care 
for their young children.

OUR VALUES AND  
VISION AT WORK 
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720 127 27%
TOTAL NUMBER 
OF EMPLOYEES

 NEW 
EMPLOYEES IN 

2022

MANAGEMENT 
POSITIONS HELD 

BY WOMEN

GENDER 
BREAKDOWN 

OF EMPLOYEES

26% Fem
ales

74
%

 M
ales

SODIC WORKFORCE 
IN NUMBERS

SODIC IS A GREAT PLACE TO WORK
SODIC has partnered with the global research and consulting firm, Great Place to Work® Institute. 
Through the world-wide organization, we conducted a series of happiness and engagement surveys 
to determine our employees’ perceptions of SODIC as an employer. We are incredibly proud to have 
achieved high levels of employee engagement and satisfaction and improved happiness indicators 
through our work over the last period.
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SODIC’S 
INNOVATION 
CULTURE
Innovation is a pillar in SODIC’s five-year strategy 
and an integral part of the company’s DNA. In 
2022, we formalized a new framework, enabling 
closer collaboration between departments led by 
dedicated managers called innovation investors. 
Throughout the year, we held internal workshops 
to identify key innovation themes addressing 
efficiency, sustainability, and technological 
advancement. These themes form the basis 
of our robust innovation programs, guided by 
department-specific innovation investors with 
business and design thinking expertise.

Working closely with our different departments, 
innovation investors support the development of 
new ideas. They ensure proposals are well-pre-
sented, financially viable, and aligned with our 
goals. After careful evaluation and refinement, 

innovative proposals are presented to top 
management. Already, our new framework has 
resulted in 22 innovation ideas that are being 
included in senior management's scorecards. 

PARTNERS IN 
INNOVATION 
SODIC fosters innovation partnerships, with both 
small startups or established companies spe-
cialized in real estate technology, or prop tech, 
after exploring, piloting, scoping, and assessing 
potential programs and ensuring compatibility 
between their offerings and our value chain. 

Our collaborations have generated ground-
breaking ideas in construction technology, 
showcasing our collective innovative prowess. 
Examples include the development of inter-
locks made from recycled plastic, as well as the 
integration of specific recycled plastic compo-
nents within steel to minimize its overall usage 
during construction.

FOSTERING INNOVATION

MANEUVERING 
CHALLENGES
There are always challenges in the innovation 
process, but we work closely with departments 
across SODIC to strengthen their appetite for 
innovation through education, incentivization, 
and rigorous program development criteria. 

We face challenges related to cost and manufac-
turing, especially with regards to sustainability 
innovations. Solutions that reduce the amount 
of steel used in construction by incorporating 
recycled plastics are costly to produce domes-
tically, and the consistency of the quality of the 
recycled plastic can vary. Challenges of this nature 
require a focused, creative, and collaborative 
approach, which we try to foster internally and 
in our partnerships.

Finally, regulatory challenges are expected when 
endeavoring innovation. Our design team works 

diligently to ensure adherence to regulatory 
and construction codes, while our government 
relations team is instrumental in advocating for 
regulation to keep pace with innovation. 

ON-SITE R&D LAB
SODIC built its first Research and Development 
(R&D) Unit at the site of VYE and Karmell, where 
the innovation team tests various construction 
and project management innovations on mock-
ups and prototypes. This has been an incredible 
development for the innovation team over the last 
year and has positively impacted our progress.

FUTURE OUTLOOK
Looking at 2023, we plan on initiating a call for 
innovation within the market, leveraging the suc-
cesses and accomplishments we have achieved 
thus far. We also intend to focus on guiding 
our teams, optimizing internal operations, and 
enhancing overall efficiency and effectiveness.
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OUR 
GOVERNANCE
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TALAL AL DHIYEBI
CHAIRMAN OF THE 
BOARD  
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

Talal Al Dhiyebi is the Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at Aldar 
Properties, having previously held the positions of Chief Development 
Officer and Executive Director of Asset Management, among other 
senior positions within the group. 

Al Dhiyebi serves on the boards of numerous companies, including 
Chairman of Aldar Investment, Chairman of Aldar Estates, Chairman 
of Musanada, and Vice-Chairman of Aldar Education, as well as 
board member of Miral Asset Management, Abu Dhabi Motorsports 
Management, Sandooq Al Watan, Abu Dhabi Housing Authority, 
and Abu Dhabi Chamber of Commerce and Industry. 

Al Dhiyebi is a graduate of electrical engineering from the University 
of Melbourne, Australia.

OSAMA SALEH
DEPUTY CHAIRMAN  
OF THE BOARD  
(INDEPENDENT)

Osama Saleh served as Non-executive Chairman of SODIC from 1 
April 2020 until 16 January, 2022. He has over 40 years of experience 
and held several leading positions in the public and private sectors. 
Saleh is a renowned Egyptian economist who once served as the 
Minister of Investment. 

Saleh served as the Chairman of the Egyptian Mortgage Finance 
Authority (MFA), Chairman of the General Authority for Investment 
and Free Zones (GAFI), and the Regional Manager of American 
Express Bank Ltd. He is currently the Non-executive Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of Ayadi for Investment and Development, 
Ayadi for Urban Development, Abu Soma Tourism Development 
Company, and Damietta City Furniture Company. He is the Founder 
and Chairman of Riseinvest for Financial Consultancy and Investment 
Solutions and Chairman of the Egyptian-Serbian Business Council. 
Saleh is also a board member of several authorities and compa-
nies, including the National Investment Bank, NI Capital Company, 
Akhbar Al-Youm Investment Company, and the Holding Company for 
Electricity Distribution. Saleh has a BA from the Faculty of Commerce, 
Cairo University.

BOARD OF
DIRECTORS
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DAVID DUDLEY
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

David Dudley is the Chief Partnerships and Investments Officer at 
Aldar Development and is responsible for executing and managing 
development partnerships, including joint ventures, public-private 
partnerships, land acquisition, and corporate acquisitions. Dudley 
also plays a key role in the development and implementation of 
Aldar Development’s strategy for international expansion and asset 
class diversification.

Dudley has over 25 years of global experience in real estate advisory, 
development management, asset management, and transactions. 
Prior to joining Aldar, he held senior positions at JLL, including 
Director of Operations and Head of Abu Dhabi, KSA, and Egypt, 
and prior to that, he held senior roles with JLL in Hong Kong, Asia, 
Russia, and the UK.

Dudley holds a BSc (Hons) in urban land economics from Sheffield 
Hallam University. He serves as a board member for various Aldar 
Development Partnerships.

SANA KHATER
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

Sana Khater is the Executive Director of Group Finance at Aldar 
Properties and is responsible for leading the company’s finance 
functions across reporting, assurance, controllership, and managing 
relationships with subsidiary management teams, external auditors, 
and regulators.

Khater has over 25 years of experience in the finance and banking 
sectors, having held several financial leadership positions within 
publicly listed companies spanning UAE, Kuwait, and Canada. Most 
recently, she served as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) at Waha Capital.

Khater holds a degree in accounting and finance from McGill 
University, as well as a range of other qualifications from the American 
University of Beirut, Saïd Business School, University of Oxford, IMD, 
and Wharton. She serves as an Independent Audit Committee 
member at Abu Dhabi Health Services Company (SEHA).

Jonathan Emery is the Chief Executive Officer at Aldar Development 
and is responsible for all development activities across the company.

Throughout his 30+ years in the global real estate industry, Emery has 
held senior positions at leading developers, including UK Managing 
Director at Hammerson and Managing Director of Development and 
Communities at Majid Al Futtaim. Most recently, he as held senior 
positions at Lendlease—a multinational construction, property, and 
infrastructure company—where he was both CEO of the firm’s global 
residential practice and Managing Director of Property for Europe, 
and prior to that, he was their Managing Director of Development 
for Australia.

Emery graduated from Nottingham Trent University in the UK. He 
also attended a number of other academic institutions, including 
Henley Management College, Harvard, and INSEAD, and he has 
been a visiting professor at Yale University.

JONATHAN EMERY
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)
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OMAR MEHANNA
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

Omar Mehanna is the Head of Sovereign Partnerships at Abu 
Dhabi Developmental Holding Company (ADQ). He has over 20 
years of investment and banking experience across multiple sectors, 
including real estate and infrastructure, technology, and financial 
services. His previous roles include Head of Investments at Abu Dhabi 
Investment Office, Global Head of Merchant Banking at NBAD, and 
Head of HSBC MENA Investment Banking. Mehanna is a qualified 
ICAEW Chartered Accountant from PwC UK and currently serves 
as a member of the Board of Directors of Amoun Pharmaceuticals. 
Mehanna received his MSc in management (Artificial Intelligence 
thesis) and BSc in econometrics and mathematical economics from 
London School of Economics.

DALIA KHORSHID
BOARD MEMBER 
(INDEPENDENT)

Dalia Khorshid is the Chairwoman and CEO of MASAR. Prior to that, 
she founded and chaired Eagle Capital for Financial Investment. 
Khorshid is the former Egyptian Minister of Investment, a position 
through which she led the charge on Egypt’s investment law.

Khorshid has over two decades of extensive and diverse experience 
in the banking and financial sector with some of the biggest corpo-
rate names in Egypt. Prior to her stint as Minister, Khorshid spent 11 
years as Executive Vice President and Group Treasurer at Orascom 
Construction Limited and Group Treasurer at OCI NV, where she suc-
cessfully spearheaded their multi-billion-dollar fundraising initiatives. 
She also spent a year with the groups as Deputy Corporate Finance 
and Investment Banking Group Head of the North African region, 
where she skillfully brought numerous deals to completion, including 
cementing a loan to OCI-owned Algerian Cement Company and 
advising on several high-level M&A transactions.

Khorshid held numerous roles within Citibank’s Corporate Banking 
Group in Egypt, working her way from Management Associate to 
Vice President of the division to Head of Corporate Finance and 
Investment Banking in Citibank Middle East and North Africa. 
Khorshid also spent three years as Relationship Manager of the 
Corporate Banking Group of CIB, Egypt’s largest private sector bank.

Fahad Abdulla Al Mahmood is the Managing Director of Aldar 
International and is responsible for leading Aldar’s expansion into 
international markets. The company’s first new market entry was 
completed in 2021 through the acquisition of a majority stake in one 
of Egypt’s leading real estate companies, SODIC.

Since joining Aldar in 2013, Al Mahmood has held a number of senior 
positions, including Chief Ventures Officer at Aldar Development, 
Executive Director of Stakeholder Management, and Director of 
Infrastructure and Government Relations. Before joining Aldar, he 
spent seven years at Emirates Advanced Investment as a secondee 
from the UAE government, where he was employed as an engineer 
since 2001.

Al Mahmood received his MBA from the New York Institute of 
Technology and his BSc in electrical and electronics engineering 
from the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU). 

FAHAD ABDULLA 
AL MAHMOOD
BOARD MEMBER  
(NON-EXECUTIVE)
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Magued Sherif has over 35 years of professional experience, includ-
ing several leadership positions with prominent companies in 
the industry. His past positions include Egypt Country Head and 
Properties Chief Executive Officer at Majid Al Futtaim Properties 
– Egypt, as well as General Manager and Senior Vice President at 
Palm Hills Developments for a 10-year period starting from the 
company's inception. Sherif was also Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director at Hyde Park Properties for Development 
from 2012 to 2014.

Sherif was most recently the Co-Founder and Managing Director 
of The Venturers LLC in Orlando, Florida, as well as the Co-Founder 
of AA Investments LLC, Orlando. Earlier in his career, Sherif worked 
as Head of the Privatization Unit at Arthur Anderson, in addition 
to spending seven years at Bechtel Egypt and Bechtel Limited.

He began his career as a Site Engineer with Orascom Construction 
Industries in 1986. Sherif holds a BSc in architecture from Cairo 
University, Egypt, in addition to an MBA from The American 
University in Cairo.

MAGUED SHERIF
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

AMER AL AMERI
BOARD MEMBER 
(NON-EXECUTIVE)

Amer Al Ameri is the Head of Venture Capital and Technology 
Investments at ADQ.

Prior to joining ADQ, he spent two years at the Abu Dhabi Executive 
Office as a member of the team managing the Abu Dhabi govern-
ment's flagship Ghadan 21 program. He also held investment roles 
at the Abu Dhabi Investment Council. Al Ameri currently serves as a 
member of the Board of Directors of Invest AD, a specialist principal 
investment and asset management company focused on the MENA 
region, as well as some of the region’s most promising start ups.

Al Ameri is a Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA) Charterholder and 
has an MBA from the University of Oxford.
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Mahmoud Badran is the Chief Financial Officer 
(CFO) at SODIC. Since joining in October 2010, he 
has overseen the company’s financial planning, 
budgeting, project finance, and treasury. Badran 
has played an instrumental role in providing 
the necessary funding for SODIC’s portfolio of 
developments, with total project finance facilities 
signed in excess of EGP 8 bn since 2014. Badran 
also executed SODIC’s first securitization issu-
ance worth EGP 400 mn, along with SODIC’s first 
discounting finance facility worth EGP 600 mn. 

Badran started his career in April 2008 as an 
Equity Analyst at Beltone Financial with a focus 
on construction and real estate in the MENA 
region.

Badran received a BA in economics from The 
American University in Cairo in 2007, and he is a 
certified Chartered Financial Analyst (CFA). 

Badran resigned from SODIC in May 2023.

Ayman Amer is SODIC's General Manager, and 
he has over 23 years of experience across the real 
estate, project management, and construction 
industries in North Africa. Amer previously held 
the position of Chief Operating Officer at SODIC, 
where he headed the Development Business 
Unit, and oversaw operations from land acquisi-
tion and project development to marketing and 
sales of SODIC’s developments. Amer also served 
as SODIC’s Chief Business Development and 
Procurement Officer, where he was responsible 
for setting and monitoring SODIC’s procurement 
strategy across all divisions, as well as expanding 
the company’s landbank and forming strategic 
partnerships.  

Prior to joining SODIC, Amer spent four years at 
Turner International Middle East (TIME), following 
his tenure at Orascom Construction Industries 
(OCI). 

Amer holds a BSc in architectural engineering 
from Cairo University and a diploma in project 
management from The American University 
in Cairo. He is also a Certified International 
Procurement Professional.

LEADERSHIP  
TEAM

AYMAN AMER 
GENERAL MANAGER

MAHMOUD BADRAN 
ACTING CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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AHMED EL-
HALAWANY 
CHIEF DEVELOPMENT 
OFFICER

Ahmed El-Halawany is the Chief Development Officer at SODIC. 
He has over 19 years of experience in managing the development 
portfolio of prominent real estate players in Egypt and the region.

Prior to joining SODIC, El-Halawany served as the Chief Development 
Officer at Orascom Development in Egypt, where he led the real 
estate business unit in El Gouna with special focus on projects’ pro-
gress, revenues, deliveries, and cash flow management. 

El-Halawany also served as the Development Director for Malls and 
Residential Units at Marakez and as the Development Director at 
Eagle Hills Properties. At SODIC, El-Halawany held the same posi-
tion, overseeing Eastown for over two years. Earlier in his career, 
El-Halawany spent five years as Development Manager at Emaar 
Properties, Mivida, following his role as Design Architect at Dar El 
Handasah. 

El-Halawany holds a BSc in architecture from Cairo University.

MARWA EL 
KHODARY 
GENERAL COUNCIL

Marwa El Khodary is SODIC’s General Counsel, overseeing the Legal 
and Compliance departments. El Khodary has over 23 years of legal 
expertise in managing public and private companies and provid-
ing various commercial legal services, with extensive experience in 
commercial, international trade, and financial law. El Khodary is a 
member of the Arab Lawyers Union, the Egyptian Bar Association, 
and the British Chevening Scholars Association.

Prior to joining SODIC, El Khodary was an Arab Legal Consultant 
Partner, Foreign Trade Analyst at the Ministry of Economy and Foreign 
Trade, and attorney at law at various well-reputed organizations.

El Khodary received a Chevening Scholarship for an LLM in inter-
national business law from the London School of Economics and 
Political Science.

Yasser El Said is the Chief Projects Officer at SODIC with over 30 
years of experience in the real estate, project management, and 
construction sectors in Egypt and the Gulf region. In his capacity, 
he oversees the Technical, Controls, and Design divisions. 

Prior to joining SODIC in 2010 as Senior Projects Manager, El Said 
spent four years as Project Manager at Dubai-based Nakheel Co. 
and served as Construction Manager at project management firm 
Hill International. During his work in Egypt, El Said spent nine years 
with ABB SUSA, taking part in various USAID projects. 

El Said holds a BSc in civil engineering from Mansoura University.

YASSER EL SAID 
CHIEF PROJECTS OFFICER
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ALY EL SAMRA 
CHIEF COMMERCIAL 
OFFICER 

Aly El Samra is SODIC’s Chief Commercial Officer, and he has over 18 
years of experience in the real estate development sector. El Samra 
joined SODIC in 2008 as a Property Consultant. He then advanced 
within the company’s ranks holding numerous managerial posi-
tions in the sales department. In 2022, El Samra was appointed as 
SODIC’s Executive Director of Sales, where he oversaw regional and 
international sales teams, achieving the highest sales record for 
SODIC since inception. 

Prior to joining SODIC, El Samra held the positions of Account 
Supervisor at Fortune Promoseven and Account Executive at Marcom. 

El Samra holds a BA in mass communication from The American 
University in Cairo.

HEBA MAKHLOUF 
CHIEF INVESTMENT 
OFFICER

Heba Makhlouf is the Chief Investment Officer at SODIC. She oversees 
the Investments Business Unit, including SODIC’s mergers and 
acquisitions, as well as the operations of all SODIC’s current and 
future leasable assets and all post-delivery customer touchpoints. 

Makhlouf joined SODIC in 2014 with over 10 years of corporate finance 
and corporate banking experience gained in the UK, France, and 
Egypt.

Prior to joining SODIC, Makhlouf served as Vice President of Corporate 
Finance at BNP Paribas in London and Paris, where her responsibil-
ities covered Africa. During that period, she advised on an array of 
M&A transactions across diversified sectors, including telecoms, oil 
and gas, and banking. Before joining BNP Paribas, she spent four 
years as Vice President at Delta Rasmala investment banking in Cairo 
and three years as a Credit Analyst at BNP Paribas banking in Cairo. 

Makhlouf holds a BA in business administration from Cairo University.

Nadine Okasha is the Chief Strategy, Brand, and Sustainability Officer 
at SODIC. In her current capacity, Okasha heads SODIC’s strategy 
office, including market research and customer experience func-
tions, as well as SODIC’s corporate marketing, public relations, social 
responsibility, and sustainability functions. 

Prior to joining SODIC, she held the position of Business and 
Organizational Development Senior Manager at Azza Fahmy Jewelry 
from 2007, where she oversaw the Dubai and Bahrain markets. In 
2004, Okasha relocated to France, where she served as Business 
Development Manager and Headquarter Representative at Kato 
International S.A.S, tasked with growing the UK and German markets. 

Okasha began her career in Nasgeyat for Trade and Industry in a 
marketing role in February 2003. She earned her BSc in chemical 
engineering from Cairo University in 2002 and her certification from 
the Wharton School of Business Executive Development program 
in 2009.

NADINE OKASHA  
CHIEF STRATEGY, BRAND, 
AND SUSTAINABILITY 
OFFICER
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HISHAM SALAH 
CHIEF TECHNOLOGY 
OFFICER

Hisham Salah is SODIC’s Chief Technology Officer. He has more 
than 30 years of professional experience in the areas of information 
technology and corporate systems. Among his achievements is 
founding and leading the first in-house fiber to the home (FTTH) 
and triple-play residential project in 2009. 

Salah’s previous experience includes serving as Vice President of 
Technology at Palm Hills Developments, where he was responsible 
for the company’s strategic direction and execution of all IT pro-
jects and systems. Previously, he headed the Communications and 
Government divisions at Microsoft, where he was responsible for sales 
and key strategic initiatives supporting the company’s growth. Before 
joining Microsoft, Salah contributed to establishing Commercial 
International Life (currently known as AXA) as Head of Information 
Technology. He began his career at Commercial International Bank 
(CIB), where he held various positions in information technology 
and operations. 

Salah holds an MSc in information technology from Middlesex 
University in London.

AHMED SAMIR 
CHIEF PEOPLE AND 
CAPABILITIES OFFICER

Ahmed Samir is SODIC’s Chief People and Capabilities Officer, over-
seeing SODIC’s Human Resources function, Center of Excellence, 
and Transformation Management Office, as well as its Innovation 
department. He has over 17 years of experience in Human Resources 
and Organization Development across different industries and oper-
ating levels.  

Prior to joining SODIC in 2014, Samir held the position of Head of 
Organization Development at Orascom Telecom Holding. Before 
that, he had successfully led the HR startup for three new operations, 
including WIND Mobile in Canada. Before joining Orascom, Samir 
held the position of Organization Consultant at LOGIC Management 
Consulting. In 2011, Samir joined Vodafone as Senior Team Leader 
for Organization Effectiveness and Change. He started his career in 
2005 with Saudi German Hospitals Group, Dubai.   

Samir holds a BA in business administration from the English section 
of the Faculty of Commerce, Cairo University, as well as a number of 
certifications from renowned HR institutes, including HAY Group, 
Towers Watson, and SHL.
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Sixth of October Development and Investment 
Co. (SODIC) is one of Egypt's largest real estate 
development companies. We strive to create and 
deliver sustainable developments that redefine 
the real estate market, and our goal is to lead the 
Egyptian real estate landscape through diversity, 
experience, and value creation.

SODIC is a customer-focused developer with a 
progressive vision that places innovation at the 
center of everything we do. Our customers place 

their trust in us for the long term. In turn, we strive 
to provide them with sustainable developments 
that continue to flourish well into the future.

Based in Cairo and traded on the Egyptian 
exchange (EGX) under the code OCDI.CA, SODIC 
is one of the few non-family-owned companies 
on the EGX that is prudently governed by our 
management under a robust corporate gover-
nance framework.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 
Report of the Sixth of October 
Development & Investment Co. – SODIC 
S.A.E for the Fiscal Year Ended 31/12/2022

Company name Sixth of October Development & Investment – SODIC

SODIC's  
Purpose

1. Working in the field of purchasing lands for the purpose of supplying facilities, 
allocating lands, and selling and leasing them.

2. Working in the field of contracting, integrated construction, and comple-
mentary works.

3. Planning and dividing lands and preparing lands for construction according 
to modern construction methods.

4. Building, selling, and leasing all types of real estates. 

5. Working in the field of land rehabilitation and reform.

6. Working in the field of tourism development and in all areas of tourist estab-
lishments, such as building hotels, motels, and tourist villages and managing, 
renting, selling them, as well as managing their usage in accordance with 
the enforced laws and regulations.

7. Establishing, managing, selling, and renting residential, service, commercial, 
industrial, and tourism projects.

8. Working in the field of landscaping and the agriculture of gardens, roads, and 
squares, as well as providing security, maintenance, and cleaning services.

9. Working in the field of ownership and management of sports, entertainment, 
medical, and educational facilities, as well as the ownership, management, 
and operations of restaurants.

The company may have an interest or participate in any manner with com-
panies and other entities that carry out a similar business or that may assist 
the company in achieving its purpose in Egypt or abroad. It may also merge 
with, acquire, or attach to the aforementioned entities, in accordance with 
the provisions of the relevant law and executive regulations.

INTRODUCTION:

Company term 50 years Date of listing on EGX 10/03/1998

Law to which the 
Company is subject

Law No. 159 of 1981 Share nominal value EGP 4

Last authorized 
capital

EGP 2 800 000 000 Last issued capital EGP 1 424 789 472 

Last paid-up capital EGP 1 424 789 472 Registration with 
Commercial Registry 
(number and date)

625 
(Date: 25/05/1996)
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Pursuant to SODIC’s AOA, Law no.159 of 1981 and 
its amendments and executive regulations, Law 
no. 95 of 1992 and its amendments and executive 
regulations, as well as the Egyptian Corporate 
Governance Code, Board members are elected 
by SODIC’s shareholders for a three-year term at 
the General Assembly of Shareholders.

Following the acquisition of 85.5% of SODIC’s 
shares by an investor consortium led by Aldar 
Properties, the new shareholders elected the new 
Board of Directors that comprises 10 members 
during the OGM held on 16 January 2022.

The shareholders are the principal stakeholders 
or participants in the company, and the principles 
of corporate governance primarily seek to protect 
shareholders. Their rights are recognized in the 
company’s Articles of Association (AOA) and are 
underpinned by the rules of the EGX and the FRA, 
as well as the applicable laws and regulations.

Ordinary and extraordinary general meetings 
shall be convened in the city in which the com-

pany’s head office is located. A general meeting 
shall be convened when called by the Board. The 
notice of a general meeting shall be published 
twice in two daily newspapers, with at least one of 
them being issued in Arabic. A shareholder may 
attend a general meeting in person or by proxy. 
Attendance by proxy will not be valid unless it 
is evidenced by a written power of attorney or 
unless the representative is a shareholder.

Contact persons Ahmed Hegazy 
Mohamed Youssef

Eman Galal Ibrahim Omar Yasser Yehia 
Mohamed Nashaat

Email ahegazi@sodic.com egalal@sodic.com onashaat@sodic.com

Head office address Kilo 38, Cairo 
Alexandria Desert 
Road, Polygon 
Building 1, Beverly 
Hills, Sheikh Zayed 
City, Giza

Website www.sodic.com 

Telephone number +202 38270300 Fax number +202 38270301

Holders of 5% or More of Shares Beneficiary No. of Shares as at 
the Date of Financial 
Statements 

Percentage %

ALDAR VENTURES INTERNATIONAL 
HOLDINGS RSC LIMITED

Self 213,240,140 59.87%

GAMMA FORGE LIMITED Self 91,388,632 25.66%

Total 304,628,772 85.53%

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

SHAREHOLDERS’ GENERAL MEETINGS 

BOARD COMPOSITION AS OF 31/12/2022:

# Name Capacity 
(Executive/
Non-Executive/
Independent)

Number 
of Owned 
Shares

Joining 
Date

Representing

1 Talal Shafiqque 
Abdullah Al Dhiyebi

Chairman 
 Non-Executive

213 240 140 16/1/2022 Aldar Ventures 
International 
Holdings RSC Limited

2 Osama 
Abdulmonem 
Mahmoud Saleh

Deputy Chairman 
Independent

- 16/1/2022 Self

3 Magued Ahmed 
Samy Mohamed 
Sherif

Managing Director 
Executive

- 16/1/2022 Self

4 Jonathan Michael 
Emery 

Board Member  
Non-Executive

213 240 140 16/1/2022 Aldar Ventures 
International 
Holdings RSC Limited

5 David Manson 
Dudley

Board Member  
Non-Executive

213 240 140 16/1/2022 Aldar Ventures 
International 
Holdings RSC Limited

6  Sana Khater Board Member  
Non-Executive

213 240 140 16/1/2022 Aldar Ventures 
International 
Holdings RSC Limited

7 Fahad Abdulla 
Mohamed Abdulla 
Al Mahmoud

Board Member  
Non-Executive

213 240 140 16/1/2022 Aldar Ventures 
International 
Holdings RSC Limited

8 Omar Mohamed 
Hassan Mehanna

Board Member  
Non-Executive

91 388 632 16/1/2022 Gamma Forge 
Limited

9 Amer Saleh Al 
Ameri

Board Member  
Non-Executive

91 388 632 16/1/2022 Gamma Forge 
Limited

10 Dalia Hazem Gamil 
Khorshid

Board Member  
Independent

- 16/1/2022 Self

BOARD DIVERSITY:
As per the corporate governance principles and 
laws with regards to ensuring gender diversity, 
the board includes two women, representing 
20% of its members.

The newly elected Board comprises:

 �Seven Non-executive members

 �Seven members representing shareholding 
entities

 �Two Independent members

 �One Executive member

THE BOARD COMPOSITION IS AS FOLLOWS:
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According to SODIC’s AOA, the Board of Directors 
convenes at least four times a year. In 2022, the 
Board convened 10 times.

A Board or committee meeting may be attended 
in person, by phone (conference call), or by any 
visual communication means (video confer-

encing). Board resolutions may be adopted by 
circulation when necessary.  

The Board is in charge of running the company’s 
affairs based on the mandate given by the general 
assembly. The Board sets the strategic objectives 
of the company and conducts its business under 
the regulating laws, the company’s bylaws, and 
the rules and regulations of relevant regulatory 
authorities to ensure that the executive man-
agement is fulfilling its duties within the set 
plans and in a way that serves the company's 
and shareholders’ interests. 

The Board also ensures that the company is 
committed to its responsibilities toward the 
community and the environment, ensures the 
efficiency of the internal control system and risk 
management, and determines the best way to 
implement governance systems. 

The Board Chairman performs certain duties, 
including:

 �Calling for, setting the agendas of, and presid-
ing over Board meetings.

 �Calling for ordinary and extraordinary general 
assembly meetings to consider the agendas 
submitted by the Board.

 �Ensuring that sufficient and accurate informa-
tion is made available in a timely manner to 
shareholders and Board members.

 �Ensuring that the decisions are made based on 
rational grounds and based on full awareness of 
the relevant matters, and that a suitable mech-

anism is in place to guarantee the effectiveness 
of implementing these decisions at the right 
time.

 �Receiving reports and recommendations from 
all committees and submitting them to the 
Board on a regular basis for necessary action.

 �Ensuring that the Board is fulfilling its duties 
in a manner that serves the company’s and 
shareholders' interests, while avoiding any 
conflict of interest.

 �Ensuring the efficiency of the governance 
system and effectiveness of the Board 
committees.

BOARD MEETINGS

BOARD ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

BOARD CHAIRMAN

The Managing Director performs his duties 
according to the powers vested in him by the 
Board and according to the law, including the 
following:

 �Executing the strategy and company's annual 
plan as set and approved by the Board.

 �Leading the company’s executive work and 
day-to-day business, supervising the prog-
ress of all departments and divisions of the 
company, monitoring the performance of all 
activities, making decisions as deemed nec-
essary for work to be performed in an orderly 
manner and the objectives to be achieved, and 
seeking to improve customer satisfaction.

 �Working on the implementation of all the com-
pany’s internal policies, rules, and regulations 
approved by the Board.

 � In consultation with the Chairman, proposing 
the matters to be presented in the periodic 
Board meetings. 

 �Overseeing the preparation of the periodic 
financial and non-financial reports on the com-
pany’s results and performance, as well as the 
corporate governance report, and reviewing 
all the answers to the auditor’s inquiries before 
preparing said reports.

 �Effectively participating in building and devel-
oping a culture of ethical values in the company 
and proposing the ESOP plan and succession 
planning mechanisms, which are approved 
by the Board, to ensure employee loyalty and 
maximize the company’s value.

 �Determining the roles and responsibilities of all 
employees, in accordance with the applicable 
work regulations and Board resolutions.

The company has a Board Secretary, who reports 
to the Group Financial Controller, acting as the 
liaison between the Board and the company's top 
management. The Board Secretary's role includes 
the following duties:

 �Arranging for the Board and committee meet-
ings, preparing the matters to be presented at 
these meetings; assisting the Board Chairman 
and the Managing Director in preparing the 
meeting agendas; preparing the information, 
data, and details relating to said matters; and 
sending them to the members prior to the 
meetings in a timely manner, and managing 
the logistics of the meetings.

 �Assisting the Board Chairman and Managing 
Director in the preparation for the sharehold-

ers’ general meetings and management of the 
related logistics.

 �Recording attendance at all the meetings, 
noting whether attendance is in person or not.

 �Preparing and recording the minutes of Board 
and general meetings.

 �Keeping and documenting all that is related 
to the Board's resolutions and the matters pre-
sented to the Board, and ensuring the Board 
receives important information in a timely 
manner. 

 �Liaising with all Board committees, ensuring 
effective communication between the Board 
and its committees. 

BOARD SECRETARY

MANAGING DIRECTOR 

BOARD COMMITTEES
Board Committees are established in line with 
applicable regulatory requirements and the 
Egyptian Corporate Governance Code and lead-
ing practices to assist the Board of Directors 
in overseeing the company's specific business 
activities, risk management, audit, compliance, 
and human resource matters. 

The Board Committees include:

 �Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
(mandatory)

 �ESOP, Nomination, and Remuneration 
Committee (mandatory)

 �Executive Committee
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# Name Committee 
Name

Member’s 
Capacity

Position on Committee Joining 
Date
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1 Osama 
Abdulmonem 
Mahmoud Saleh

Independent Head of Audit 
Committee/ESOP, 
Nomination, and 
Remuneration 
Committee Member

16/1/2022

2 Magued Ahmed 
Samy Mohamed 
Sherif

Executive Committee Member 16/1/2022

3 Dalia Hazem 
Gamil Khorshid

Independent Head of ESOP, 
Nomination, and 
Remuneration 
Committee/Audit 
Committee Member

16/1/2022

4 Fahad Mohamed 
Abdullah Al 
Mahmoud

Non-Executive Committee Member 16/1/2022

5 Sana Khater Non-Executive Committee Member 16/1/2022

6 Jonathan Michael 
Emery

Non-Executive Head of Executive 
Committee

16/1/2022

7 David Manson 
Dudley

Non-Executive Committee Member 16/1/2022

8 Omar Mohamed 
Hassan Mehanna

Non-Executive Committee Member 16/1/2022

COMMITTEE FORMATION:
The following table illustrates the formation of the Board Committees:

 �Ten Board meetings;

 �Five Audit Committee meetings;

 �Six Board Executive Committee meetings; and

 �Two ESOP, Nomination, and Remuneration 
Committee meetings were convened during 
the year 2022. 

CONVENED BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS:

BOARD MEMBERS’ ATTENDANCE DURING THE 2022 AUDIT, 
RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (ARCC) MEETINGS:

# Name Board 
Meetings

Audit, Risk and 
Compliance 

Committee Meetings

ESOP, Nomination 
and Remuneration 

Committee 
Meetings

EXCO 
Meetings

1 Talal Shafiqque 
Abdullah Al Dhiyebi 9/10 - - -

2
 Osama 
Abdulmonem 
Mahmoud Saleh

10/10 5/5 2/2 -

3
Magued Ahmed 
Sami Mohamed 
Sherif

10/10 - - 6/6

4  Jonathan Michael 
Emery 9/10 - - 6/6

5  David Manson 
Dudley 10/10 - - 6/6

6  Sana Khater 10/10 5/5 - 6/6

7
 Fahad Abdulla 
Mohamed Abdulla 
Al Mahmoud

9/10 - 2/2 6/6

8 Omar Mohamed 
Hassan Mehanna 10/10 - - 6/6

9 Amer Saleh Al 
Ameri 7/10 - - -

10 Dalia Hazem Gamil 
Khorshid 10/10 5/5 2/2 -
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The ARCC’s primary role is to provide objective 
review and advice to the Board on its oversight 
responsibility in relation to the:

 �Operations and activities of the External 
Auditors and Internal Audit Department. 

 � Internal control, risk management, and com-
pliance frameworks and practices.

 �Compliance with applicable regulatory require-
ments, the Code of Business Conduct, and the 
company’s internal policies and procedures. 

The Committee performs the role assigned to 
it under EGX's Listing Rules and the related 
governance instructions, decisions, and rules, to 
examine the management's implementation of 
the Board's policies and ensure the business is 
run properly through:

 �Reviewing reports received from applicable 
regulatory bodies, such as the FRA, to over-
see issues noted and actions undertaken by 
SODIC and report to the Board as deemed 
appropriate.

 �Examining and reviewing internal control 
procedures and whether they are properly 
implemented.

 �Ensuring the organization establishes a well-ef-
fective risk management process.

 �Following up on the results and imple-
mentation of necessary remedial actions 
regarding any conducted fraud/conflict of 
interest investigations.  

 �Ensuring integrity over the financial reporting 
and disclosure process.  

 �Reviewing the adopted accounting policies 
and the changes resulting from the imple-
mentation of any new accounting policies; and 
examining the following:

◆ The coherence between the adopted 
accounting policies and any changes 
occurred thereto.

◆ The methods employed to explain important 
or unusual transactions (as various methods 
are used).

◆ That appropriate accounting and reporting 
standards are followed and appropriate esti-
mates and judgment are produced. 

◆ The clarity and sufficiency of information 
disclosure, as shown in the financial reports.

◆ All essential information given with the 
financial statements.

 �The Committee examines and reviews the 
internal audit mechanisms, tools, procedures, 
plans, and results; studies the internal audit 
reports; and monitors the implementation 
of the recommendations contained in these 
reports.

 �The Committee examines and reviews the 
periodical managerial reports submitted to 
the different managerial levels, the methods of 
preparing these reports, and the time at which 
they were presented. 

 �The Committee monitors the procedures 
applied in the preparation and review of the 
following:

◆ The interim and annual financial statements.

◆ The prospectuses of subscriptions, public 
offerings, and private placements. 

 �The Committee examines the draft financial 
statements and notes to the financial state-
ments before they are presented to the Board 
in preparation for sending them to the auditor.

 �The Committee discusses and examines with 
the management all matters of material 
importance.

AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES:

 �The Committee examines the efficiency of the 
system for monitoring compliance with the 
laws and regulations and examines and moni-
tors the results of the investigations conducted 
by the management (including disciplinary 
actions) for any incidents of non-compliance. 

 �The Committee examines the results of any 
inspections conducted by regulatory authori-
ties, and any remarks given by any auditor, and 
it ensures the appropriateness of the remedial 
actions.

 �The Committee reviews the procedures of 
communicating the Code of Ethics to employ-
ees to monitor compliance.

 �The Committee proposes the appointment of 
the external auditor, determines their fees, and 
is tasked with overseeing matters relating to 
the auditor's resignation or removal, without 
prejudice to the law.

 �The Committee offers an opinion on tasking 
the external auditor with performing services 
for the company other than the auditing of 
the financial statements and determining the 
related fees, without prejudice to the auditor's 
independence requirements.

 �The Committee studies the auditor’s report on 
the financial statements, discusses the remarks 
and qualifications contained in the report with 

the auditor, follows up on the actions taken in 
response to these remarks and qualifications, 
and seeks to settle any difference between the 
viewpoints of the company and those of the 
auditor.   

 �The Committee ensures the implementation of 
the control methods necessary for preserving 
the company’s assets, ensures conducting of 
periodical assessment of the administrative 
procedures to ensure adherence to the rules, 
and prepares reports for submission to the 
Board.

 �The Committee discusses and approves the 
annual plan of the Internal Audit Department, 
monitors the efficiency of the plan, and ensures 
that it covers all the company’s departments 
and activities.

 �The Committee invites the auditor, the Chief 
Internal Audit Officer, and others, as it deemed 
appropriate, from inside and outside the 
company, to attend Committee meetings as 
necessary. 

 �The Committee carries out and follows up all 
other aspects of work the Board assigns to it. 

ESOP, NOMINATION, AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (NRC)

The ESOP, Nomination, and Remuneration 
Committee comprises three members, including 
two independent Board members, and carries 
out the following duties:

 �Proposing clear policies for the bonuses 
and rewards of Board members, committee 
members, and senior executives; setting and 
amending performance-related standards 
relating to determining the bonuses; and 
reviewing these policies on an annual basis 
after conducting the studies and surveys 
necessary in relation to the reward packages, 
which improves the company’s performance 
in the long term.

 �Examining and approving the total annual 
bonuses of employees in light of performance 
indicators. 

 �Regularly assessing the company’s long-term 
incentive plans to ensure their compatibility 
with the objectives and strategies of the com-
pany and proposing amendments to them 
from time to time.

 �Overseeing the nomination and selection pro-
cess of the company’s senior management in 
control functions as per the DOA.

 �Succession planning of the members of the 
Group Executive Management.

 �Group-wide remuneration framework. 

 �People, Culture, and Performance framework 
and practices.

 �The ARCC comprises three members, includ-
ing two independent members. 

 �The ARCC convened five times during the year 
2022 in accordance with the periodic conven-
ing stipulated by the relevant laws.

AUDIT, RISK, AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE (ARCC):
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The Board delegated some of its authority in man-
agerial matters to the Executive Management 
as outlined in the Management Committee 
Charter, in addition to management’s respective 
individual authorities as defined in the delega-
tion of authority. There are clear differences in 
responsibilities between the Chairman and the 

Managing Director (MD), as well as clear differ-
ences between the delegated authorities to the 
various Committees of the Board and the respon-
sibilities delegated to the Executive Management.

BOARD EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (EXCO)
The Executive Committee (EXCO), which com-
promises six of the company's Board members, 
was established by the Board to undertake key 
business decisions, including the following tasks: 

 �Monitoring the implementation of the com-
pany's strategy to ensure that the company 
achieves good performance indicators.

 �Reviewing the work of the company's 
departments . 

 �Discussing new business opportunities and 
planing for development and innovation.

 �Approving investment strategies and policies.

 �Taking strategic and investment decisions.

 �Overseeing financials, investment, and 
capital allocation activities and partnership 
opportunities.

 �Overseeing Group financial business perfor-
mance and critical operational activities.

 �Overseeing compliance and legal matters in 
areas involving initiation of litigation/arbitration 
proceedings and settlement.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES:

A management committee is established to 
oversee the day-to-day financial and operational 
performance of the company and assist the MD 
in discharging their responsibilities.

The following management committees have 
been established: 

 �Management Committee

 � Investment Committee

 �Tender Committee

Each of the various committees is governed 
by their respective Charter, which outlines its 
appointment, composition, authorities, respon-
sibilities, selection, and function of the Chairman 
and how the committee operates, as well as the 
annual reporting and evaluation of its perfor-
mance. Other management committees will be 
formed as and when needed.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT:

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE (MC)

The Management Committee is established to 
take key business and operational decisions on 
routine basis in line with the strategic and busi-
ness objectives set by the Board of Directors.

The Management Committee is composed of 
SODIC's Executive Management and is chaired 
by the MD, and it has delegated authority from 
the Board to:

 �Approve and provide recommendations to 
the Board and its committees, as applicable, 
relating to strategic objectives and initiatives, 

policies and procedures, corporate and func-
tional KPIs, etc.

 �Oversee and manage key and strategic busi-
ness operations.

 �Review, monitor, and approve capital allocation 
to SODIC's business segments.

 �Set effective and consistent risk management 
standards.

 �Review business plans related to the assets in 
acquisitions/disposals and other value based.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE (IC):

The Investment Committee has delegated 
authority from the Board to: 

 �Establish the Group's Investment Policy and 
Guidelines.

 �Approve and monitor strategic investment 
decisions in line with the strategic and business 

objectives set by the Board within the limits of 
the delegated authority.

 �Review proposals related to the deploy-
ment of SODIC`s capital or use of the 
asset in acquisitions/disposals and other 
value-based initiatives of the Group. 

TENDER COMMITTEE (TC):

The Tender Committee oversees SODIC`s pro-
curement activities to ensure that work, services, 
and purchases are acquired at the most favorable 
terms in a fair and transparent manner that is 
consistent with the delivery and quality required 
by the company. 

The mandate of the Tender Committee is to assist 
the MD with:

 �Establishing and/or approving additional 
Tender Committee(s) to ensure timely and 
efficient decision-making and rigorous pro-
curement governance.

 �Reviewing and recommending procure-
ment-related policies and ensuring consistent 
implementation of the policies.

 �Reviewing and approving all pre-award and 
post-tender activities that fall within the Tender 
Committee thresholds in the approved DOA.

 �Overseeing SODIC's procurement-related 
activities.
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The internal control system is the set of policies, 
procedures, guides, and regulations prepared 
by the company's management to protect the 
integrity of assets and ensure the efficiency of 
operations. The system also specifies the different 
functions and completely segregates the differ-
ent duties and responsibilities, which is taken into 
account in preparing the organizational struc-
ture. This is in addition to everything related to 
the tools or metrics employed in the company 
to preserve its assets.  

The Board is responsible for establishing SODIC's 
internal control system, which aims to assess the:

 �Company's risk management means and 
measures.

 �Application of and compliance with gover-
nance rules.

 �Compliance with applicable laws and regula-
tions and all internal policies and procedures.

 �Controls over the financial information used 
for drafting financial statements.

 �SODIC's Management Committee is respon-
sible for developing effective internal controls. 
Said controls cover all aspects of SODIC's oper-
ations, and they include:

◆ A comprehensive system of reporting, bud-
geting, and planning that is approved by 
the Board and against which performance 
is monitored.

◆ An organizational structure with clearly 
defined levels of authority and divisions of 
responsibilities

◆ A Code of Business Conduct under which 
the company’s business must operate.

◆ An annual performance appraisal process for 
monitoring the quality and competencies of 
SODIC's personnel.

◆ Procedures that aim to ensure the complete 
and accurate accounting and reporting of 
all assets and operations and to limit the 
potential exposure to loss of assets or fraud.

◆ Robust policy and procedures that can help 
achieve business objectives.

◆ SODIC’s internal controls are designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assur-
ance against material loss through providing 
tools that help manage potential risks of 
failure. Furthermore, internal controls over 
financial reporting is annually assessed to 
ensure their continual adequacy and oper-
ating effectiveness.

◆ The Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
assists the Board in ensuring that an annual 
review is conducted on the effectiveness 
of SODIC's internal controls. The annual 
review is carried out by the Internal Audit 
and Compliance functions, and the audit 
of the financial statements is conducted by 
external auditors.

◆ The Internal Audit and Compliance functions 
are independent functions that report to 
the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee. 
Their primary responsibilities include review-
ing the effectiveness of SODIC's internal 
control systems through a schedule of audits 
(Annual Plan) of the company's processes. 
The Annual Plan is developed through the 
prioritization of processes based on an 
annual risk management exercise, and it is 
approved by the Audit, Risk, and Compliance 
Committee.

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

The company’s Internal Audit function constitutes 
an objective and independent activity designed 
to add value and improve the performance of 
operations in order to help the company achieve 
its objectives. The Internal Audit Department 
adopts a systematic and structured approach 
to evaluate the internal control tools and systems 
and the risk management procedures, and it 
ensures the proper implementation of gover-
nance rules in relation to all executive, financial, 
and legal activities and departments.

The Internal Audit Department is managed by 
an individual who is devoted on a full-time basis 
to the role of managing the department. The 
Chief Internal Audit Officer reports functionally 
to the Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
and administratively to the Managing Director. 

The Chief Internal Audit Officer is appointed and 
dismissed, and his remuneration is determined, 
by the Managing Director's decision based on 
a recommendation made by the Audit, Risk, 
and Compliance Committee. The ARCC sets the 
objectives, duties, and powers of the Internal 
Audit Department and submits them to the 
Board for approval.

The Internal Audit Department's scope of work 
includes the examination and assessment of the 
accuracy and efficiency of the internal functional 
processes and commercial operations. 

This includes the following: 

 �Assessing the accuracy, reliability, timeliness, 
and validity of the financial, administrative, and 
operational information, as well as the means 
used to identify, measure, classify, and prepare 
reports on said information.

 �Evaluating the means of protecting the com-
pany's asset and verifying whether the assets 
actually exist, as appropriate.

 �Evaluating the operations, programs, or sys-
tems to ascertain whether the results are 
consistent with the achieved objectives and 
whether the operations, programs, or systems 
are being planned for as they should be.

 �Monitoring the compliance of employees 
with the company's policies, standards, and 
procedures, as well as the applicable laws and 
regulations.

 �Evaluating the systems created to ensure com-
pliance with the policies, plans, procedures, 
laws, and regulations that may have a signifi-
cant effect on the company.

 �Preparing periodical reports on the Internal 
Audit Department's objectives, powers, 
responsibilities, and performance, as well as 
results related to the Internal Audit plan.

 �Reporting on risk exposure and monitoring 
risks that are of great importance. This includes 
fraud and other issues the ARCC may require.

 �Achieving harmony with the External Audit 
Department to ensure the highest level of effi-
ciency of the audit services at their broadest 
scope.

 �At least once every quarter, the Internal 
Audit Manager submits a report to the Audit 
Committee showing the results of his work.
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The Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
assists the Board in ensuring the effectiveness 
of the risk management systems and processes 
established by the company to identify, assess, 
manage, and monitor financial and non-financial 
risks. 

The annual review of the risk register is carried 
out by the Risk Management function, which 
falls under the Finance Department and presents 
their reports to the Audit, Risk, and Compliance 
Committee.

The key strategic objectives of the Risk 
Management Function include:

 �Developing enterprise risk management 
processes.

 �Proposing SODIC-wide risk appetite and tol-
erance limits.

 �Facilitating the identification, assessment, mit-
igation, and reporting of key risks (including 
emerging risks) across the company that could 
prevent the achievement of the approved stra-
tegic objectives. Role of Audit 

Department

Assessing the efficiency of the internal control system and sub-
mitting reports of the findings to the Audit Committee.

Assessing the extent to which all the company's departments 
adhere to the obligation to perform all the work assigned to 
them in accordance with the work procedures and policies, and 
without conflicting with the functions of other departments.

Assessing the efficiency of the set procedures and policies and 
their relevance to the work and market developments.

Following up on the corrective measures taken to address the 
findings in the reports of the internal and external regulatory 
bodies.

Scope
Financial, operational, and technical activities

Whether it is a perma-
nent department of the 
company or an external 
private audit company

Permanent department of the company

Name of the Internal 
Audit officer/the pri-
vate external audit 
company

Mr. Ibrahim Badr Ed-Din

Frequency of reports
Quarterly

INTERNAL AUDIT SCOPE AND MAIN DUTIES: ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT:

GOVERNANCE DEPARTMENT
The governance process is managed through 
a number of departments, which aim to help 
consolidate and establish the governance prin-

ciples and present them to the Audit, Risk, and 
Compliance Committee to monitor their imple-
mentation and increase their effectiveness.

THE EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The company appointed Mr. Ehab Aboul-Magd, 
a partner at KPMG Hazem Hassan, as its external 
auditor for 2022. The auditor was nominated by 
the Board, and an OGM approved his appoint-
ment and annual fees, as the auditor satisfies 
the conditions stated in the Accounting and 
Auditing Law, including the requirement of full 
independence from the company, competence, 
reputability, and sufficient experience suitable for 
the size and nature of the company’s business 
and the parties dealing with the company. Mr. 
Aboul-Magd is registered with the FRA. 

The primary service provided by the external 
auditor is conducting quarterly audits and an 
annual audit of SODIC's accounts in accordance 
with the International Standards on Auditing.

The Audit, Risk, and Compliance Committee 
meets with the external auditor to review and 
discuss the scope, quality, effectiveness, and 
conclusions of their work and ensure that there 
is coordination with the internal auditor. The 
committee also considers delegating non-audit 
services to the external auditor to ensure they 
are objective and unbiased to or against the 
company.

The external auditor presents the results of the 
annual audit of the accounts to the Board. They 
also attend the General Assembly meeting to 
answer any questions that other attendees may 
have for them.

The company strives to firmly establish disclosure 
and transparency principles. It discloses on a reg-
ular basis documented and clear financial and 
non-financial information. The company ensures 
this is done in a timely manner for the users of 

such information. The information is announced 
to everyone simultaneously through the appro-
priate disclosure channels. The company also 
discloses all material information as soon as they 
occur.

DISCLOSURE AND TRANSPARENCY
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1. Appointing the Investor Relations team to 
undertake all the duties relative to manag-
ing investor relations, ensuring they meet the 
following conditions:

◆ Command of both spoken and written 
Arabic and English

◆ A university degree and practical experience 
in the fields of business, accounting, or inves-
tor public relations

◆ Familiarity with relevant legal and legislative 
requirements

◆ Full knowledge of the company’s activities 
and potential opportunities

◆ Ability to use various means of communica-
tion and possessing the necessary skills of 
communicating with investors respecting 
securities

◆ Ability to deliver the company’s technical 
and financial information that may require 
a specialist to clarify and simplify data to 
investors

◆ Ensuring disclosure and transparency 
requirements are fulfilled, which brings 
about positive effects on the following:

▷ Investors’ view of the company’s current 
performance, and expectations for future 
performance

▷ The liquidity required for trading the com-
pany’s shares on the Stock Exchange

▷ Reduction of the finance cost in the long 
term

2. Developing a work plan for the Investor 
Relations program by understanding the 
market and the company's requirements. 
The plan includes the disclosure policy of the 
company; the duty to observe all laws, reg-
ulations, rules, listing procedures, disclosure 
requirements, decisions of the FRA and the 
EGX; organization of the information issued by 
the company; and disclosure of the material 
information in accordance with the applicable 
disclosure rules, in cooperation with the com-
pany’s liaison officers.

3. Disclosing to financial analysts, current and 
potential investors, and rating institutions infor-
mation regarding the company's operations 
and plans through meetings and conferences, 
and monitoring and verifying the accuracy of 
the reports issued about the company.

4. Communicate with investors through the var-
ious contact channels, such as the company’s 
website and through press releases, and partic-
ipate in preparing the annual report targeting 
current and potential investors.

5. Convey the circumstances of the market to 
the company's top management, and deal 
with the rumors that affect the shares of the 
company.

6. Creating a web page for investor relations on 
the company’s website and updating and 
maintaining it regularly in compliance with 
international standards. Said web page shall 
include data and the contact details of the 
Investor Relations Team (such as telephone 
number and email); all the reports to relevant 
financial results, whether archived or published; 
statements of the financial year, including dates 
of publication of financial results statements; 
minutes of the general assembly’s meetings; 
and any other important events.

7. Publication of the information and data dis-
closed to the regulatory authorities, markets, 
or the public on the company’s website, 
including the following examples: 

a. The company's news, events, developments, 
and milestones 

b. Annual and interim financial statements and 
reports of the Board of Directors for several 
past years 

c. Governance report 

d. Shareholding structure

e. Regularly updated general information con-
cerning the company’s activities, business 
strategies, vision, and future

f. Information about the company’s share in 
terms of the closing price, opening price, 
highest and lowest prices throughout the 
year, different values of the share, and some 
financial indicators

g. Enablement of inquiry about shareholders’ 
pending dividends and mechanism of col-
lection of such dividends

h. Contact information of investor relations 
employees and a mechanism for submitting 
opinions, comments, and inquiries

MATERIAL INFORMATION – FINANCIAL 
& NON-FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
The company discloses its financial information 
of interest to shareholders and concerned parties 
through the various available means. Such infor-
mation is provided in the company’s annual and 
interim financial statements and auditor reports, 
board reports, accounting, and budgets. The 
annual financial statements are published in two 
widely circulated daily newspapers in accordance 
with the law. These are also published on the 
company's website, and the information is dis-
closed to EGX, the FRA and the media, through, 
for example, newspapers, websites, and press 
conferences. 

The company also discloses the non-financial 
information important to current and poten-
tial shareholders and investors, including the 
following:

 � Information about the company, such as its 
objectives, vision, business nature, plans, and 
future strategies.

 �Ownership structures of affiliates and subsidiaries.

 �Dealings with related parties and related-party 
transactions.

 �Disclosing to shareholders and regulatory 
bodies the information regarding treasury 
shares. In the event of a subsidiary purchas-
ing the shares of its holding company, the 
company applies all the treasury share rules 
to such shares. These shares are not counted 
in the shareholders quorum or during votes at 
general meetings.

 �Notify the FRA and the EGX of the EGM and 
OGM resolutions as soon as a meeting is con-
cluded, and in any event no later than the start 
time of the first trading session following the 
meeting. This comes in addition to providing 
the EGX with the meeting minutes, within one 
week of every general meeting, approved by 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors.

 �Provide the EGX with the General Assembly 
meeting minutes certified by the competent 
administrative authority, within three business 
days of receiving the certified minutes.

 �Provide the FRA and the EGX with a summary 
of the Board's resolutions involving material 
information, no later than the start time of the 
first trading session following the meeting in 
which the resolutions are adopted.

 �Provide the FRA and the EGX with a statement 
approved by the Board showing the most 
important business results, compared with 
the corresponding historical period, on the 
form designated by the EGX, as soon as the 
Board approves the annual or quarterly interim 
financial statements, in preparation for submit-
ting the financial statements to the auditor to 
issue his report on the financial statements (no 
later than the start time of the trading session 
following the meeting).

 �Announce the decision of the competent 
body regarding the cash and/or stock dividend 
distributions.

INVESTOR RELATIONS 

SODIC is committed to applying the Investor 
Relations standards in accordance with the 
applicable laws and EGX and FRA regulations. 
Such Standards aim to promote the application 
of best practices for the management of investor 
relations in SODIC to enable investors to get the 
most important information and data related 
to SODIC.

These standards also aim to:

 �Raise the level of consistency and quality in 
response to external inquiries from analysts 
and investors.

 �Promote international relations and connec-
tions in the market.

 �Enhance the level of knowledge of stakehold-
ers and their understanding of data on SODIC’s 
performance. 

 �Find sophisticated structure and more efficient 
interaction of Executive management with 
market requirements. 

To achieve the aforementioned goals, SODIC 
abides by the following standards:

PENALTIES AND JUDGMENTS AGAINST THE COMPANY IN 2022: NONE.
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The company issues an annual report in English 
that includes a summary of the Board report, 
financial statements, and all other information of 
importance to shareholders, current and poten-
tial investors, and other concerned parties. This 
report provides information on the company, its 
business, and its financial position. It serves as 
a report by the management to all those con-
cerned with matters involving the company that 
took place during the year.

The report includes at least the following:

 �Statement of the Managing Director

 �Vision and target

 �Company strategy

 �Company history and its most important 
turning points

 �Ownership structure

 �Top management and Board formation

 �Analysis of the market in which the com-
pany operates

 �Current and future projects

 �Report on social and environmental 
responsibility

 �Financial performance

 �The Auditor’s report and the financial state-
ments compared with the corresponding 
past periods

The company issues a quarterly disclosure 
report prepared according to the disclosure 
form contained in the Listing Rules and their 
Implementation Procedures. The report is pre-
pared by the Board Compliance Department, 
aided by the Investor Relations Department. A 
copy of the report is sent to the EGX. The disclo-
sure report includes the following:

 �The company’s contact details

 �The names of the Investor Relations officers 
and their contact information 

 �Structure of the shareholders possessing 5% 
or more of the shares

 �Overall shareholding structure, specifying 
the free float shares

 �Details of the treasury shares, if any

 �Changes in the Board and the last formation 
of the Board 

 �Formation of the Board committees

DISCLOSURE TOOLS
ANNUAL REPORT

BOARD REPORT

The company issues an annual Board report 
pursuant to the Company Law (Law No. 159 of 
1981) and its executive regulations, as well as 
the Listing Rules and their Implementation 
Procedures. The report is prepared by the Board 
Compliance Department in cooperation with the 
Investor Relations Department and the Finance 
Department. 

1. The report includes the following:

◆ Discussion of the financial results and mate-
rial matters.

◆ The major achievements during the year.

◆ The main changes in the company’s admin-
istrative structure.

◆ Board formation and the number of Board 
meetings held.

◆ The formation of Board committees and the 
number of committee meetings held.

◆ The average number of employees and aver-
age salary for the year.

◆ Employee reward and incentive policies.

◆ The matters that took place regarding the 
related-party agreements concluded the 
previous year, and the related-party agree-
ments proposed for the following year.

◆ Report on the company’s observance of 
corporate governance and social and envi-
ronmental responsibility.

◆ The conflicts of interest cases reported 
between the company and its insiders that 
require disclosure to the company's Board 
of Directors.

2. The company prepares a quarterly Board 
report on the company’s business and results.

DISCLOSURE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT:

SODIC issues the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report on the company's corporate governance 
practices pursuant to the Company Law (Law No. 
159 of 1981) and its executive regulations, as well 
as the Listing Rules and their Implementation 
Procedures. The report is prepared by Board 

Compliance Department, which indicates the 
extent of the company's commitment to cor-
porate governance principles. The Corporate 
Governance Report is signed by the Chairman 
and submitted to the FRA and EGX on an annual 
basis.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT:

SODIC published its first comprehensive GRI-
assured Sustainability Report addressing the 
UNGC Principles and presenting our contribution 
to the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

This report presents SODIC's operations and 
achievements in 2021, with specific focus on 
key material issues that set the foundation for a 
new transformational approach in SODIC’s ESG 
undertakings, indicators, initiatives, and strategic 
decisions.

The first Sustainability Report highlights specific 
data and forward-looking plans, where applica-
ble, to ensure that SODIC's impacts are identified 
through the lens of projected global challenges, 
as well as the local context of the countries and 
regions where the company operates.

The report largely follows the latest GRI Standards 
of 2021, with reference to a number of global real 
estate benchmark frameworks, including GRESB, 
WorldGBC Health & Well-being, SASB, among 
others.

While the main objective of reporting is to pro-
vide SODIC stakeholders with ample information 
about its ESG performance and impacts through 
reliable and comparative data, and develop-
ing this report also had its own set of strategic 
objectives. Steered by SODIC’s management, 
preparing this report also aimed to enhance the 
employees’ capabilities and knowledge of ESG 
practices and goals. It also aimed to involve them 
in the development and improvement of ESG 
indicators in efforts to further integrate sustain-
ability into the company's culture and operations.

The report equally focuses on SODIC’s sus-
tainability governance as a vital component in 
safeguarding our stakeholders’ interests and 
securing the fundamental principles of trans-
parency, accountability, continuity, and resilience 
through a set of roles and responsibilities, rules 
and policies, and—above all—through leadership 
and a culture of care and duty based on reliable 
impact assessments.

ESG risks and opportunities are highlighted 
throughout the report, based on the context 
of each component of the business life cycle, 
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with the intention of disclosing the areas and 
aspects that lag our desired benchmarks. This 
level of transparency sets the path for sustainable 
and responsible improvements across SODIC’s 

various functions, along different employment 
levels, for various scopes of work, and toward a 
robust governance framework that scales up to 
the highest levels of leadership. 

3. Delivering To Our Customers

Our primary business focus is creating value for 
all our stakeholders, with our customers being at 
the very heart of everything we do. We aspire to 
be the developer of choice by continually exceed-
ing our customers’ evolving expectations. We 
do not just build and sell houses; ours is a more 
sustainable approach. What we have with our 
customers is a commitment for life; it doesn’t end 
with delivering their homes but instead continues 
throughout their life in our developments. Our 
property management arm, Edara, is one of the 
things that sets us apart in the market; it is how 
we deliver on the promise of a much happier and 
healthier lifestyle.

4. Protecting Our Environment 

The construction industry has a substantial 
impact on the environment. The sector consumes 
significant amounts of non-renewable resources 
and is responsible for half of the global landfill 
waste. SODIC adopts a precautionary approach, 
having several strategies in place to maintain 
an environmentally and financially sustainable 
business model. 

Our awareness of the risks of air, water, and 
noise pollution posed by our industry informs 
our precautionary approach, from design to 
implementation. Our customers have become 
more attentive to and knowledgeable of envi-
ronmental, social, and market factors, with an 
increasing need for innovative, environmentally 
friendly residential products, from housing to 
community. 

We aspire to be more efficient in terms of resource 
and energy usage, reducing our waste and 
carbon emissions, and working toward a future 
with cleaner air and water and much less noise 
pollution.

Environmental Protection in the Workplace 

Internally, we have developed initiatives to reduce 
consumption, such as paper recycling, and have 
installed automatic water taps to decrease water 
waste. We also use LED lights throughout our 
premises. Our electric-powered shuttles provide 
our SODIC West residents with means of trans-
portation that lower their carbon footprint. Finally, 
we have a major initiative that provides shaded 
parking to employees and visitors and includes 

mounted solar panels to generate electricity for 
SODIC’s headquarters. 

We have also spared no effort to sustain a rigorous 
maintenance system, which has contributed to 
lowering water and energy consumption in our 
developments. 

Externally, we have developed an Environment 
Manual, which stipulates all environmental 
requirements by which contractors must abide 
while working on SODIC projects. It is their 
responsibility to communicate this to their per-
sonnel and subcontractors. We strictly follow the 
Egyptian government’s regulations regarding 
correct and safe waste disposal and require our 
contractors to follow suit.

5. Sustainability in the Supply Chain

As part of our efforts to support the Egyptian 
economy’s sustainable development, we prior-
itize awarding local contractors. With 95% of our 
supply chain being local, we create job oppor-
tunities for more than 30,000 Egyptian workers. 
We are increasingly in favor of hiring the services 
of small and medium enterprises whenever the 
workload fits their capacities. We also prefer using 
local resources whenever applicable.

6. Supporting Our Community

SODIC takes pride in being an active corporate 
citizen, committed to playing an impactful role in 
the betterment of the lives of impoverished com-
munities in a scalable and sustainable manner. 
SODIC runs a group of social development pro-
grams and initiatives that contribute to improving 
the living conditions of over 9,000 individuals 
annually. SODIC’s corporate citizenship programs 
focus on the development areas of education, 
slum rehabilitation, equal opportunity, and phil-
anthropic relief.

Website

The company has a website in Arabic and English, 
through which financial and non-financial infor-
mation are displayed in a user-friendly way. The 
site is updated continuously. It is easy to use as 
a means of communication with the company, 
which makes sure to respond to all messages 
and inquiries received. 

SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

At SODIC, we do not just build for the present; 
we build for generations to come. We believe 
sustainability means a better future for everyone, 
and that belief is embedded in all our decisions. 
We strive for our corporate citizenship to be an 
example for others to follow. Our sustainability 

approach drives our future, shaping our strat-
egy and leading innovation. This increases our 
profitability, in both the short and the long runs, 
and brings prosperity to our communities and 
society at large.

A GLOBAL CITIZEN

SODIC is an active player in Egypt’s Sustainable 
Development Strategy (SDS) 2030. Our compli-
ance with applicable laws, internally developed 
guidelines that fit the Egyptian context, and 
voluntarily adopted international standards 
showcases our commitment to the safety and 
well-being of our employees, our customers, and 
society at large. 

As signatories to the United Nations Global 
Compact (UNGC), we fully support all its principles. 
We also support the United Nations Sustainable 

Development Goals (SDGs) that address pressing 
global challenges, especially those that apply to 
SODIC and Egypt. The SDGs that SODIC contrib-
utes to the most are ending poverty, zero hunger, 
good health and well-being, quality education, 
gender equality, affordable and green energy, 
decent work and economic growth, sustainable 
cities and communities, industry innovation and 
infrastructure, and partnerships for goals.

SIX KEYS TO A BETTER TOMORROW

1. Creating Value

We create value by focusing on these main 
areas: building better places, place making, infra-
structure and the well-being of our residents, 
integrated communities, and innovating homes 
for the future.

2. Developing Our People

Our people are our most valuable asset. Our 
employees are the key to the success and sustain-
ability of the business. SODIC is keen on providing 
its people with a current and dynamic workplace 
that allows them to develop while achieving 
organizational goals. The SODIC culture that has 
become associated with our brand starts at our 
offices. We seek to employ and retain the best 
talents who will help us achieve our vision.

Our business strategy is geared toward aligning the interests of our various stakeholders to 
create good for all. We follow international standards and internally developed guidelines, 
focusing on value creation, developing our people, delivering to our customers, protecting 
the environment, a sustainable supply chain, and giving back to our society.
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CODES AND POLICIES
CODE OF ETHICS AND PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

 �A shareholder that owns, either alone or 
through their related group, 20% or more may 
not deal before they have notified the EGX.

 �Neither the company’s Board members, 
irrespective of their shareholding size, nor man-

agers, officers, or any person that has access to 
information not available to others that may 
affect the price of a security, may purchase or 
sell this security (to which the information is 
related).

The management adopts a policy for recruitment, 
selection, and promotion. This policy is imple-
mented by the Human Resources Department. 
It ensures securing the best candidates for the 
positions they fit. At the same time, it encour-
ages the professional development of existing 
employees under a comprehensive strategy that 
includes continuous training plans. According to 
this strategy, employee annual training plans are 

announced. There are also other plans in place 
to incentivize competent and high-performing 
employees, and therefore retain them. 

This is in addition to the career path planning that 
ensures succession of authority, which represents 
added value to the company and maintains its 
sustainability.

The company has an internal code of ethics and professional conduct. The code involves a 
set of values that controls and organizes ethics and professional conduct in the company, 
which reinforces the company’s reputation and credibility.

SUCCESSION PLANNING POLICY 

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

SODIC adopts a whistleblowing policy for report-
ing violations and complaints. The policy provides 
for dealing with violations and complaints 
according to the internal procedures the com-
pany applies. It aims to encourage employees, 
contractors, or third parties to report any act that 
breaches the code of ethics or the law, whether 
they are internal or external incidents that may 
adversely affect Sodic or its employees. Thus, 
honesty and integrity are reinforced in all activ-
ities. Total secrecy is guaranteed, and reporting 
a violation should be substantiated by objective 
documents and/or information. 

The company seeks to act proactively and deci-
sively to avert any unethical conduct, negligence, 
or illegal activity (if any). The aim is to enable 
genuine reform and strengthen the principles 
of justice and transparency. The company aims 
to avoid any potential damage to its business or 
name in the market. These procedures create a 
safe channel that keeps the information of the 
whistleblower confidential. They encourage voic-
ing any suspicion of, for example, any unethical 
conduct, illegal act, corruption, violation of inter-
nal policies or rules, breach of laws or regulations, 
fraud, or threat to public rights.

INSIDER AND RELATED-PARTY DEALING POLICY

An insider may deal in the company’s shares only 
according to the company’s insider dealing policy 
that is announced to all employees. The policy 
has been developed in accordance with rules 
set by supervisory bodies. The policy includes 
the following:

 �Neither an insider nor their related group may 
deal in any securities issued by the company 
during the five days preceding, and the day 
following, the publication of any material 
information.

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

SODIC is committed to sustainability and incor-
porates the key principles of environmental, 
social responsibility, and corporate governance 
in setting its business strategies and operation.

SODIC’s sustainability purpose is to create a busi-
ness culture where sustainability is at the heart 
of everything we do, and where the concept of 
sustainability informs the way we operate, collab-
orate, innovate, and grow. SODIC’s Sustainability 
and CSR Strategies and Policies are managed 
through an effective governance structure that 
includes commitment from the Board level to 
individual employees. 

The company aims to meet all social, environ-
mental, and corporate responsibilities imposed 
by the jurisdictions in which it operates. To this 
end, SODIC is working to integrate environmental 
and social considerations into its decision-making 
and operational practices. This assists the com-
pany in understanding the impact (direct and 
indirect) created by its operations. Ultimately, this 
will lead to better decisions and improved busi-

ness performance, adding value to the company’s 
business by reducing risk, improving operational 
efficiency, and creating a great place to work.

SODIC, as a leading real estate developer in the 
Egyptian market, is committed to its responsibil-
ity to play an effective role in achieving real and 
tangible human development that benefits the 
Egyptian citizen in poorer communities, while 
affording real opportunities.

SODIC adopts a group of societal development 
initiatives that contribute to improving the living 
conditions of over 9,000 beneficiaries annually. 
This is part and parcel of SODIC’s belief in a set 
of essential principles, such as turning attention 
to youth by supporting educational initiatives, 
the development and updating of informal 
settlements, creating job opportunities, empow-
ering women, and protecting children’s rights, 
considering the general-meeting resolutions 
concerning donations. 

INSIDERS TRADING ON THE COMPANY’S SHARES THAT TOOK PLACE DURING 2022: NONE.
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Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company “SODIC” (S.A.E.), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2022, and the consolidated statements of profit or loss, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of Company’s management. Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with the Egyptian Accounting Standards and in the light of the prevailing Egyptian laws, management responsibility includes, designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; management responsibility also includes selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor's Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Egyptian Standards on Auditing and in the light of the prevailing 
Egyptian laws. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company 
“SODIC”, as at December 31, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Egyptian Accounting Standards and the Egyptian laws 
and regulations relating to the preparation of these financial statements.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
The financial information included in the Board of Directors’ report, prepared in accordance with Law No. 159 of 1981 and its executive regulations, is in agreement with the Company’s books of account, according to the 
limits of this information in books.

KPMG Hazem Hassan

Public Accountants & Consultants

Cairo February 8th, 2023

AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SIXTH OF OCTOBER

FOR DEVELOPMENT AND INVESTMENT COMPANY “SODIC”
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT

EGP Note No. 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Non-current assets

Property, plant, equipment (25)   739 191 488   778 566 405
Projects under construction (26)   144 678 430   129 185 058
Investment properties 
under development (27)   838 790 791  3 156 406 139

Investments in associates (28) - -
Investment properties (29)     412 309 560     368 044 461
Right of use - assets (30-1)   37 914 294   55 069 321
Trade and notes receivable (20-2)    2 308 758 677    1 177 626 366
Debtors and other debit balances (21-2)     2 912 656     14 019 778
Deferred tax assets (15)     386 326 614     202 626 819
Total non-current assets 4 870 882 510 5 881 544 347 
Current assets

Inventory (17)     23 270 294     18 499 329
Completed units ready for sale (18)    1 191 439 907     52 212 184
Works in process (19)    15 170 646 943    14 184 447 190
Trade and notes receivable (20-1)    1 737 317 135    1 334 794 585
Debtors and other debit balances (21-1)    4 489 345 574    3 408 447 774
Loans to joint ventures (22) - -
Financial investments at 
amortized cost "treasury bills" (23)    1 211 832 617     331 418 265

Cash and cash equivalents (24)    1 689 973 628    1 583 054 476
Total current assets 25 513 826 098 20 912 873 803 
Total assets    30 384 708 608 26 794 418 150 
Equity

Issued & paid in capital (31-1)    1 424 789 472    1 424 789 472
Legal reserve (31-2)     224 840 771     224 840 771
Special reserve - share premium (31-3)    1 483 154 057    1 483 154 057
Retained earnings    4 115 008 326    3 599 475 037
Profit from sale of treasury shares (32)     1 725 456     1 725 456
Reserve for employee stock option plan (50) - -
Equity attributable to equity 
holders of the Company    7 249 518 082 6 733 984 793 

Non-controlling interests (33)     61 608 729     63 860 164
Total equity 7 311 126 811 6 797 844 957 
Non-current liabilities

Loans (34)    2 667 864 053    1 323 466 533
Creditors and notes payable (35)     705 999 840     960 643 673
New Urban Communities Authority (36)    4 102 748 823    3 971 255 748
Land acquisition creditors (37)    1 244 282 131    1 279 135 232
Lease contracts liabilities (30-2)     28 284 851     48 431 814
Total non-current liabilities 8 749 179 698 7 582 933 000 

EGP Note No. 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

Current liabilities

Banks facilities -     2 458 049
Loans (34)     495 755 556    1 225 396 749
Advances – from customers (38)    8 700 395 827    7 007 597 727
Contractors, suppliers,  
and notes payable (39)     456 745 290     453 495 712

Income tax liabilities     362 203 618     442 420 718
New Urban Communities Authority (36)     263 159 777     92 417 693
Land acquisition creditors (37)     34 853 101     16 527 290
Creditors and other credit balances (40)    2 877 666 883    2 607 986 670
Lease contracts liabilities (30-2)     10 209 528     11 472 628
Provisions (41)    1 123 412 519     553 866 957
Total current liabilities 14 324 402 099 12 413 640 193 
Total liabilities 23 073 581 797 19 996 573 193 
Total equity and liabilities 30 384 708 608 26 794 418 150 

*  The accompanying notes from (1) to (53) form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements and to be read therewith.

Financial Director Group Financial 
Controller Acting Chief Financial Managing Director

Mohamed Samir Ahmed Hegazi Mahmoud Badran Magued Sherif

"Auditors' report attached"
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31

EGP Note No. 31 December 
2022

31 December 
2021

Revenues

Real estate sales (6)  7 249 491 782  6 199 238 082
Revenues of services of managing cities and resorts   406 335 082   377 272 115
Revenues of investment property   54 366 337   41 788 602
Revenues from clubs and golf course   100 685 590   304 405 784
Total operation revenues 7 810 878 791 6 922 704 583 
Cost of sales

Cost of real estate sold (7) ( 4 994 104 964) ( 3 770 427 495)
Costs of services of managing cities and resorts (327 311 618) (  296 382 560)
Costs of investment property (30 162 206) (  15 565 869)
Cost of clubs and golf course (  267 513 991) (  501 710 164)

Total operation costs (5 619 092 779) (4 584 086 
088)

Gross profit 2 191 786 012 2 338 618 495 
Other operating revenues (8)   115 102 992   127 964 982
Selling and marketing expenses (9) (  798 367 326) (  522 589 324)
General and administrative expenses (10) (  793 190 413) (  666 114 715)
Other operating expenses (11) (  40 975 052) (  95 865 008)
(Charges) of expected credit losses (12) (  24 366 767) (  18 674 952)
Operating profit  649 989 446 1 163 339 478 
Finance income (13)   317 690 604   156 522 415
Finance cost (14) (  257 315 994) (  148 029 258)
Net finance income 60 374 610 8 493 157 
Net profit before tax   710 364 056  1 171 832 635
Income tax (15) (  185 207 991) (  306 724 353)
Profit for the year 525 156 065 865 108 282 
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company   520 057 733   860 309 508
Non-controlling interests (33)   5 098 332   4 798 774
Profit for the year 525 156 065 865 108 282 
Earnings per share (EGP / Share) (16) 1.46 2.42 

* The accompanying notes from (1) to (53) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31

EGP Note No. 31 December 
2022

31 December 
2021

Profit of the year 525 156 065 865 108 282

Total other comprehensive income items for the year after income tax  -  - 

Total comprehensive income of the year 525 156 065 865 108 282

Total comprehensive income is attributable to:

Equity holders of the company 520 057 733 860 309 508

Non-controlling interests (33) 5 098 332 4 798 774

Total comprehensive income for the year 525 156 065 865 108 282 

* The accompanying notes from (1) to (53) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31

EGP
Issued and 

paid in capital Legal reserve

Special 
reserve- share 

premium
Retained 
earnings

Profit from selling 
of treasury shares

Reserve for employee 
stock option plan Total

Non-Controlling 
interests Total equity

Balance as at January 1, 2021 1 424 789 472  223 686 635 1 382 852 956 2 954 919 721  1 725 456  21 528 566 6 009 502 806  62 982 621 6 072 485 427

Total comprehensive income

Net profit for the year - - -  860 309 508 - -  860 309 508  4 798 774  865 108 282

Other comprehensive income items - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income - - -  860 309 508 - -  860 309 508  4 798 774  865 108 282

Transactions with owners of the Company

Transferred to legal reserve -  1 154 136 - ( 1 154 136) - - - - -

Dividends to employees in subsidiaries - - - ( 4 908 947) - - ( 4 908 947) - ( 4 908 947)

Dividends - - - ( 215 108 555) -  3 847 489 ( 211 261 066) - ( 211 261 066)

Transferred to special reserve-
share premium - -  100 301 101 - - -  100 301 101 -  100 301 101

Reserve for employee stock option plan - - - - -  17 887 171  17 887 171 -  17 887 171

Executed amounts of 
employees stock option - - - - - ( 38 394 927) ( 38 394 927) - ( 38 394 927)

Dividends for non-controlling interests - - - - - - - ( 4 996 247) ( 4 996 247)

Selling of treasury shares - - - - - - -  1 075 016  1 075 016

Transferred to statement of profit 
or loss interest income transferred 
from employees stock option

- - - - -   549 147   549 147 -   549 147

Transferred to retained earnings- 
unexcuted stock option - - -  5 417 446 - ( 5 417 446) - - -

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company -  1 154 136  100 301 101 ( 215 754 192) - ( 21 528 566) ( 135 827 521) ( 3 921 231) ( 139 748 752)

Balance as at December 31, 2021 1 424 789 472  224 840 771 1 483 154 057 3 599 475 037  1 725 456 - 6 733 984 793  63 860 164 6 797 844 957

Balance as at January 1, 2022 1 424 789 472  224 840 771 1 483 154 057 3 599 475 037  1 725 456 - 6 733 984 793  63 860 164 6 797 844 957

Total comprehensive income for the year

Net profit for the year - - -  520 057 733 - -  520 057 733  5 098 332  525 156 065

Other comprehensive income items - - - - - - - - -

Total comprehensive income - - -  520 057 733 - -  520 057 733  5 098 332  525 156 065

Transactions with owners of the Company

Dividends to non-controlling 
interests in subsidiaries - - - - - - - ( 7 349 767) ( 7 349 767)

Dividends to employees in subsidiaries - - - ( 4 524 444) - - ( 4 524 444) - ( 4 524 444)

Total transactions with 
owners of the Company - - - ( 4 524 444) - - ( 4 524 444) ( 7 349 767) ( 11 874 211)

Balance as at December 31, 2022 1 424 789 472  224 840 771 1 483 154 057 4 115 008 326  1 725 456 - 7 249 518 082  61 608 729 7 311 126 811

* The accompanying notes from (1) to (53) form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements and to be read therewith.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31

EGP Note No. 31 December 
2022

31 December 
2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the year before tax  710 364 056 1 171 832 635
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of fixed assets, investment 
properties and right in use assets amortization

(30) , (29) 
, (25)  129 612 729  109 858 021

(Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment (8) (  192 603) (  317 992)
Interest on lease contract liabilities (14)  4 196 780  4 760 192
Profit of sale of investments in subsidiaries 
without change in control - (  672 554)

Return on investments at amortized cost ( 81 768 303) ( 81 539 829)
Credit interest on the reserve for 
employee stock option plan -   549 147

Impairment loss of in associates 
& joint ventures -   377 843

Reversal of impairment of property, 
plant and equipment (8) ( 1 822 590) ( 1 822 590)

Employees stock option plan expense (10) -  17 887 171
(Gain) on disposal of right of use ( 4 389 206) -
Changes in:
Inventory ( 4 770 965) ( 10 622 935)
Finished units available for sale  84 590 931  24 659 454
Works in process  644 680 702  449 633 202
Trade and notes receivables (1 533 654 860) ( 499 808 892)
Debtors and other debit balances (1 069 790 677) ( 446 504 024)
Loans to joint ventures (22) - -
Provisions formed (41)  898 189 237  412 955 101
Provisions no longer required (41) - ( 16 811 828)
Provisions used (41) ( 328 643 677) ( 178 697 376)
Advances from customers 1 779 862 851 ( 560 887 747)
Contractors, suppliers and notes payable ( 463 243 099) ( 292 952 427)
Creditors and other credit balances & NUCA  272 803 186  839 463 351
Paid income tax ( 449 124 891) ( 281 550 979)
Dividends to employees and BOD - ( 24 108 947)
Dividends to employees and 
BOD of subsidiaries ( 4 524 444) -

Restricted cash ( 7 267 656) (  363 164)
Net cash generated from operating activities  575 107 501  635 314 833
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of property, plant and 
equipment and projects under construction ( 64 225 622) ( 54 354 051)

Payments for investments 
properties under development ( 205 105 507) (1 100 202 170)

Payments for investments at amortized cost (3 394 154 609) (1 909 190 328)
Proceeds from sale of investments in 
subsidiaries without change in control -  1 747 570

Proceeds from investments at amortized cost 2 595 508 560 2 334 098 874
Proceeds from sale of property, 
plant and equipment   324 155  1 168 723

Net cash (used in) investing activities (1 067 653 023) ( 726 731 382)

EGP Note No. 31 December 
2022

31 December 
2021

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of credit facilities ( 2 458 049) -
Proceeds banks - credit facilities -  2 231 430
Proceeds from loans 1 931 801 807  290 164 408
Repayment of loans (1 308 478 613) -
Payment of lease contracts liabilities ( 21 318 360) ( 22 302 325)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares

Dividends to non-controlling interests ( 7 349 767) ( 4 996 247)
Proceeds from employee 
stock option plan -  65 373 607

Dividends paid - ( 192 061 066)
Net cash generated from 
financing activities  592 197 018  138 409 807

Net increase in cash and 
cash equivalents  99 651 496  46 993 258

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 1 574 658 818 1 527 605 825
Effect of movement in expected credit 
loss on cash and cash equivalents (12)  1 197 831   59 735

Cash and cash equivalents 
at December 31 (24) 1 675 508 145 1 574 658 818

* The accompanying notes from (1) to (53) form an integral part of these consolidated financial 
statements and to be read therewith.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED ON DECEMBER 31

1. Background and activities

1.1  Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company “SODIC”– An Egyptian Joint Stock Company – was incorporated in accordance with the provisions of Law No. 159 of 1981 and its Executive Regulations 
and considering the provisions of Law No. 95 of 1992 and its Executive Regulations and by virtue of the decree of the Minister of Economy and International Cooperation No. 322 of 1996 issued on May 12, 1996. The 
Company was registered in Giza Governorate Commercial Registry under No. 625 on May 25, 1996.

 

1.2. The purpose of the Company is represented in the following:
 � Land acquisition and the subsequent sale/lease to clients after connecting the relevant infrastructure.
 � Operating in the field of construction, integrated construction and supplementary works.
 � Planning, dividing and preparing lands for building and construction according to modern building techniques.
 � Building, selling and leasing all various types of real estate.
 � Developing and reclaiming land in new urban communities.
 � Operating in the field of tourism development and tourism related establishments including, building, managing, selling or utilizing hotels, motels and tourist villages in accordance with applicable Egyptian 

laws and regulations.
 � Building, managing, selling and leasing –residential, service, commercial, industrial and tourism projects.
 � Operating in the field of coordinating and planting gardens, roads and squares and also providing security, steward - ship, maintenance and cleaning services.
 � Operating in the field of ownership and management of sporting, entertainment, medical, educational buildings and also ownership, management and operating of restaurants. 
 � In addition, the Company may have interest or participate in any manner with companies or others that share similar activities or which may assist it to achieve its purposes in Egypt or abroad. 

Also the Company is entitled to merge into or acquire the aforementioned companies or make them subsidiaries in accordance with the provisions of law and its executive regulations.

1.3. The Company’s duration is 50 years starting from the date of registration in the Commercial Registry.

1.4. The Company is listed on the Egyptian Exchange.

1.5.  The interim consolidated financial statements of Sixth of October for Development & Investment Company “SODIC” (the Parent Company) for the financial year ended December 31, 2022, comprise the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures.

The registered office of the Parent Company is located at Km. 38 Cairo / Alexandria Desert Road, Sheikh Zayed City. Mr. Talal Al Dhiyebi is the Chairman for the Parent Company and Mr. Magued Sherif, is the Managing 
Director of the Parent Company.

2. Basis of preparation of consolidated interim financial statements

Compliance with accounting standards and laws

 � The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standards and applicable laws and regulations.
 � The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on February 8, 2023.
 � Details of the Group’s accounting policies are included in Note (53).

3. Basis of measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on historical cost basis except for the following: 

 � Financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair values through profits and losses. 
 � Financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair values through other comprehensive income. 
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4. Functional and presentation currency

 � The consolidated financial statements are presented in Egyptian Pounds, which is the Group’s functional currency.

5. Use of judgment and estimates

 � In preparing the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Egyptian Accounting Standards (EAS), management has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of the 
Group’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. These estimates and assumptions 
are based on past experience and various factors. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Actual results may differ from these estimates and the uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities 
affected in future years.

 � The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or 
in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and future years.

A. Judgments
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on the amounts recognized in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognized as detailed in the accounting policies applied.

Equity-accounted investees (associates Companies):
Determining whether the Group has significant influence over an investee.

Review of contract
The management reviews its judgemental assumptions and estimates, including what used in determining the extent to which the Group enjoys absolute or joint control or influential influence over the investee 
companies whenever a material event or an effective amendment occurs to the terms contained in its contractual agreements.

Classification of properties
In the process of classifying properties, management has made various judgements. Judgement is needed to determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property, property, plant and equipment and/
or property held for sale. The Group develops criteria in order to exercise that judgement consistently in accordance with the definitions of investment property, property, plant and equipment and property held for 
sale. In making its judgement, management considered the detailed criteria and related guidance for the classification of properties as set out in EAS 49, and EAS 10, and in particular, the intended usage of property as 
determined by management.

Property lease classification - Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease 
term not constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all of the fair value of the commercial property, 
that it retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of this property and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Recognition of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities and their measurement
Income taxes, whether current or deferred, are determined by each subsidiary of the Group in accordance with the tax law requirements of each country in which the subsidiary of the Group operates.
The Group’s profit is subject to income tax, which requires using of significant estimates to determine the total income tax liability. As determining the final tax liability for some transactions could be difficult during the year, 
the Group record current tax liability according to its’ best estimate about the taxable treatment of that transactions and the possibility of incurring of additional tax charges that may result from the tax inspection. And when 
a difference arising between the final tax liability and what is being recorded, such difference is recorded as income tax expense and current tax liability in the current year and to be considered as change in accounting 
estimates.

For recognition of deferred tax assets, management uses assumptions about the availability of sufficient taxable profits allowing use of recognized tax assets in the future. Management also uses assumptions related 
to determination of the applicable tax rate at the financial statements date at which deferred tax assets and liabilities are expected to be settled in the future.
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This process requires the use of multiple and complex estimates in estimating and determining the taxable pool and temporary deductible taxable differences resulting from the difference between the accounting 
basis and the tax basis for some assets and liabilities. In addition to estimating the extent to use deferred tax assets arising from carry forward tax losses, in the light of making estimates of future taxable profits and 
future plans for each of the activities of the subsidiaries of the Group.

Incremental Borrowing Rates (IBRs) applied in right of use calculation
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from 
various external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

B. Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below. The Group bases its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances 
and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they 
occur.

Provisions and contingent liabilities
Management assess events and circumstances that might led to a commitment on the Group’s side from performing its normal economic activities, management uses in this primary estimates and assumptions to 
judge the extend on which the provision’s recognition conditions have been met at the financial statement date, and analyze information to assume whether past events lead to current liability against the Group and 
estimate the future cash outflows and timing to settle this obligation, in addition, selecting the method which enable the management to measure the value of the commitment reliably.

Calculation of loss allowance
The Group assesses the impairment of its financial assets based on the expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. Under the ECL model, the Group accounts for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 
losses at the end of each reporting year to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. The Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime ECL for its financial 
instruments. When measuring ECL, the Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers and how these 
drivers will affect each other. Loss given default is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, taking 
into account cash flows from collateral and integral credit enhancements. Probability of default constitutes a key input in measuring ECL. Probability of default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time 
horizon, the calculation of which includes historical data, assumptions, and expectations of future conditions.

Estimation of net realizable value for inventory, and work in progress
Inventory, and properties classified under work in progress are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (“NRV”). NRV is assessed with reference to sales prices, costs of completion and advances received, development 
plans and market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. For certain properties, NRV is determined by the Group having taken suitable external advice and in the light of recent market transactions, where 
available. 

NRV for completed units available for sale is assessed by reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Group, based on comparable transactions identified by the 
Group for property in the same market serving the same real estate segment.
NRV in respect of work in progress is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for similar completed property, less estimated costs to complete the development and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale, taking into account the time value of money, if material.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and projects under construction
Properties classified under property, plant and equipment and projects under construction are assessed for impairment when there is an indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. An impairment 
review is carried out to determine the recoverable amount which takes into account the fair value of the property under consideration. The fair value of Club Houses properties and fixed assets classified under property, 
plant and equipment is determined by an independent expert.

The recoverable amount is determined using fair value model.

The fair values are compared to the carrying amounts to assess any probable impairment.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
Management reviews the residual values and estimates useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets at the end of each annual reporting year. Management determined that the current year’s 
expectations do not differ from previous estimates based on its review.
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C. Measurement of fair values
Certain number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require measurement of fair values, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.
Accreditation is measured in the fair value of assets and liabilities mainly on available market data, and the data that is relied upon in the evaluation is classified according to the following hierarchy: 

 � Level :1 quoted prices) unadjusted (in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
 � Level :2 inputs of the quoted prices included in level (1) that are observable for the asset or liability ,either directly) i.e .as prices (or indirectly) i.e .derived from prices.(
 � Level :3 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data) unobservable inputs.(

The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the financial year during which the change has occurred.

Further information about the assumptions made in measuring fair values is included in the following notes:

 � Financial instruments
 � Club S.

6. Real estate sales  
The Group’s operations are considered to fall into one broad class of business, sale of real estate units and hence, segmental analysis of assets and liabilities is not considered meaningful. The Group’s revenues 
can be analyzed as follows:

2022 2021
EGP EGP

Revenues from the sale of Sodic projects in West Cairo 1 495 986 888 1 435 108 232
Revenues from the sale of Sodic projects in East Cairo 5 518 199 369 4 756 563 341
Revenues from the sale of Sodic projects in North Coast 292 313 772 76 258 421

7 306 500 029 6 627 929 994
Sales return - (26 975 338)

7 306 500 029 6 240 954 656
Interest income realized from instalments during the year 251 430 581 153 060 784
Discount for early payment (308 438 828) (194 777 358)

7 249 491 782 6 199 238 082

Includes an amount of EGP 610 859 643 representing the financial component on instalments collected from customers of delivered units prior to delivery in compliance with the Egyptian accounting standard No. 48. 

7. Cost of real estate sold
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Cost of sales of Sodic projects in West Cairo (*) 776 027 557 859 960 272
Cost of sales of Sodic projects in East Cairo 3 577 665 888 2 877 998 441
Cost of sales of Sodic projects in North Coast 98 023 625 46 577 155

4 451 717 070 3 784 535 868
Onerous contracts – provision (**) 97 491 234 -
Write-down to NRV in WIP (**) 444 896 660 -
Cost of sales returns - (14 108 373)

4 994 104 964 3 770 427 495

 � Includes an amount of EGP 610 859 643 representing the financial component on instalments collected from customers of delivered units prior to delivery in compliance with the Egyptian accounting standard No. 
48. 

(*) Includes an amount of EGP 45 190 696 representing the adjustment to the cost of land for SODIC West El Sheikh Zayed plot as shown in detail in note (19).
(**)  The Egyptian market witnessed a significant increase in inflation rates during the last quarter of 2022, due to the increase in interest rate at banks and the significant raise of the foreign currency exchange rates against the Egyptian Pound. Accordingly, the Group’s 

management decided to re-measure the net realizable value of the work in progress, and as a result, the Group written down to NRV amounting to EGP 445 million and incurred onerous contracts losses amounting to EGP 97 million.
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8. Other operating revenues
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Cancellations and delay penalties 88 442 522 108 313 634
Reversal of impairment of property, plant and equipment 1 822 590 1 822 590
Provisions no longer required - 15 700
Gain on sale of Property, Plant, and Equipment 192 603 317 992
Go Smart revenue 6 585 019 9 193 879
Income from terminate lease contract for Heliopolis office 4 389 206 -
Other income 13 671 052 8 301 187

115 102 992 127 964 982

9. Selling and marketing expenses
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Salaries and wages  70 169 767 59 844 382
Sales commissions   271 652 096 225 310 004
Advertising expenses  293 498 509 141 817 362
Exhibitions, conferences, and events  60 501 436 39 773 582
Rent  3 647 976 2 883 010
Maintenance, security, cleaning, and agriculture  15 558 880 6 977 041
Travel, transportation, and cars  2 247 034 355 201
Professional and consultants’ fees  23 974 149 10 647 173
Tips and gifts  12 922 453 4 322 786
Fixed assets depreciation and amortization of right of use assets  17 516 217 17 206 881
Employees vacations   1 349 174 -
Fees, stamps and licenses  4 579 929 4 112 940
Printing and photocopying  2 326 317 1 745 319
Communication, electricity, telephone, and water  3 119 410  3 566 269
Other  15 303 979  4 027 374

 798 367 326 522 589 324
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10. General and administrative expenses      
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Salaries, wages, and bonuses 313 425 196 266 766 532
Board of Directors’ remunerations and allowances  13 000 000 6 397 727
Medical care, training, meals & uniforms  32 640 674 17 523 867
Employees Stock Option Plan (10-1) - 17 887 171
Specific employee’s benefits  13 164 776 1 496 254
Maintenance, security, cleaning, and agriculture  148 483 755 104 268 425
Professional and consultancy fees (10-2)  89 173 899 117 754 462
Exhibitions, and conferences  4 211 651 541 481
Donations  4 894 600 1 265 000
Gifts and tips  4 236 277 6 036 828
Fixed assets depreciation and amortization of right of use assets  21 486 672  29 101 112
Reception and hospitality  2 721 786  1 438 417
Programs and computer supplies  29 974 709 18 128 660
Stationery and printing supplies  2 308 333 2 545 588
Communication, electricity, telephone, and water  7 560 545 7 823 554
Subscriptions and governmental dues  40 523 432 16 835 219
Rent  6 466 708 7 739 751
Travel and transportation  8 033 281 3 115 358
Bank charges  5 632 673 4 788 565
Employees vacations  4 601 515 3 162 339
Insurance instalments  2 602 180 2 710 477
Tafakul contribution  19 160 108 17 048 529
Other 18 887 643  11 739 399

793 190 413  666 114 715

10.1. Represents the fair value of the option granted at the grant date for beneficiaries of Employees Stock Option Plan granted to the executive board members and the directors as shown in note (51).

10.2. Professional and consultancy fees include an amount of EGP 5.44 million representing financial advisors’ fees for studies on the initial offer made by Aldar Real Estate Company to acquire the Company’s shares.

11. Other operating expenses
2022 2021

 EGP EGP
Provisions 39 896 409 10 648 345
Operating Losses - 84 838 820
Impairment loss of in associates & joint ventures - 377 843
Discount for early payment - maintenance expenses 1 078 643 -

40 975 052  95 865 008
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12. Charges of expected credit losses

Balance in 
31/12/2021

Movement 
during 

the year

Balance in
31/12/2022

EGP EGP EGP

Loans to joints ventures 207 632 653 571 500  208 204 153 

Cash at banks 245 994 1 197 831  1 443 825 

Financial investments at amortized cost 61 519 3 069 411  3 130 930 

Trade and notes receivable 13 027 458 16 272 759  29 300 217 

Debtors and other debit balances 105 785 321 3 255 266  109 040 587 

326 752 945 24 366 767  351 119 712 

13. Finance income
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Interest income 89 816 822 74 921 067
Return on investment at amortized cost 81 768 303 81 601 348
Foreign exchange gains from balances denominated in foreign currencies (*) 146 034 979 -
Securitization profits 70 500 -

317 690 604 156 522 415

(*) As the Group has a surplus of foreign currencies at the date of the financial position, the Group realized gain from foreign exchange from balances dominated in foreign currencies because of the increase in the exchange rate of the USD against the EGP during the 
year from EGP 15.64 /USD to EGP 24.68 /USD at the date of the financial position.

14. Finance cost
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Interest expense 253 119 214 130 754 696
Foreign exchange losses from balances denominated in foreign currencies - 703 473
Securitization losses - 11 810 897
Interest on lease contracts 4 196 780 4 760 192

257 315 994 148 029 258

15. Income tax 

A. Items recognized in the profit or loss
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Current income tax expense 364 203 408 444 182 147
Tax expense on dividends 4 704 378 898 010
Deferred income tax (benefit) (183 699 795) (138 355 804)

185 207 991 306 724 353
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B. Deferred tax assets and liabilities movement

December 31, 2022 Balance as at 31/12/2022

Balance as at 
1/1/2022 asset 

/ (liability)
EGP

Charged to 
profit or loss

EGP

Deferred 
tax resulted 

in asset
EGP

Deferred tax 
resulted in 

(liability)
EGP

Net deferred 
tax resulted 
in (Liability) 

/ Asset
EGP

Property, plant and equipment (1 087 443) (3 342 464) - (4 429 907) (4 429 907)
Foreign exchange differences (5 915 344) (21 982 038) - (27 897 382) (27 897 382)
Provisions  119 326 468 231 810 154 351 136 622 - 351 136 622
EAS application differences (1 050 162) (80 282) - (1 130 444) (1 130 444)
Carry forward losses  91 353 300 (22 705 575) 68 647 725 - 68 647 725

 202 626 819 183 699 795 419 784 347 (33 457 733) 386 326 614

December 31, 2021 Balance as at 31/12/2021

Balance as at 
1/1/2021 asset 

/ (liability)
EGP

Charged to 
profit or loss

EGP

Deferred 
tax resulted 

in asset
EGP

Deferred tax 
resulted in 

(liability)
EGP

Net deferred 
tax resulted 
in (Liability) 

/ Asset
EGP

Property, plant and equipment (5 508 510)  4 421 067 - (1 087 443) (1 087 443)
Foreign exchange differences (7 116 532)  1 201 188 - (5 915 344) (5 915 344)
Provisions  72 483 459  46 843 009  119 326 468 -  119 326 468
EAS application differences - (1 050 162) - (1 050 162) (1 050 162)
Carry forward losses  4 412 598  86 940 702  91 353 300 -  91 353 300

 64 271 015  138 355 804  210 679 768 (8 052 949)  202 626 819

C.  Liability for temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures were not recognized because the group controls the timing of the reversal of the related temporary 
differences and is satisfied that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

D. Reconciliation of effective income tax rate
2022 2021
EGP EGP

Profit before income taxes 710 364 056 1 171 832 634
Tax rate 22.50% 22.50%
Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 159 831 913 263 662 343
Special tax pool (financial investment at amortized cost)   10 960 022 872 718
Non- deductible expenses / (income) (6 997 321) 20 325 095
Current-year losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized  17 900 528 4 130 316
Differences in amortization and interest on lease obligations 3 433 224 4 606 394
Other tax adjustments 79 625 13 127 487
Tax as per consolidated income statement 185 207 991 306 724 353
Effective tax rate 26.07% 26.17%
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E. Unrecognized deferred tax assets
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Temporary deductible differences 134 848 355 134 841 742
Tax losses carried forward 17 900 528  19 284 768

152 748 883 154 126 510

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the above-mentioned items because of uncertainty associated with the taxable profit to cover these tax assets.

16. Earnings per share

A. Consolidated earnings per share

Earnings per share as at December 31, 2022, is calculated based on the group’s share in earnings for the year using the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year as follows:

2022 2021
EGP EGP

Net profit for the year (parent company share) 520 057 733 860 309 508
Employees share of profit - -
Employees and board of directors share in subsidiaries and Associates’ companies - (4 524 444)

520 057 733 855 785 064
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 356 197 368 356 197 368
Earnings per share (EGP / share) 1.46 2.40

B. Separate (loss) per share
Loss per share as at December 31, 2022, is calculated based on the Parent Company’s share in loss for the year according to the separate financial statements using the weighted average number of outstanding shares 
during the year as follows:

2022 2021
EGP EGP

Net (loss) for the year (477 689 474) (365 362 841)
Employees share of profit - -

(477 689 474) (365 362 841)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year 356 197 368 356 197 368
Loss per share (EGP / share) (1.34) (1.03)

17. Inventory
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Maintenance, operation, and communication supplies 23 270 294 18 499 329

23 270 294 18 499 329
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18. Completed units ready for sale
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Cost of completed units 1 191 439 907 52 212 184

1 191 439 907 52 212 184

19. Work in process
This item represents the total costs related to works currently being undertaken. Details of these works are as follows:

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

West Cairo projects costs (19-1) 8 593 547 640 7 799 266 365
East Cairo projects costs (17 -2 ) 4 707 280 157 4 775 170 534
North Coast projects costs (19-2) 1 869 819 146 1 610 010 291

15 170 646 943 14 184 447 190

 � Includes an amount of EGP 797 766 937 representing the value of capitalized interest on instalments collected from customers.
 � The Egyptian market witnessed a significant increase in inflation rates during the last quarter of 2022, due to the increase in interest rate at banks and the significant raise of the foreign currency exchange rates 

against the Egyptian Pound. Accordingly, the Group’s management decided to re-measure the net realizable value of the work in progress, and as a result, the Group written down to NRV amounting to EGP 
445 million

19.1. West Cairo projects costs

A. Al Yosr for Projects and Agricultural Development (“Al Yosr”), SODIC’s fully owned subsidiary. Al Yosr has received a letter from the New Urban Communities Authority (“NUCA”) with respect to the 300-acre plot 
(circa 1.26 million square meters) of land owned by Al Yosr and located in the Sheikh Zayed City extension area as determined by the presidential decree number 77. The letter informs Al Yosr of NUCA’s Board of Directors 
decision regarding the payment required to be made by land owners in order for NUCA to deliver infrastructure to the plot and change the land usage from agricultural to residential, increasing the allowable built up 
area within the limits of Republican Resolutions (77-230 of 2017). In consideration for the above Al Yosr will make an in-kind payment of 50% of the land. 

On July 11, 2019, an agreement was concluded between Al Yosr and the New Urban Communities Authority (NUCA) to relinquish 50% of the above-mentioned plot in return for delivering infrastructure to the plot and 
change the land usage from agricultural to residential, On August 17, 2019 the project Master plan was submitted to the New Urban Communities Authority and was approved. The first phase of the project was launched 
on 29 September 2019 under the name of The Estates.

B. The balance includes the net present value of the plot of land previously ceded to the New Urban Communities Authority referred to above in paragraph (A) with an amount of EGP 1.24 billion in addition the 
company paid the value of administrative expenses and the Board of Trustees amounting to EGP 18.54 million .On September 1, 2021, the New Urban Communities Authority approved the request submitted by the one 
of SODIC subsidiaries to purchase the plot of land that were previously assigned to The Authority with an area of   123.38 acres, equivalent to 518,329.62 square meters see Note (35).

On 6 April 2022, the New Urban Communities Authority sent a letter to amend the area of the plot of land from 123,387 acres to 115.34, equivalent to 484.559,15 square meters, along with the adjustment of the instalments 
and interest values according to the new area. The value of the land has been adjusted according to the contract annex in May 2022, The total land area allocated to the Company became 265.34 acres.

C. Company’s Land settlement in El Sheikh Zayed 
The balance includes approximately EGP 200 million representing the present value at inception of the share of the work under construction from the settlement amount of the Company’s land in Sheikh Zayed as a 
component of the cost of the units whose revenues will be recognized in the statement of income or losses for future years, this amount represents the remainder of the present value of a total settlement amount of 
EGP 800 million with the Illicit Gains Authority (“IGA”).

D. On March 21, 2019 a co-development agreement was signed between SODIC and the Urban Communities Authority “NUCA” to establish an integrated urban project with an area of 464.81 acres (previously 500 
acres) under deficit or increase, According to the contract, NUCA share in return of the land includes an advance payment, annual cash instalments in addition to a percentage of the project expected revenues with a 
total minimum value of EGP 11. 356 billion. The co-development contract annex was signed on June.2022 ,27 

The balance includes an amount of EGP 4 811 045 530 representing the net present value of the project’s minimum land payments for the 464.81 acres (previously 500 acres) in Sheikh Zayed extension in addition to the 
capitalized interests in accordance with the co-development agreement between the Company and the Urban Communities Authority
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19.2. North Coast projects costs

19.2.1. On March 8, 2018, one of the subsidiaries signed two co-development contracts for a residential and tourism project for two land plots of approximately 308 acres on the North Coast with the owners as follows:

 � Contract signed with Owners Union – Shahin for the land plot of approximately 111 acres (the first plot).
 � Contract signed with the Alammar Company for Urban Expansion for the land plot of approximately 197 acres (the second plot).

Accordingly, SODIC at its own expense and under its responsibility will implement, finance, market and sell the units of the two projects and all its inclusions and components, in addition to providing management and 
maintenance either directly or through third parties, and delivering on all other obligations as stipulated in the co-development contract and will accordingly share the revenue according to the defined percentages in 
the contract for each component of the project.

According to the first plot’s contract the Company paid an amount of EGP 30 Million which represents down payment which will be settled during a three-year period in equal instalments against Owners Union – Shahin 
share in the project revenues in accordance to the co-development contract.

On August 4, 2018, according to the co-development contract Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company “SODIC” notified the Owners Union – Shahin that Tabrouk Development Company, a 99% 
owned subsidiary of SODIC, will replace it in the above mentioned co-development contract dated March 8, 2018, and all rights and obligations will be transferred to Tabrouk Development Company from August 4, 2018.

The Group also paid EGP 25.9 million on behalf of Owners Union – Shahin to settle land instalment for year 2018, and collected from Owners Union – Shahin EGP 3.3 million, thus the net amount paid up until December 
31, 2020 amounted to EGP 52.6 million.

 � According to the Presidential Decree No. 361 of 2020, Malaaz project land subordination has transferred to the New Urban Communities Authority, which in turn amended the Master plan of the entire North 
Coast. Accordingly, the project land which was being prepared for Malaaz project were affected by the new plans and the legal procedures for transferring the subordination of the project to the New Urban 
Communities Authority are in process (Note 11).

 � On August ,2021 ,25 a new co-development contract was concluded between the Tabrouk Development Company and the Owners Union – Shahin ,amending the previous contract to include the area of   land 
belonging to Owners Union – Shahin after increasing it to 004 182 1 sq according to the new Master plan for the North Coast and as per the contract signed between the Owners Union – Shahin and the New 
Urban Communities Authority on September.2021 ,12 

Under the new co-development contract ,Tabrouk Company at its expense ,is responsible to develop all the components of the project ,including the internal infrastructure and facilities ,except for the licensing and 
construction of 200 hotel rooms ,including internal facilities and infrastructure ,with the commitment of Tabrok Company ,to deliver the facilities to The boundaries of the hotel plot.
The land cost as per the new co-development contract is as follows:

A. A fixed payments with a total amount of EGP 2 659 509 000 to be paid over 24 equal semi-annual instalments of EGP 875 812 110 each.

B. A variable cost representing the Owners Union – Shahin’s percentage of the project’s revenues as per the terms of the contract.

The balance due on the Owners Union – Shahin that was included in the work in progress as the variable consideration for the land of the Malaaz project amounted to EGP 52.8 million has been reclassified as debtors and 
other debit balances) long/short-term (as this amount will be recovered from the Owners Union – Shahin’s percentage in the revenues The project mentioned in item) b (above, over 8 consecutive quarterly instalments 
of EGP 223 596 6 each, starting from the third quarter of 2021 until full payment.

The present value of the fixed payments of EGP 904 330 341 1 referred to in) a (above has been recorded as work-in-progress ,as for the variable consideration mentioned in) b (above will be recorded as work-in-progress upon 
payment.

19.2.2. The balance include an amount of EGP 43 million that represents the value paid to the Governorate of Marsa Matrouh as an advance to acquire the back plot of caesar project with an area of 85 acres, The 
Governorate of Marsa Matrouh refused to issue a contract as a result the Group filed a lawsuit.

The jurisdiction over the land was changed according to presidential Decree No. 361 of 2020 to the New Urban Communities Authority and the company is currently in negotiations with the Authority to acquire this parcel 
of land.

On June 26, 2022, the company signed the minutes of the meeting with the inventory and negotiation committee, which decided to raise the matter in obtaining the back plot of land with an area of 126.02 acres to the 
main real estate committee to consider approval of dealing with the Group, provided that the Group’s commits to the conditions listed in the committee’s decision, which includes paying 5% of the specified value of 
EGP 370.5 million within a month of its date, until the approval of the Real Estate Committee. The decision of the Main Real Estate Committee was issued on September 4, 2022 to assign the back plot area of 129.2 acres 
to the Group, and to claim the remaining unpaid value of the advance payment, which is determined as 10% of the total updated value of the back plot land at EGP 374.23 million.
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20. Trade and notes receivable

20.1. Trade and notes receivable current 
    31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Trade receivable 232 833 893 185 582 643
Notes receivable – units * 1 577 774 583 1 208 075 706
Trade receivable - others 21 288 697 4 577 730
 1 831 897 173 1 398 236 079
Unamortized interest – notes receivable (78 540 616) (51 928 483)

1 753 356 557 1 346 307 596
Expected credit losses on trade and notes receivable (16 039 422) (11 513 011)

1 737 317 135 1 334 794 585

* The balance of notes receivable represents the value of notes receivable received from real estate delivered units customers that are due within 12 months from the date of the financial position.

20.2. Trade and notes receivable non-current
This item represents the present value of long-term trade and notes receivable, and debtors’ balances as follows: -

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Receivables 7 689 600 9 063 562
Notes receivable – units’ instalments * 3 088 509 271 1 442 611 873

3 096 198 871 1 451 675 435
Unamortized interest (774 179 399) (272 534 622)

2 322 019 472 1 179 140 813
Expected credit losses on trade and notes receivable (13 260 795) (1 514 447)

2 308 758 677 1 177 626 366

* The balance of notes receivable represents the value of notes receivable received from real estate delivered units customers that are due after 12 months from the date of the financial position.

 � Trade and notes receivable not included in the financial statements amounting to EGP 27.1 billion have been disclosed in note No. (49).

The Group’s exposure to credit, and currency risks related to trade and notes receivable is disclosed in note No. (44).
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21. Debtors and other debit balances

21.1. Debtors and other debit balances - current

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Contractors and suppliers – advance payments 1 059 623 928 737 368 238
Due from related parties – Joint Venture 35 191 620 35 191 620
Accrued Revenues 82 592 556 81 435 406
Due from related parties 12 794 339 3 651 669
Prepaid expenses and sales commissions 877 703 317 583 844 979
Deposits with others 22 033 590 18 436 960
Tax Authority 42 401 850 59 480 860
Due from the bonus and incentives plan to employees and managers fund 5 473 472 5 473 472
Heliopolis Development and Housing Company (21-1-1) 260 802 472 228 532 600
Bank accounts – Joint arrangements (21-1-2) 109 527 453 52 296 390
Bank current accounts & deposits - Maintenance (21-1-3) 1 804 417 932 1 464 125 303
Project maintenance receivables 203 074 886 171 221 648
Owners Union – Shahin (Note 19-2) 16 868 982 24 046 593
Defaulting service (21-1-4) 36 609 466 24 010 000
Other debit balances 29 232 290 25 093 317

4 598 348 153 3 514 209 055
Expected credit losses on debtors and other debit balances  (109 002 579) (105 761 281)

4 489 345 574 3 408 447 774

21.1.1. This item represents the amount paid as a down payment to Heliopolis Housing and Development Company, this amount will be settled with Heliopolis Housing and Development Company’s revenue share in 
the co-development contract pertaining to New Heliopolis City. Accordingly, the Company will act as a real estate developer for the land plot owned by Heliopolis Housing and Development Company with an area of 
655 acres in New Heliopolis City. Heliopolis Housing and Development Company will earn a share of the revenue, with minimum guarantee amounting to EGP 5.01 billion. The two parties have agreed that the Company 
at its own expense and under its responsibility will implement, finance, market and sell the units of the project and all its inclusions and components, in addition to providing management and maintenance either 
directly or through third parties, and delivering on all other obligations as stipulated in the co-development contract and will accordingly share the revenue (according to the defined percentages in the contract for each 
component of the project).

The board of directors, in its session held on August 11, 2020, has agreed to amend the terms and conditions of the co-development contract with Heliopolis Housing and Development Company, including the amendment 
of the minimum guarantee according to the co-development contract by increasing the minimum guarantee, rescheduling the annual payments taking into consideration reducing the scheduled payments required of 
the company during the next five years while maintaining the same present value and the overall time period of the reimbursements, On December 21, 2020, an appendix has been signed to amend some of the terms 
and conditions of the co-development contract.

21.1.2. This balance represents the company’s share of the collected amounts from customers in the joint accounts held by the banks for SODIC East project .These balances are restricted unless agreed upon by both 
the developer and the owner in accordance with the contract terms of the joint bank accounts between the company as a developer ,the bank ,and the owner

21.1.3. (The balance represents maintenance deposits collected from customers ,which have been invested in time deposits and interest-bearing current accounts for the purpose of financing the regular maintenance 
expenses related to the delivered units and cannot be used for any other purpose.
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21.1.4. The balance represents the value held under the defaulting service account for each of the following: 

A. The facility granted by Ahli United Bank to discount checks for units delivered in the East Town project, where 5% of each discount transaction is held on account for the service of default, with the bank’s full right to 
recourse

B.  Securities securitization portfolio at 7% of issued bonds, As SODIC for Securitization S.A.E., SODIC’s wholly owned subsidiary announced on July 27, 2021 that it has successfully concluded its first securitization transaction 
by issuing an EGP 343 million securitization bond backed by a receivables portfolio of some EGP 384 million representing future instalments for 753 delivered units in SODIC’s East Cairo project Eastown Residences and 
North Coast project Caesar. The bond comprises two tranches with tenors of 13 and 36 months which were assigned investment-grade credit ratings of AA+ and A respectively from Middle East Ratings and Investor 
Services (MERIS).

The details and coupon rates of the tranches are as follows:

 � Tranche A with an amount of EGP 235 million ,a tenor of 13 months ,a credit rating of AA ,+and a fixed coupon rate of.9.55%  
 � Tranche B with an amount of EGP 108 million ,a tenor of 36 months ,a credit rating of A ,and a fixed coupon rate of.9.9% 

Accordingly ,the group has securitized a value of EGP 384 million representing future instalments for 753 delivered units in SODIC’s East Cairo project Eastown Residences and North Coast project Caesar from the 
portfolio of delivered units in accordance with the securitization portfolio transfer contract dated June ,2021 ,20 and the transfer procedures have been completed and the securitization implemented According to the 
approval of the Financial Supervisory Authority dated July.2021 ,27 

As a result of the securitization process ,the Group financial assets of EGP 664 950 2 representing the net present value of future gains ,as well as financial assets of EGP 24 million representing the retained value of7%  
of the issued bonds to be held on account for the service of default ,collected Immediately upon issuing a letter of guarantee in favor of the bond holders and the custodian

21.2. Debtors and other debit balances – noncurrent 

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Defaulting service - Securitization portfolio (21-1-4) 2 950 664 2 946 822
Owners Union – Shahin - 11 096 996

2 950 664 14 043 818
Expected credit losses on debtors and other debit balances  (38 008) (24 040)

2 912 656 14 019 778
The Group’s exposure to credit risk related to debtors and other debit balances is disclosed in note No. (44).

22. Loans to joint ventures

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

This item represents the loan granted to the Joint Venture project in the Syrian Arab Republic by the Group on August 16, 2010 for 
a total amount of USD 19.5 Million. The loan carries an interest rate of 8.5% per annum. The principal together with interest were 
scheduled for payment before December 31, 2011. The loan was renewed with an interest rate of 12.5% per annum.

135 485 961 135 485 961

This item represents the utilized amount of the bridge loan granted to the Joint Venture project in the Syrian Arab Republic on 
October 28, 2010 for a total amount of USD 8 445 674. The loan carries an interest rate of 8.5% per annum. 72 718 192 72 146 692

 208 204 153 207 632 653
Expected credit loss on loans to joint ventures (208 204 153) (207 632 653)

- -

167 | SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | 168

OVERVIEW  

 � ABOUT US  

 � OUR PURPOSE  

 � GENERAL MANAGER'S MESSAGE   

 � CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S MESSAGE  

2022 HIGHLIGHTS  

 � OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 � SUSTAINABILITY & CSR  

 � STRATEGIC OVERVIEW  

 � DEVELOPMENT VISION   

 � NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENTS  

 � VISION, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, 
AND TRANSFORMING SPACES  

PEOPLE & CAPABILITIES  

 � DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN

 � VALUING OUR PEOPLE  

 � FOSTERING INNOVATION  

OUR GOVERNANCE  

 � BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 � LEADERSHIP TEAM   

 � CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

 � FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

https://sodic.com/


23. Financial Investments at amortized cost
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Treasury bills at par value 1 252 825 000 335 224 773
Unearned return on treasury bills   (37 861 453) (3 744 989)

1 214 963 547 331 479 784
Expected credit loss (3 130 930) (61 519)

1 211 832 617 331 418 265

The Group’s exposure to market & interest risk related to the trading investments is disclosed in note No. (44).

24. Cash and cash equivalents
  31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Bank - time deposits * 1 093 012 091 697 040 514
Bank - current accounts 574 742 487 836 881 521
Checks under collection 18 381 339 45 716 134
Cash on hand 5 281 536 3 662 301

1 691 417 453 1 583 300 470
Expected credit loss (1 443 825) (245 994)

1 689 973 628 1 583 054 476

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents items are represented as follows: 

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Cash and cash equivalents before ECL 1 691 417 453 1 583 300 470
Restricted Deposits * (15 909 308) (8 641 652)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows 1 675 508 145 1 574 658 818

* Deposits include an amount of EGP 15.9 Million restricted as a guarantee for the credit facility granted to the Parent Company and one of its subsidiaries from commercial banks.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and currency risk for cash on hands and at banks which is disclosed in note No.(44) .
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25. Property, plant, equipment

Golf Course Lands
Buildings and 
Constructions Vehicles

Furniture 
and fixtures

Beach 
Furniture 

and fixtures

Office 
equipment and 

communications
Computer 

software

Generators, 
machinery  

and 
equipment

Solar power 
stations

Leasehold 
improvements Total

EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP

Cost

Cost at January 1, 2021  93 628 961  49 259 994  439 107 087  48 463 954  71 076 012  3 486 922  47 328 819  20 288 202  59 473 211  11 218 810  76 084 275  919 416 247
Additions during the year -   923 092  206 040 951  13 052 858  7 234 635  2 050 613  7 437 566  1 231 252  20 911 996 -  21 590 147  280 473 110
Disposals during the year - - (114 370) (423 795) (237 539) (191 947) (4 078 923) - (764 008) - (71 629) (5 882 211)
Cost at December 31, 2021  93 628 961  50 183 086  645 033 668  61 093 017  78 073 108  5 345 588  50 687 462  21 519 454  79 621 199  11 218 810  97 602 793 1 194 007 146

Cost at January 1, 2022  93 628 961  50 183 086  645 033 668  61 093 017  78 073 108  5 345 588  50 687 462  21 519 454  79 621 199  11 218 810  97 602 793 1 194 007 146
Additions during the year - -  2 351 991  14 235 334  5 941 754 -  8 985 306  4 101 601  8 725 703 -  4 390 562  48 732 251
Disposals during the year - - - (402 952) (66 614) - (137 202) - (761 329) - (8 352 954) (9 721 051)
Cost at December 31, 2022  93 628 961  50 183 086  647 385 659  74 925 399  83 948 248  5 345 588  59 535 566  25 621 055  87 585 573  11 218 810  93 640 401 1 233 018 346
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses 
at January 1, 2021

 93 628 961 -  56 221 479  26 651 112  26 509 600  1 628 982  31 336 672  16 339 964  30 564 375   409 474  54 715 440  338 006 059

Depreciation during the year  1 822 590 -  27 790 477  7 646 388  11 271 902  2 012 778  6 510 901  2 108 339  9 937 896   448 753  14 738 729  84 288 753
Accumulated depreciation 
of disposals during the year - - (114 370) (423 792) (220 668) (191 947) (3 352 923) - (656 460) - (71 321) (5 031 481)

Reversal of impairment 
losses during the year (1 822 590) - - - - - - - - - - ( 1 822 590)

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses 
at December 31, 2021

 93 628 961 -  83 897 586  33 873 708  37 560 834  3 449 813  34 494 650  18 448 303  39 845 811   858 227  69 382 848  415 440 741

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses 
at January 1, 2022

 93 628 961 -  83 897 586  33 873 708  37 560 834  3 449 813  34 494 650  18 448 303  39 845 811   858 227  69 382 848  415 440 741

Depreciation during the year  1 822 590 -  33 075 693  9 337 077  12 169 185  1 781 808  6 858 028  2 389 947  12 081 285   448 752  9 833 844  89 798 209
Accumulated depreciation 
of disposals during the year - - - (402 950) (56 187) - (121 980) - (670 451) - (8 337 934) (9 589 502)

Reversal of impairment 
losses during the year (1 822 590) - - - - - - - - - - (1 822 590)

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses 
at December 31, 2022

 93 628 961 -  116 973 279  42 807 835  49 673 832  5 231 621  41 230 698  20 838 250  51 256 645  1 306 979  70 878 758  493 826 858

Carrying amount
Carrying amount At 
January 1, 2021 -  49 259 994  382 885 608  21 812 842  44 566 412  1 857 940  15 992 147  3 948 238  28 908 836  10 809 336  21 368 835  581 410 188

Carrying amount At 
December 31, 2021 -  50 183 086  561 136 082  27 219 309  40 512 274  1 895 775  16 192 812  3 071 151  39 775 388  10 360 583  28 219 945  778 566 405

Carrying amount At 
December 31, 2022 -  50 183 086  530 412 380  32 117 564  34 274 416   113 967  18 304 868  4 782 805  36 328 928  9 911 831  22 761 643  739 191 488

 � Fixed assets included fully depreciated assets amounted to EGP 153 624 962 at December 31, 2022.
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26. Projects under construction
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Hotels buildings under constructions 104 398 714 104 398 714
Administrative buildings and caravans under construction 40 251 661 24 435 803
Advance payments -fixtures and purchasing of fixed assets 28 055 350 541

144 678 430 129 185 058

27. Investment properties under development
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Projects in West Cairo 106 245 091 1 419 250 277
Projects in East Cairo 732 545 700 1 737 155 862

838 790 791 3 156 406 139

28. Investments in associates
The Group has the following investments in associates:

Legal
Form

Ownership 
Percentage Carrying amount 

31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021
% % EGP EGP

Royal Gardens for Investment Property Co. SAE 20 20 - -
Palmyra SODIC Real Estate Development (A) Syrian Ltd. 50 50 - -

- -
Summary of financial information of associates and joint ventures: -

Assets Liabilities Equity Foreign 
translation Revenues Expenses

EGP
In thousands

EGP
In thousands

EGP
In thousands

EGP
In thousands

EGP
In thousands

EGP
In thousands

December 31, 2020
Royal Gardens for Real Estate Investments Co.  156 194 (159 464) 3 270 - (1 048) 6 220
December 31, 2019
Royal Gardens for Real Estate Investments Co.   153 061 (151 172) (1 889) - (7 584)   12 217
December 31, 2021
Palmyra SODIC Real  
Estate Development (*) 22 502 (1 101 089) 1 078 587 552 778 - 6 797

December 31, 2019
Palmyra SODIC Real 
Estate Development (*) 130 216 (1 113 822) 983 606 55 683 - 4 257

(*) On June 15, 2010, SODIC Syria was established - a limited liability company – to acquire a 50% stake in Palmyra - SODIC Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. - a limited liability company - registered and operating in the Syrian Arab Republic. The direct investment cost 
amounts to EGP 243 Million.

Due to the current political circumstances in the Syrian Arab Republic and the confiscation of assets and documents related to Palmyra - SODIC Real Estate Development Co by the state government, the management 
of SODIC addressed the Embassy of the Syrian Arab Republic in Egypt and commissioned a law firm to handle the issue and protect the interest of SODIC’s shareholders.

This situation coupled with the unstable political environment witnessed in Syria led SODIC’s Board of Directors to take the view that the invested amounts in Syria are non-recoverable. As such, SODIC recognized a 
loss arising from the inability to recover its investments. The recognized impairment loss of the investment and the foreign accumulated translation differences amounted to EGP 481 051 416 as at December 31, 2013.
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29. Investment properties
Investment properties includes commercial, administrative and residential units leased out to others. 
The movement of the investment properties and its depreciation is as follows: -

Description EGP
Cost

At January 1, 2021 166 414 001
Additions during the year 247 201 369

Stock of finished units (10 187 226)
At December 31, 2021 403 428 144
At January 1, 2022 403 428 144
Additions during the year 68 723 221
Transferred to finished units ready for sale (2 201 745)
At December 31, 2022 469 949 620
Less

Accumulated depreciation

At January 1, 2021 28 485 635
Depreciation for the year 9 856 599
Transferred to finished units ready for sale (2 958 551)
At December 31, 2021 35 383 683
At January 1, 2022 35 383 683
Depreciation for the year 22 558 771
Transferred to finished units ready for sale (302 394)
At December 31, 2022 57 640 060
Net carrying amount as at January 1, 2021 137 928 367
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2021 368 044 461
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2022 412 309 560

 � The fair value of investment properties amounted to EGP 1 421 million as at December 31, 2022.
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30. Right of use assets and liabilities

30.1. Right of use – assets
This item represents the right of use resulting from lease contracts of sales offices, employees housing, software and photocopier as follows:

Cost EGP
At January 1, 2022 100 883 683
Additions during the year 16 852 248
Disposals during the year (26 584 767)
At December 31, 2022 91 151 164
Less

Accumulated amortization

At January 1, 2022 45 814 362
Amortization for the year 17 255 749
Adding back depreciation of disposals (9 833 241)
At December 31, 2022 53 236 870
Net carrying amount as at January 1, 2022 55 069 321
Net carrying amount as at December 31, 2022 37 914 294

30.2. Lease contract liabilities
Present value of the total liabilities resulted from lease contracts are as follows:

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Lease contract liabilities 48 743 744 74 553 654
Unamortized interests (10 249 365) (14 649 212)
Net present value of lease contract liabilities 38 494 379 59 904 442

Short-term lease liabilities 10 209 528 11 472 628
Long-term lease liabilities 28 284 851 48 431 814

38 494 379 59 904 442
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31. Share capital and reserves

31.1. Share capital

 � The authorized capital of the Company is EGP 2.8 Billion and the Company’s issued and paid in capital is EGP 1 355 638 292 distributed over 338 909 573 shares with a par value of EGP 4 per share, the commercial 
register was notified on December 7, 2014.

 � The Board of Directors have decided in the meeting dated November 30, 2016 to increase the issued capital from EGP 1 355 638 292 to become EGP 1 369 194 672 by an amount of EGP 13 556 380 divided on 3 
389 095 shares of par value EGP 4 per share, this capital increase should be financed from the special reserve- Additional paid in capital, and to be fully utilized by the Employees Stock Option Plan granted to 
the executive board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extra ordinary general assembly dated January 20, 2016, which have decided to apply the Employees Stock Option Plan 
for the executive board members and directors through assigning shares with certain conditions. The commercial register was modified on February 5, 2017.

 � The board of directors have decided on the meeting dated October 23, 2018 to increase the issued capital from EGP 1 369 194 672 to become EGP 1 396 715 488 by an amount of EGP 27 520 816 divided on 6 880 
204 shares of par value EGP 4 per share, this capital increase should be financed from the special reserve- Additional paid in capital, and to be fully utilized for the second and third sections from the sections of 
Employees Stock Option Plan granted to the executive board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extra ordinary general assembly dated January 20, 2016, which have decided to 
apply the Employees Stock Option Plan for the executive board members and directors through assigning shares with certain conditions, and delegate the board of directors to execute the procedures of the 
required increase to issue new shares to be utilize in the Employees Stock Option Plan, The commercial register was modified on January 8, 2019. 

 � The board of directors have decided on the meeting dated September 7, 2020 to increase the issued capital from EGP 1 396 715 488 to become EGP 1 424 789 472 by an amount of EGP 28 073 
984 divided on 7 018 496 shares of par value EGP 4 per share, this capital increase should be financed from the special reserve- Additional paid in capital, and to be fully utilized for the fourth and fifth 
sections from the sections of Employees Stock Option Plan granted to the executive board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extra ordinary general assembly dated  
January 20, 2016, which have decided to apply the Employees Stock Option Plan for the executive board members and directors through assigning shares with certain conditions, and delegate the board of 
directors to execute the procedures of the required increase to issue new shares to be utilize in the Employees Stock Option Plan, an invitation was made to held a general assembly meeting on November 1, 
2020 to consider amending article 6 and 7 of the company statutes, The commercial register was modified on December 23, 2020. 

 � The current capital structure for the holding company:

Shareholder Number of 
shares Share value Ownership 

percentage
EGP %

ALDAR VENTURES INTERNATIONAL 213 240 140 852 960 560 59.87
GAMMA FORGE LIMITED 91 388 632 365 554 528 25.66
EKUITY Holding for Investments 17 252 027 69 008 108 4.84
Olayan Saudi Investment Company. 9 289 580 37 158 320 2.61
Other shareholders 25 026 989 100 107 956 7.02

356 197 368 1 424 789 472 100

31.2. Legal Reserve
The balance as at December 31, 2022 is represented as follows: -

EGP
Legal reserve of 5% of the Company’s net profits till year 2017 41 447 167
Increase of the legal reserve with the difference between the par value of the treasury shares and its actual cost (according 
to the Company’s Extra-Ordinary General Assembly Meeting held on July 10, 2003). 4 627 374

Increase of the legal reserve with part of capital increase share premium with limits of 
half of the Company’s issued share capital during 2006. 123 409 151

Increase of the legal reserve with part of capital increase share premium during year 2007 with limits of half of the Company’s issued share capital. 5 000 000
Increase of the legal reserve with part of the capital increase share premium with limits of half of the Company’s issued share capital during 2010. 39 446 365
Increase in legal reserve by 5% of 2019 net profit. 9 756 580
Increase in legal reserve by 5% of 2020 net profit. 1 154 136
The amount used to increase the issued share capital during 2011. (2)

224 840 771
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31.3. Special reserve – share premium  
The balance as at December 31, 2022 is represented as follows: -

Description EGP
Total value of the capital increase share premiums collected for the years 2006 and 2010 1 455 017 340
Share premium of the employees’ incentive and bonus plan issued during 2007. 90 000 000
The value of selling 712 500 share which has been sold through beneficiaries of incentive and bonus plan during 2014 at EGP 30 per share (after split). 21 375 000
The value of 537 500 shares converted to treasury shares during 2015 at par value, these shares were previously set aside for the benefit of the 
incentive and bonus plan during the capital increase in 2008 and were converted as a result of the termination of the program. 2 150 000

The value received from the selling of offering rights for 737 500 shares during 2014, which were transferred from shares held for “incentive and bonus plan” as a result of the termination of the program. 16 306 910
The value of accrued dividends for 737 500 shares which were transferred from the shares set aside for the incentive and bonus plan during 2015 as a result of the termination of the program. 1 180 000
The value received from the sale of 3 083 938 shares which had been sold by beneficiaries of the Employees Stock Option Plan during year 2017 at an average of EGP 9.27 per share. 28 588 105
Share premium for issuing 3 083 938 shares which were transferred from the shares set aside for the Employees Stock Option Plan during 2017 as a result of execution 16 630 524
The value received from the sale of 3 273 263 shares which had been sold by beneficiaries of the Employees Stock Option Plan during year 2019 by average EGP 9.27 per share. 30 343 148
Share premium for issuing 3 273 263 shares which were transferred from the shares set aside for the Employees Stock Option Plan during 2019 as a result of execution 18 508 880
The value received from the sale of 7 052 169 shares which had been sold by beneficiaries of the Employees Stock Option Plan during year 2021 by average EGP 9.27 per share. 65 373 607
Share premium for issuing 7 052 169 shares which were transferred from the shares set aside for the Employees Stock Option Plan during 2021 as a result of execution 34 927 494
Amounts transferred to the legal reserve (167 855 516)
Capital increase – related expense (55 240 255)
Amount used for share capital increase during 2008 (5 000 000)
Amount used for share capital increase during 2017 (13 556 380)
Amount used for share capital increase during 2019 (27 520 816)
Amount used for share capital increase during 2020 (28 073 984)

1 483 154 057

32. Profit from sale of treasury shares

 � On August 14, 2011, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the purchase of one Million treasury shares at EGP 18 per share (the par value is EGP 4 per share) with a total amount of EGP 18 018 000 
from the Parent Company’s shares offered on the Egyptian stock exchange. On August 13, 2012 the Parent Company’s Board of Directors agreed to sell these shares for a total value of EGP 21 710 867 resulting in 
a profit from the sale of treasury shares with an amount of EGP 3 692 867.

 � On February 1, 2015, the Parent Company’s Extraordinary General Assembly agreed on the termination of the current incentive and bonus plan for employees and executive directors of the company by the end of its 
duration as of March 31, 2015 and converting the remaining shares amounting to 737 500 shares on which its rights have not been exercised yet, into treasury shares in accordance with the related regulations. The conversion 
of the shares into treasury shares was executed on July 14, 2015, these shares carrying a book value of EGP 10 150 000 have been sold during the financial year ended December 31, 2016 with a selling value amounted to 
EGP 8 182 589 realizing a loss in the amount of EGP 1 967 411. Accordingly, the profit from sale of treasury shares reserve becomes EGP 1 725 456.

33. Non-controlling interest 
Non-controlling interest balance as at December 31, 2022, represents the interest shares in subsidiary’s equity as follows:

Non-controlling interest

Percentage
Balance 

as of  
31/12/2021

Excluding profit
/ (loss)

for the year

Profit / (loss)
for the year

Balance 
as of  

31/12/2022
% EGP EGP EGP EGP

Sixth of October for Development and Real Estate Projects Co. “SOREAL” 0.01   356 060   356 062   62 391   418 453 
Beverly Hills for Management of Cities and Resorts Co 55.54  29 966 401  29 966 401   120 881  30 087 283 
SODIC Garden City for Development and Investment Co. 50  33 508 013  26 158 244  4 921 900  31 080 144 
Al Yosr for Projects and Real Estate Development Co 0.001   25 158   25 158 (7 691)   17 466 
SODIC for Development and Real Estate Investment Co. 0.001    20    20 -    20 
Edara for Services of Cities and Resorts Co. 0.003   4 508   4 508    851   5 359 
Fourteen for Real Estate Investment Co. 0.004    2    2 -    2 
La Maison for Real Estate Investment Co. 0.004    2    2 -    2 

 63 860 164  56 510 397 5 098 332  61 608 729 
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34. Loans
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
On October 13, 2021, Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company “SODIC” singed a medium-term syndicated loan contract 
with the Arab African International Bank “facility and guarantee agent” and Banque Misr (in its capacity as the account bank) with a total 
amount of EGP 1 570 million according to the previous syndicated loan contract signed on April 4, 2017 on two tranches:

 � First tranche amount to finance the total debt outstanding due to group of banks represented by Arab African International Bank.
 � Second tranche to finance “SODIC West” projects located in Kilo 38 Cairo/Alex desert road -Giza- Egypt.

Guarantees:
 � The company pledges to deposit all proceeds from the sale of the project.
 � The company is obligated to conclude a mortgage and assignment of a right of the first degree on the account of the project in favor of the bank.
 � The company is obligated to conclude a mortgage procuration that allows to inquire about the possibility of registering the land and buildings constructed on the financed project in the name of the borrower and 

completing a first-class mortgage on the leased assets and buildings only.

The company is obligated to conclude an insurance policy on the construction work of the project in favor of the bank, with a coverage rate of 120%.

1 288 721 748 1 099 021 749

On August 30, 2017, Sixth of October for Development and Investment Company “SODIC” singed a medium-term loan contract with Commercial International 
Bank “CIB” with a total amount of EGP 270 Million to finance the development cost of October Plaza Project which will be established on area of 31 acres in 
northern expansions at sixth of October city, and on 16 July 2019 the total amount of the facility has been increased up to maximum EGP 500 Million.

Guarantees:
 � The Company committed to deposit all revenues from the sale of the project.
 � The Company shall sign a mortgage and a first-degree right of transfer on the project in favor of the bank.
 � The Company shall get insurance cover 110% the project’s constructions in favor of the bank.

Grace period:
Three years and six months applied on the principal of the loan only from the date of first drawdown.

Repayment:
Commences on March 2021, and repayable in (13) quarterly unequal instalments.

201 000 000 348 000 000

After 1 489 721 748 1 447 021 749

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Before 1 489 721 748 1 447 021 749
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On December 26, 2019, one of the subsidiaries singed a medium-term loan contract with Commercial International Bank 
“CIB” with a total amount of EGP one Billion to finance Technical investment cost of EDNC Project.

Guarantees:
 � The Company committed to deposit all revenues from the project.
 � The Company shall sign a mortgage on leased units including its share in the cost of the project land within 12 months after the project completion  

The Company shall get insurance cover 110% the project’s constructions in favor of the bank

550 000 000 350 000 000

On September 20, 2020, a Company’s subsidiary signed a medium-term facility agreement with the Arab African International Bank in its capacity as the first 
lender, principal arranger, bank account, facilitating agent and guarantee agent for the purpose of obtaining a loan of 2.57 billion Egyptian pounds on two tranches 
, tranche (A) at an amount of 620 million Egyptian pounds To refinance the outstanding debt of the Arab African International Bank, and tranche (B), at an amount 
of 1.95 billion Egyptian pounds, to finance the cost of completing and developing the project through a financing model for real estate development

Guarantees:
Mortgaging project accounts in favor of the escrow agent

 � Issuing a power of attorney in favor of the guaranteed agent authorizing the guarantee agent to pledge the unsold and recovered project units immediately after the start of the project.
 � Issuing a power of attorney in favor of the guaranteed agent authorizing the guarantee agent to sell the unsold and recovered units of the project immediately after starting the implementation of the project and 

starting customers reservations

Availability period:

 � Tranche (A) from the date of signing the agreement and ended on (November 30, 2020) or completing the process of refinancing the existing debt to the Arab African International Bank, whichever is sooner
 � Tranche (B) starts from the date of the end of the availability period for Tranche A and ends on December 31, 2022

Grace period: 
Starting from the date of the first withdrawal and ending on  
March 31, 2023, this period applies to the principal amount of the loan

Repayment: 
Starts immediately after the end of the availability period and is paid over 18 quarterly instalments ending in year 2027

904 836 585 774 836 585

On June 13, 2022, one of the subsidiaries signed a facility contract to discount the checks of some delivered units in Eastown project issued from unit 
owners in favor of the company, the facility amount is not to exceed six hundred million Egyptian pounds of the net present value after calculating the 
discount rate and restricting 5% of each discount process be held on account for the service of default, with the bank’s full right to recourse

250 623 193 -

3 195 181 526 2 571 858 334
Unamortized transaction cost (31 561 917) (22 995 052)

3 163 619 609 2 548 863 282
Current portion
A medium-term loan from CIB- October Plaza 80 000 000 87 000 000
A medium-term loan from CIB - EDNC 123 750 000 39 375 000
A medium-term syndicated loan contract Arab African International Bank “facility and guarantee agent” and Banque Misr (in its capacity as the account bank) 38 661 652 1 099 021 749
A medium-term with Arab African International Bank 130 296 468 -
Facility loan with Ahli United Bank 130 401 743 -

503 109 863 1 225 396 749
Unamortized transaction cost – current portion (7 354 307) -
Total of current portion 495 755 556 1 225 396 749
Total of non-current portion 2 667 864 053 1 323 466 533

3 163 619 609 2 548 863 282
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35. Creditors and notes payable

314 mm 31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

Total par value of the checks issued to New Urban Communities 
Authority which are payable till September 8, 2027. (*) 866 543 790 1 214 002 885

Unamortized interest (160 543 950) (253 359 212)
705 999 840 960 643 673

(*) On September 1, 2021, the New Urban Communities Authority approved the request submitted by one of SODIC subsidiaries to purchase the plot of land that were previously assigned to The 

Authority (Note 19-1-B) with an area of   123.38 acres, equivalent to 518 329 62 square meters, with a total value of EGP 1 236 216 144 (excluding interests on instalment).

On September 8, 2021, the company completed the payment of the advance payment of 10% in the amount of EGP 123 621 614 and paid the value of administrative expenses and the Board of Trustees in the amount of 
EGP 18 543 242, the rest of the price of the land in addition to the interest on instalments will be paid over five and a half years with 12 semi-annual instalments starting from March 8, 2022 and ends on September 8, 2027.

On 6 April 2022, the New Urban Communities Authority sent a letter to amend the area of the plot of land from 123,387 acres to 115.34, equivalent to 484.559,15 square meters, along with the adjustment of the instalments 
and interest values according to the new area. The value of the land has been adjusted according to the contract annex in May 2022, The total land area allocated to the Company became 265.34 acres.

 � The Company’s exposure to credit risk related to long-term notes payable are disclosed in Note No. (44).

36. New Urban Communities Authority 

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
EGP EGP

New Urban Communities Authority 10 911 745 840 10 985 619 643
Unamortized interest (6 545 837 240) (6 921 946 202)

4 365 908 600 4 063 673 441
Current portion 263 159 777 92 417 693
Non-current portion 4 102 748 823 3 971 255 748

4 365 908 600 4 063 673 441

On March 21, 2019 a co-development agreement was signed between SODIC and the Urban Communities Authority “NUCA” to establish an integrated urban project with an area of 464.81 acres (previously 500 acres) 
under deficit or increase, According to the contract, NUCA share in return of the land includes an advance payment, annual cash instalments in addition to a percentage of the project expected revenues with a total 
minimum value of EGP 11. 356 billion. The co-development contract annex was signed on June.2022 ,27 

37. Land acquisition creditors
314 mm 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Owners Union – Shahin 2 327 070 375 2 548 696 125
Unamortized interest (1 047 935 143) (1 253 033 603)

1 279 135 232 1 295 662 522
Current portion 34 853 101 16 527 290
Non-circulating part 1 244 282 131 1 279 135 232

1 279 135 232 1 295 662 522

The balance represents the present value of the deferred instalments due to Owners Union – Shahin for the fixed payments of the co-development contract as mentioned in detail in Note No.(19-2-1) .
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38. Advances - from customers
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Advances – Projects in West Cairo  3 702 662 210 2 425 178 256
Advances – Projects in East Cairo (*) 2 711 966 507 3 701 928 464
Advances – Projects on the North Coast 1 721 974 601 421 079 846
Advances – Clubs Memberships  518 287 514 419 847 163
Advances for other group activities  45 504 995 39 563 998

8 700 395 827 7 007 597 727

 � Includes an amount of EGP 885 945 972 representing the value of financial component on instalments collected from customers.

(*) The balance of Advances – Projects in East Cairo includes an amount of EGP 1 009 265 158 which represents the net advances from customers of SODIC EAST project with a total value of EGP 1 037 978 458 The total value has been reduced by EGP 28 713 300, which 
represents Heliopolis Housing and Development Company’s share of the residential units mentioned in the joint operation contract (70% for the developer and 30% for the owner approximately). 

 � Uncollected notes receivables for undelivered units, amounting to EGP 25.5 billion that are not included in the financial statements have been disclosed in note No. (49).

40. Contractors, suppliers and notes payable
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Contractors 44 271 956 124 262 868
Suppliers 68 741 483 18 729 018
Notes payable (*) 435 851 162 424 519 793

548 864 601 567 511 679
Unamortized interest - notes payable (92 119 311) (114 015 967)

456 745 290 453 495 712

(*) Notes payables include EGP 268 million which represents the amount due to the New Urban Communities Authority

 � The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to suppliers, contractors and notes payable is disclosed in note No. (44).

40. Creditors and other credit balances 
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Amounts collected on account for management, operation and maintenance of projects * 1 921 165 992 1 612 613 490
Accrued expenses 274 777 264  267 551 898
Customers - Beverly Hills – capital contributions  14 465 041  14 230 429
Customers – credit balances  90 168 161  80 908 532
Tax Authority  84 476 000  70 516 276
Accrued compensated absence 9 087 782   354 507
Insurance Deposits collected from customers – Against modifications 4 088 081  5 106 950
Social insurance – Contractors 29 819 320 33 667 272
Unearned revenue 2 205 660  3 837 952
Retentions 329 623 083 408 363 524
Deposits from others  84 506 181  72 818 711
Due to securitization portfolio -  2 332 982
Sundry creditors short term 33 284 318 35 684 147

2 877 666 883 2 607 986 670
* Uncollected notes receivable for maintenance of undelivered units amounting to EGP 1.53 billion, have been disclosed in note No. (49).

The Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks related to creditors is disclosed in note No. (44).

189 | SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SODIC ANNUAL REPORT 2022 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | 190

OVERVIEW  

 � ABOUT US  

 � OUR PURPOSE  

 � GENERAL MANAGER'S MESSAGE   

 � CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S MESSAGE  

2022 HIGHLIGHTS  

 � OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

 � SUSTAINABILITY & CSR  

 � STRATEGIC OVERVIEW  

 � DEVELOPMENT VISION   

 � NEXT GENERATION DEVELOPMENTS  

 � VISION, GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES, 
AND TRANSFORMING SPACES  

PEOPLE & CAPABILITIES  

 � DRIVING CHANGE FROM WITHIN

 � VALUING OUR PEOPLE  

 � FOSTERING INNOVATION  

OUR GOVERNANCE  

 � BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

 � LEADERSHIP TEAM   

 � CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT  

 � FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

https://sodic.com/


41. Provisions

A. Provision for completion of works 

Balance as 
at 1/1/2022

Formed during 
the year

Used
during the year

Provisions 
no longer 

required 
during the year

Balance as at 
31/12/2022

EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP
Provision for completion of works 528 679 675 760 801 594 (328 643 674) - 960 837 595

528 679 675 760 801 594 (328 643 674) - 960 837 595

This provision is for estimated costs related to delivered units and expected to be incurred in the following years to complete the execution of the project in its final stage

B. Claims provisions

Balance as 
at 1/1/2022

Formed during 
the year

Used during 
the year

Provisions 
no longer 

required 
during the year

Balance as at 
31/12/2022

EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP
Provision for expected claims  25 187 281 39 896 409 - - 65 083 690

25 187 281 39 896 409 - - 65 083 690

The provision is formed for existing claims related to the Company’s transactions with other parties. The Company’s management reviews the provisions annually and makes any amendments if needed according to 
the latest agreements and negotiations with those parties.

The Company did not disclose all of the information required by the Egyptian accounting standards with those parties as the management assumes that the disclosure of such information would seriously affect the 
company’s negotiations with those parties.

C. Onerous contracts provision

Balance as 
at 1/1/2022

Formed during 
the year

Used during 
the year

Provisions no 
longer required 
during the year

Balance as at 
31/12/2022

EGP EGP EGP EGP EGP
Onerous contracts provision -  97 491 234 - -  97 491 234

-  97 491 234 - -  97 491 234

The provision is formed for onerous contracts as shown in detail in note (7).
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42. Non - cash transactions 
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year ended December 31, 2022, the effect of the following investment transactions was excluded as they are considered non - cash 
transactions:

EGP
Transfer from investment properties to work in process 2 308 114 606
Transfer from Investment properties to completed units ready for sale 156 727 058
Transfer from work in process to completed units ready for sale 1 065 392 243
The effect of modifying the land area of The Estates back plot from 123.387 acres to 115.34 acres 86 773 683
Loans unamortized cost 8 566 867

43. Fair values

Fair values versus carrying values
Financial instruments for the group are, cash at banks and on hand, financial investments at amortized cost, customers, notes receivable and investments in equity instruments, suppliers, contractors, notes payable and 
other credit balances and monetary items included in debtors and creditors accounts.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide funding for the activities of the group.
According to the valuation techniques followed in evaluating the assets and liabilities of the group, the carrying value of these financial instruments represents a reasonable estimate of their fair value.

Capital management 
The Company’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. 

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company monitors the return on capital, which the Company defines as net profit for the year divided by total equity. The Board of Directors of the Parent Company also monitors 
the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.

There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. In addition, The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.   

44. Financial risk management 
The Group is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

A.  Credit risk
B.  Liquidity risk
C.  Market risk
D.  Currency risk
E.  Interest rate risk
F.  Other market price risk

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, as well as the Group management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial statements.

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework. The Board also identifies and analyzes the risks faced by the 
Company, sets appropriate risk limits and controls, and monitors risks and adherence to limits. 

The Group aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment through which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 
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A. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur financial loss. This risk is mainly associated with the Company’s customers and other 
receivables.

Trade and other receivables 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer and the demographics of the Group’s customer base, which includes the default risk of the industry which 
has less influence on credit risk.

All of the Group’s revenues is attributable to sales transactions with a vast group of customers. Therefore, demographically, there is no concentration of credit risk.

The Group’s management has established a credit policy under which each customer is subject to credit valuation before the Company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered to him. The 
Company obtains advance payments and cheques that cover the full sales value in advance and before the delivery of units to customers. No previous losses were observed from transactions with customers. 

Sales of units are made subject to retention of title clauses and the ownership title is transferred only after the collection of the full sales value. In the event of non-payment, the unit is returned to the Company and the 
amounts collected from customers are repaid on the date of the default after deducting a 5% to 10% of this value. As for the leased units, an insurance is obtained for the unit equivalent to the value of three months of 
the unit rent at the beginning of the contract, and this insurance applies to the terms of termination of the contract mentioned in the contract (the twelfth clause of the contract), where the insurance is refunded to the 
customer in the event of his commitment to the terms of termination, Also, quarterly checks are obtained from customers at the rental value, including maintenance expenses, according to the financial clause of the 
contract.

Investments
The Company manages the risk via conducting detailed investment studies which are reviewed by the Board of Directors. The Company’s management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet their obligations.

Guarantees
The group extends corporate guarantees to subsidiaries, when needed, after the approval of the Extra Ordinary General Assembly Meeting (EGM). 

B. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. 

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational expenses for an appropriate year including the cost of servicing financial obligations; this excludes the potential impact of extreme 
circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.  

In addition, the Group maintains the following lines of credit:

 � EGP 5 Million as a bank facility for one of the subsidiaries guaranteed by time deposits.
 � A medium-term loan in the amount of EGP 1 570 Million. 
 � A medium-term loan in the amount of EGP 500 Million.
 � A medium-term loan in the amount of EGP 2 570 Million for one of the subsidiaries.
 � A medium-term loan in the amount of EGP 1 000 Million for one of the subsidiaries.
 � A facility contract to discount the checks of some delivered units and issued from unit owners in favor of the company in the amount of EGP 600 Million for one of the subsidiaries.

C. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
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D. Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and financial assets that are denominated in foreign currencies. Such risk is primarily represented in USD, EUR and GBP.

In respect of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other foreign currencies, the Group ensures that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when 
necessary to address short- term imbalances.

The Company’s investments in its subsidiaries are not hedged as those currency positions are considered long-term in nature. 
The Parent Company does not enter into hedging contracts for foreign currencies.

E. Interest rate risk
The Company adopts a policy to limit the company’s exposure for interest risk, therefore the company’s management evaluates the available alternatives for finance and negotiates with banks to obtain the best 
available interest rates and credit conditions. Borrowing contracts are presented to the Board of Directors. The finance position and finance cost are periodically evaluated by the Company’s management. The Company 
does not enter into hedging contracts for interest rates.

F. Other market price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities, the management of the Group monitors the mix of equity securities in its investment portfolio based on market indices and the objective valuation of the 
financial statements related to these shares.

Material investments within the portfolio are managed on an individual basis and all buying and selling decisions are approved by the Company’ Board of Directors.

The primary goal of the Company’s investment strategy is to maximize investment returns. Management is assisted by external advisors in this regard.

In accordance with this strategy certain investments are designated as held for trading because their performance is actively monitored, and they are managed on a fair value basis.

44.1. Credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk as at December 31, 2022 as follows

Note No. 31/12/2022
EGP

31/12/2021
EGP

Trade and notes receivable – non-current (20)  2 322 019 472 1 179 140 813
Trade and notes receivable – current (20)  1 753 356 557 1 346 307 596
Debtors and other debit balances – non-current (21)  2 912 656 14 043 818
Debtors and other debit balances – current (21)  3 720 644 836 2 930 364 076
Investments at amortized cost (23)  1 211 832 617 331 479 784
Cash at banks (24)  1 686 135 917 1 579 638 169

10 696 902 055 7 380 974 256
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44.2. Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

December 31, 2022 Carrying 
amount

Less than 
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years

EGP EGP EGP EGP
Loans 3 163 619 609  495 755 556 1 050 473 930 1 617 390 123
Contractors and suppliers  113 013 439  113 013 439 - -
Notes payable 1 049 731 691  343 731 851  405 123 837  300 876 003
New Urban Communities 4 365 908 600  263 159 777  599 759 632 3 502 989 191
Land acquisition creditors 1 279 135 232  34 853 101  30 233 992 1 214 048 139
Other creditors 3 278 364 875 2 318 094 434  915 402 054  44 868 387

13 249 773 446 3 568 608 158 3 000 993 445 6 680 171 843

December 31, 2021 Carrying 
amount

Less than 
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years

EGP EGP EGP EGP
Bank facilities  2 458 049  2 458 049 - -
Loans 2 548 863 282 1 225 396 749  293 606 416 1 029 860 117
Contractors and suppliers  441 614 414  441 614 414 - -
Notes payable 1 271 147 499   289 611 626   284 522 875   697 012 998
New Urban Communities 4 063 673 441  92 417 693  350 508 676 3 620 747 072
Land acquisition creditors 1 295 662 522  16 527 290  161 095 888 1 118 039 344
Other creditors 2 811 689 301 2 328 509 813  448 108 639  35 070 849

12 435 108 508 4 396 535 634 1 537 842 494 6 500 730 380

44.3. Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk for main currencies was as follows:

December 31, 2022
Description    USD Euro GBP
Cash at banks 13 927 083 714 136   36 945 
Surplus of foreign currencies 13 927 083 714 136   36 945 

December 31, 2021
Description    USD Euro GBP
Cash at banks  21 563 363 158 676 16 913
Notes receivables 596 610 - -
Creditors and other credit balances (486 000) - -
Surplus of foreign currencies  21 673 973 158 676   16 913
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The following is the average exchange rates during the year:

Average exchange rate 
during the year

Spot rate at the financial 
statements date

31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP EGP EGP
USD 17.96 15.64 24.68 15.64
Euro 19.49 17.67 26.19 18.34
GBP 22.52 21.04 29.65 21.19

Sensitivity Analysis 
A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of 5% other currencies exchange rate against Egyptian pound As of December 31, 2022 would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a 
foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and 
purchases.

Profit or Loss
Strengthening Weakening

EGP EGP
USD 17 186 020 (17 186 020)
Euro 935 161 (935 161)
GBP 54 771 (54 771)

18 175 952 (18 175 952)

A reasonably possible strengthening (weakening) of 5% other currencies exchange rate against Egyptian pound As of December 31, 2021 would have affected the measurement of financial instruments denominated in a 
foreign currency and affected equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant and ignores any impact of forecast sales and 
purchases.

Profit or Loss
Strengthening Weakening

EGP EGP
USD  16 949 047 (16 949 047)
Euro 140 190 (140 190)
GBP   17 793 (17 793)

 17 107 030 (17 107 030)

Interest rate risk
At the date of consolidated financial statements, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial instruments was as follows: -

Carrying amount
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Financial instruments with a fixed rate EGP EGP
Financial assets 6 405 826 221 3 540 879 730
Financial liabilities (781 086 133) (965 763 480)

5 624 740 088 2 575 116 250
Financial instruments with a variable rate

Financial liabilities (3 163 619 609) (2 551 321 331)
(3 163 619 609) (2 551 321 331)

The Group does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The Company does not designate derivatives (interest rate swaps) as hedging instruments under a fair value 
hedge accounting model. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the consolidated financial statements date would not affect the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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45. Transactions with related parties
Related parties are represented in the Parent Company’ shareholders, Board of Directors, executive directors and companies in which they own directly or indirectly shares giving them significant influence or control over 
these companies. The Parent Company made several transactions with related parties during the year and these transactions have been made in accordance with the terms determined by the group’s management. 

Summary of significant transactions concluded during the year and the resulting balances of the related parties at the consolidated balance sheet date were as follows: - 

a. Transactions with related parties
31/12/2022

Party / Relationship Nature of transaction
Amount of 

transaction
EGP

Executive managers and Board of Directors (Parent Company) Executive and Board of Directors 36 492 213

Al Dar Egypt Payments on behalf 9 142 670

Al Dar Properties Collections on behalf 2 068 101

Settlement of the account (2 068 101)

b. Balances resulting from transactions with related parties
Party Item as shown in the consolidated balance sheet 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EGP EGP
Palmyra – SODIC for Real Estate Development * Loans to Joint Ventures 208 204 153 207 632 653

Accrued interest on loan under debtors 
and other debit balances caption

130 482 65 130 482 65

Accrued on – related parties joint venture under 
debtor and other debit balances caption 

35 191 620 35 191 620

Al Dar Egypt Debtors & other debit balances 9 142 671 -

*Impairment in dues from Palmyra – SODIC for Real Estate Development has been recorded as described in note No. (21 & 22).

46. Tax status 
Summary of the Company’s tax status at the separate financial statements date is as follows: -

Corporate tax
 � Years 1996 to 2018 have been tax inspected and tax differences have been paid and settled.
 � Years 2019 to 2021 have not been inspected and no tax claims have been received till the date of authorizing of these financial statements for issuance.
 � The Company submits its annual tax return on due dates in accordance with Law No. 91 of 2005 regulations and amendments and pays the due tax.

Salary tax
 � Years 1996 to 2019 have been inspected and tax differences have been paid and settled.
 � Years 2020 to 2021 have not been inspected and no tax claims have been received till the date of authorizing of these financial statements for issuance 
 � The Company pays the monthly salary tax on due dates in accordance with the law.

Withholding tax
 � The Company pays the withholding tax on due dates in accordance with the law.
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Stamp tax
 � Tax inspection was carried out from 1996 to 2020, and tax differences have been fully paid.
 � Year 2021 has not been inspected and no tax claims have been received till the date of authorizing of these financial statements for issuance 
 � The Company submits stamp tax returns on a regular basis and pates the accrued taxes on due dates in accordance with the law.

Sales/value added tax
 � Years 1996 to 2019 have been inspected and tax differences have been paid and settled.
 � Years 2020 to 2021 have not been inspected and no tax claims have been received till the date of authorizing of these financial statements for issuance 
 � The Company submits the value-add tax returns on a regular basis and pay the accrued taxes on due dates in accordance with the law.

Real estate property tax
 � The Company submitted its real estate property tax returns of year 2009 on due dates in accordance with Law No. 196 of 2008.

27. Capital commitments
The value of contracts concluded with third parties for work in progress and real estate investments under development amounted to EGP 13.15 billion (EGP 10.79 billion as of December 31, 2021), and executed works till 
December 31, 2022, amounted to EGP 8.57 billion (EGP 8.91 billion as of 31 December 2021)

48. Contingencies

(48-1) During the year, the Group signed a credit facility contract with the Commercial International Bank to issue letters of guarantee with a credit limit of EGP 221 625 750, for the purpose of issuing letters of guarantee 
for checks issued to the Owners Union – Shahin. The letters of guarantee are subject to renewal and modification as the issuance of checks continues until the final settlement of the fixed instalments due to the owner 
according to the co-development contract concluded between one of the subsidiaries and the Owners Union – Shahin. The Group issued a letter of guarantee for a third party amounted to EGP 1 million as restricted 
deposit.

(48-2) There is a dispute between a subsidiary of the Group and the owners of some commercial units sold by that Company about claiming financial compensation for not issuing a commercial license to the property 
and claiming financial compensation as a result. on December 29, 2021 the court ruled to dismiss the case in favor of the Group’s subsidiary. These owners appealed the court ruling and demanded the case to be referred 
to the Committee of Experts at the Ministry of Justice, no date has been set for hearing the appeal yet. The Group’s management and its legal advisor consider that the possibility of winning or losing are equal, and 
therefore the Group did not take any provisions.

29. Post-dated checks (off balance sheet)
The value of post-dated checks and instalment customers are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position items - for the undelivered units, is the value of the post-dated checks retained and received 
from customers according to the payment terms of each customer in accordance with the contracts, as well as the value of future instalments that have not  received checks on them where the contract was made and 
the payment was collected in advance and no future checks have been presented for the rest of the unit value until the date of the financial position, and its statement is as follows:

Note
No.

31/12/2022
EGP

31/12/2021
EGP

Postdated checks clients and unit’s instalments (38) 25 510 595 519 15 749 028 042
Postdated checks customers cancellations (40) 19 252 005  332 014 183
Postdated checks clients and maintenance instalments (40) 1 525 649 231  889 726 149

27 055 496 755 16 970 768 374
These are due
Checks due short term (20) 5 145 424 848 3 713 599 258
Checks due long term (20) 21 910 071 907 13 247 169 116

27 055 496 755 16 960 768 374
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50. Legal status 
There is a dispute between the parent Company and another party regarding the contract concluded between them on February 23, 1999 which is related to delivering this party a plot of land as a usufruct right for 
indefinite year of time and a return for an annual rental with a minimal amount for a total of 96 acres approximately and which has not been delivered up till this date as the management of this party did not abide by 
the detailed conditions of the contract. There are exchanged notifications concerning this land between the management of the parent Company and the management of this party. During 2009, this party raised a 
court case No. 3 of 2009 Civil 6th of October against the parent Company asking it for the delivery of the allocated land. A preliminary judgment was issued by the court in its session held on February 22, 2010, to refer 
this matter to experts and to delegate the Experts Office of the Ministry of Justice to embark this case and set a session to be held on April 26, 2010, for the expert to present his report. The session was postponed by 
the court several times, the latest on which to November 24, 2014. On that date, the 6 of October partial court decided to reverse its previous decree of proof procedures dated February 22, 2010 by refusing the case. On 
November 3, 2021, the Court of Appeal again decided to refuse the appeal. Consequently, the judgment mentioned in the November 24, 2014 session in favor of the Company became final.

On January 2, 2022, the aforementioned body appealed the above-mentioned ruling and registered to No. 20964 of 91 judicial year in order to cancel the contested ruling - issued in Appeal No. 218 of 123 judicial year at 
the November 3, 2021 session. The Company and its legal advisor see the strength of the Company’s legal position as the contract did not enter into force from the grounds that the appellant failed to implement his 
contractual obligations represented in not obtaining the approval of the general assembly and the competent administrative authorities in accordance with the provisions of this contract.

51. Incentive and bonus plan of the Parent Company’s employees and managers
 � On January 20, 2016 the extraordinary general assembly have approved the new Employees Stock Option Plan for executive board members and directors through granting shares with special conditions as per 

stated in the plan that part of the company’s shares should be assigned to the employee stock option plan equal to 1% of the company’s issued capital annually on five tranches for a period of six years and three 
months as per annex (1). These shares will be made available by using the special reserve- additional paid in capital, or reserves, or part of it, or retained earnings, or part of it for capital increase. The additional 
shares are to be issued to the employee stock option plan based on the approval of the Board of Directors as per the delegation granted by the company’s extraordinary general assembly dated January 20, 2016. 
The granting of the employee stock option plan shares is to be based on a decision from the supervisory committee by the treasurer. 

 � The board of directors have decided on the meeting dated November 30, 2016 to increase the issued capital from EGP 1 355 638 292 to become EGP 1 369 194 672 by an amount of EGP 13 556 380 divided on 3 
389 095 shares of par value EGP 4 per share, this capital increase is to be financed from the special reserve- Additional paid in capital, and to be fully utilized by the Employees Stock Option plan granted to the 
executives board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extraordinary general assembly dated January 20, 2016, which have decided to apply the Employees Stock Option Plan for 
the executive board members and directors through assigning shares with certain conditions. The commercial register was modified on February 5, 2017.

 � The Board of Directors have decided on the meeting dated October 23, 2018 to increase the issued capital from EGP 1 369 194 672to become EGP  1 396 715 488 by an amount of EGP  27 520 816 divided on204  
  6 880shares of  par value EGP 4 per share ,this capital increase is to be financed from the special reserve -Additional paid in capital ,and to be fully utilized for the second and third sections from the sections of  
Employees Stock Option plan granted to the executives board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extraordinary general assembly dated January ,2016 ,20 which have decided to 
apply the Employees Stock Option Plan for the executive board members and directors through assigning shares with certain conditions ,and delegate the board of directors to execute the procedures of the 
required increase to issue new shares to be utilized in the Employees Stock Option plan ,The commercial register was modified on January.2019 ,8 

 � The board of directors have decided on the meeting dated September 2020 ,7 to increase the issued capital from EGP 488 715 396 1 to become EGP 472 789 424 1 by an amount of  EGP 984 073 28 divided on7  
 496 018shares of par value EGP 4 per share ,this capital increase should be financed from the special reserve -Additional paid in capital ,and to be fully utilized for the second and third sections from the sections 
of  Employees Stock Option Plan granted to the executive board members and the directors as per the option plan approved by the extra ordinary general assembly dated January 2016 ,20 as mentioned in 
details in note31) ).

52. Subsequent events 
In the early of January 2023, the Central Bank of Egypt (CBE) moved to a durably flexible exchange rate regime, leaving the forces of supply and demand to determine the value of the Egyptian Pound against other 
foreign currencies. Accordingly, the exchange rate of the US Dollar began to rise against the Egyptian Pound, which led to an increase from  EGP 24.63 /USD1 to reach  EGP 29.63/USD1 by the end of January 11, 2023, and 
this increase in the exchange rate of the US Dollar against the Egyptian Pound will lead to an increase from EGP 146 034 979 to EGP 215 019 999 in the foreign currency exchange gains charged to the statement of profit 
or loss for the financial year ended December 31, 2022.

53. Significant accounting policies
The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all years presented in these financial statements.

53.1. Business combination
 � The Group accounts for business combination using the acquisition method when control is transferred to the Group.
 � The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are net values of the assets acquired where identifiable 
 � Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for Impairment. Any gain on a bargain purchase is recognized as profit or loss immediately.
 � Transaction cost are expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities.
 � The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-exiting relationship. Such amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.
 � Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay a contingent consideration meets the definition of financial instrument as classified as equity, then it is 

not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent considerations are re-measured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.
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a. Subsidiaries
 � Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
 � The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
 � The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.
 � Subsidiaries are represented in the following: -     

Ownership

Subsidiary name   Country of 
Incorporation

As at 
31/12/2021

As at 
31/12/2020

% %
1.  Sixth of October for Development and Real Estate Projects Company “SOREAL” - S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
2.  Beverly Hills for Management of Cities and Resorts Co. – S.A.E Egypt 44.46 46.75 
3.  SODIC Garden City for Development and Investment Co. S.A.E  Egypt 50 50 
4.  Al Yosr for Projects and Real Estate Development Co. – S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
5.  SODIC for Development and Real Estate Investment Co. – S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
6.  SODIC Polygon for Real Estate Investment Co. – S.A.E Egypt 100 100
7.  SODIC for Golf and Tourist Development Co. – S.A.E Egypt 100 100
8.  Fourteen for Real Estate Investment Co. – S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
9.  La Maison for Real Estate Investment Co. – S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
10. Tegara for Trading Centers Co. S.A.E Egypt 99.99 99.99
11. Edara for Services of Cities and Resorts Co. – S.A.E  Egypt 99.97 99.97
12. Soreal for Real Estate Investment Egypt 99.99 99.99
13. SODIC for Securitization Egypt 99.99 99.99
14. SODIC Syria L.L.C (*) Syria 100 100
15. Tabrouk Development Company (D) Egypt 100 100
16. El Diwan for Real Estate Development Company Egypt 100 100
17. SODIC for Clubs Company Egypt 100 100

 (*)  On June 15, 2010, SODIC Syria Co. a Syrian limited liability Co. was established for acquiring a 50% stake of the share capital of Palmyra - SODIC for Real Estate Development L.L.C, a limited liability company registered and operating in the Syrian Arab Republic. 

b. Non-controlling interests
NCI are measured at their proportionate share of the acquirer’s identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

c. Loss of control 
When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. 
Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

d. Investments accounted for equity method
Investments that are accounted for using the equity method comprise interests in associates and joint venture. And have no right to its assets and obligations for its liabilities associated with the arrangements.

Associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the group has joint control, whereby the group has rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

Investments in associates and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognized at cost, which includes transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the group share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity-accounted investees.

e. Transaction elimination on consolidation
Intra - group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra - group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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53.2. Foreign currency

a. Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date.

Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.

Non - monetary assets and liabilities that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency differences are generally recognized in profit or loss.

However, foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the following items are recognized in OCI:

 � Financial assets at fair value through OCI (except on impairment, in which case foreign currency differences that have been recognized in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss).
 � A financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is effective.
 � Qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedges are effective.

b. Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated at the exchange rates at the reporting date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognized in OCI and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that the translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its entirety or partially such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the translation reserve related to that foreign operation is 
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

If the Group disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but retains control, then the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI.

When the Group disposes of only part of an associate or joint venture while retaining significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.

53.3. Discontinued operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held – for - sale. 

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss and OCI is re-presented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

53.4. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

 � The Company applied the EAS No. 48 as of January 1, 2020.Information about the Company’s accounting policies relating to contracts with customers is provided in five steps as identified (in Note No.5-B):
 � Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized by the company based on five step module as identified in EAS No. 48:

Step 1: Determine the contract (contracts) with customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two or more parties that meets the rights and obligations based on specified standards which must be 
met for each contract.
Step 2: Determine the performance obligations in contract: Performance obligations is a consideration when the goods and services are delivered. 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price: Transaction price is the compensation amount that the Company expects to recognize to receive for the transfer of goods or services to customer ,except for the collected 
amounts on behalf of other parties. 
Step :4 Allocation of the transaction price of the performance obligations in the contract :If the service concession arrangement contains more than one performance obligation ,the Company will allocate the 
transaction price on each performance obligation by an amount that specifies an amount against the contract in which the Company expects to receive in exchange for each performance obligation satisfaction.
Step :5 Revenue recognition when the entity satisfies its performance obligations.
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 � The Company satisfy the performance obligation and recognize revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met: -

a. Company performance does not arise any asset that has an alternative use of the Company and the Company has an enforceable right to pay for completed performance until the date.
b. The Company arise or improves a customer-controlled asset when the asset is arise or improved.
c. The customer receives and consumes the benefits of Company performance at the same time as soon as the company has performed.

 � For performance obligations, if one of the above conditions is met, revenue is recognized in the year in which the Company satisfies performance obligation.
 � When the Company satisfies performance obligation by providing the services promised, it creates an asset based on payment for the contract performance obtained, when the amount of the contract received 

from customer exceeds the amount of the revenue recognized, resulting advance payments from the customer (contractual obligation)
 � Revenue is recognized to the extent that is potential for the flow of economic benefits to the Company, revenue and costs can be measured reliably, where appropriate.
 � The application of Egyptian Accounting Standard No. 48 requires management to use the following judgements:

Satisfaction of performance obligation 

 � The Company should assess all contracts with customers to determine whether performance obligations are satisfied over a period of time or at a point in time in order to determine the appropriate method for 
revenue recognition. The Company estimated that, and based on the agreement with customers, the Company does not arise asset has alternative use to the Company and usually has an enforceable right to 
pay it for completed performance to the date.

 � In these circumstances, the Company recognizes revenue over a period of time, and if that is not the case, revenue is recognized at a point in time for the sale of goods, and revenue is usually recognized at a point 
in time.

Determine the transaction price 

 � The Company has to determine the price of the transaction in its agreement with customers, using this judgement, the Company estimates the impact of any variable contract price on the contract due to 
discount, fines, any significant financing component in the contract, or any non-cash contract.

Control transfer in contracts with customers 

 � If the Company determines the performance obligations satisfaction at a point of time, revenue is recognized when control of related contract’ assets are transferred to the customer.
 � In addition, the application of Egyptian Accounting Standard No. 48 has resulted in:

Allocation of the transaction price of performance obligation in contracts with customers

 � The Company elected to apply the input method to allocate the transaction price to performance obligations accordingly that revenue is recognized over a period of time, the Company considers the use of the 
input method, which requires recognition of revenue based on the Company’s efforts to satisfy performance obligations, provides the best reference to the realized revenue. When applying the input method, the 
Company estimates efforts or inputs to satisfy a performance obligation, In addition to the cost of satisfying a contractual obligation with customers, these estimates include the time spent on service contracts.

Other matters to be considered

 � Variable consideration if the consideration pledged in a contract includes a variable amount, then the Company shall estimate the amount of the consideration in which it has a right in exchange for transferring 
the goods or services pledged to the customer, the Company estimates the transaction price on contracts with the variable consideration using the expected value or the most likely amount method. This 
method is applied consistently throughout the contract and for identical types of contracts.

The significant funding component

 � The Company shall adjust the amount for the contract pledged for the time value of the cash if the contract has a significant funding component.
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Revenue recognition

a. Real estate and land sales  

 � Revenue from sale of residential units, offices, commercial shops, service, and villas and for which contracts were concluded is recorded when upon transferring control to customers whether the said units have 
been completed or semi – completed (finished or semi-finished) at a value that reflects the expected value of the company in exchange for those units. To reflect those units / lands at a certain point of time. 

 � Revenues from sale of units/lands is recognized net after deducting the value of sales returns and deducting discounts granted to customers for early payment of future instalments of the units over which 
control has transferred to customers.

 � Revenues from sale of units/lands also includes the value of interest on instalments collected during the financial year / period from previous years’ sales.

The significant funding component

 � The company collects advance payments and instalments from customers, before the transfer of control over contracted units to customers as agreed in the contract, accordingly there is a significant financing 
component in these contracts, taking into account the length of time between the customer’s payments and the transfer of control to him, and the interest rate prevailing in the market.

 � The transaction price for those contracts is discounted using the interest rate implicit in the contract, and the company uses the rate that would have been used in the event of a separate financing contract 
between the company and the customer at the beginning of the contract, which is usually equal to the interest rate prevailing in the state at the time of the contract.

 � The company uses the exception of the practical application for short-term payments received from customers. This means the amounts collected from customers will not be modified to reflect the impact of 
the significant financing component if the period between the transfer of control over the units, service or payment is a year or less.

b. Services revenue
Service revenue is recognized when the service is rendered to customers. No revenue is recognized if there is uncertainty for the consideration or its associated costs.

c. Rental income
Rental income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

d. Interest income
Interest income is recognized using the accrual basis, considering the period of time and effective interest rate.

e. Commission revenue 
Commission revenue is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss according to the accrual basis of accounting.

f. Dividends
Dividends income is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on the date the Company’s right to receive payments is established.

g. Construction contracts
Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations orders in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that is probable that they will result in revenue and can be 
measured reliably. As soon as the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and expenses is recognized according to the stage of completion of the contract. The stage of completion 
is assessed by reference to surveys of work performed. When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are 
likely to be recoverable. For construction contracts under process a provision for expected losses, if any, is immediately formed whenever such losses are determined.

Construction contract costs include all direct costs such as material cost, supplies, equipment depreciation and labor cost also includes indirect costs incurred by company such as indirect labor and maintenance. Also 
the cost includes general and administrative expense directly attributable to suck work.

The difference between the estimated revenue calculated based on the percentage of completion and the amount collected from the actual billing to the customer is recognized as “due from customers” within the current 
assets caption. In case that the actual collections from customers is exceeding the estimated revenues calculated based on percentage of completion the difference is recognized as a due to customers within the current 
liabilities.

h. Sale of goods revenue
Revenue is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated 
reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. For export sales, transfer of risks and rewards of the goods sold occurs according to the 
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shipping terms.

i. Gain on sale of investments
Gain on sale of financial investments is recognized when ownership transfers to the buyer, based on the difference between the sale price and its carrying amount at the date of the sale. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the company, and revenue is realized when there is sufficient expectation that there are future economic benefits that will flow to the 
company, and that the value of this revenue can be measured accurately, hence no revenue is recognized in the event of uncertainty about the recovery of this revenue Or the costs associated with it.

53.5. Employee benefit

a. Short – term employee benefits
Short - term employee benefits are expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

b. Share – based payment arrangements
The grant (date fair value of equity) settled share - based payment arrangements granted to employees is generally recognized as an expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting period of the 
awards. The amount recognized  as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of awards for which the related service and non - market performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount 
ultimately recognized is based on the number of awards that meet the related service and non - market performance conditions at the vesting date. 

For share - based payment awards with non - vesting conditions, the grant - date fair value of the share - based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected 
and actual outcomes.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of SAR’s, which are settled in cash, is recognized as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the year during which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value of the SAR’s. Any changes in the liability are recognized in profit or loss.

c. Defined contribution plans
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the related service is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future 
payments is available.

The Group pays contributions to the Public Authority for Social Insurance for their employees based on the rules of the social insurance law no 79 for the year 1975. The employees and employers contribute under this 
law with a fixed percentage of wages. The Group’s commitment is limited to the value of their contribution. And the Group’s contribution amount expensed in profits and losses according to accrual basis.

The company also contributes to a group insurance program for its employees with one of the insurance companies. Accordingly, the insured employees receive end of service benefits when leaving the Company that 
will be paid by the insurance company. The contribution of the Company is limited to the monthly instalments. Contributions are charged to statement of profit or loss using the accrual basis. The program has been 
suspended starting from April 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 according to the company’s management decision and continued from January 2021.

53.6. Finance income and finance costs
The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

 � interest income
 � interest expense
 � The foreign currency gain or loss on financial assets and financial liabilities
 � The fair value loss on contingent consideration classified as a financial liability

The net gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date on which the group’s right to receive payment is established.

53.7. Income Tax
Current tax and deferred tax are recognized as income or expense in the profit or loss for the year, except in cases in which the tax results from a process or an event that is recognized - at the same time or in a different 
year - outside the profit or loss, whether in other comprehensive income or in equity directly or business combination.
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a. Current income tax
The current tax for the current year and prior years and that have not been paid are recognized as a liability, but if the taxes that have already been paid in the current year or prior years are excess of the value payable for 
these years , this increase is recognized as an asset. The taxable current liabilities   (assets) for the current year and prior years are measured at expected value paid to (recovered from) the tax authority, using the current 
tax rates (and tax laws) or in the process to be issued by the end of the financial year. Dividends are subject to tax as part of the current tax. Tax assets and liabilities are set-off only when certain conditions are met.

b. Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognized for:

 � The initial recognition of goodwill.
 � The initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that:

a. Is not a business combination.
b.Does not affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (or loss).

 � Temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements to the extent that the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

 � Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they 
can be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the company’s future business plans. Deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date, and recognized to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are set-off only if certain conditions are met.

53.8. Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on the weighted average method. The cost also includes other expenses incurred by the company to bring the 
inventory to its location and its current condition.

The net realisable value is determined on the basis of the expected selling price under normal circumstances, minus the estimated costs required to complete the sale.

53.9. Units ready for sale
Units ready for sale are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower. Cost is calculated based on the product of the total area of the remaining units ready for sale on the reporting date multiplied by the 
average cost per meter. (The cost of the units includes land, utilities, construction, construction related professional fees, labour cost and other direct and indirect expenses). Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

53.10. Work in process
All costs relating to uncompleted works are recorded in work in process account until the completion of the works. Work in process is stated in the consolidated balance sheet at cost or net realizable value whichever 
is lower. Costs include directly attributable cost needed to bring the units to the selling status.

For variable land acquisition consideration, the company recognizes what was actually paid as part of the cost of work in progress, the cost is subsequently settled whether by increase or decrease according to actual 
payments and returns.
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53.11. Property, plant and equipment

a. Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in profit or loss.

b. Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group.

c. Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated residual values using the (straight-line method) over their estimated useful lives for each item, and is 
generally recognized in profit or loss.

Land is not depreciated. Estimated depreciation rates for each type of assets for current and comparative years are as follow:

Asset Years
Buildings and construction works 5-20
Caravans 5-10
Vehicles and transportation 5
Furniture and fixtures 4-10
Beach Furniture and fixtures 3-5
Office and communications equipment 5

Computer software 3

Solar power stations 25
Generators, machinery and equipment 2-5
Kitchen utensils  10
Wells, pumps and networks 4
Leasehold improvements 5 years or lease term whichever is lower
Solar stations 25
Golf course assets

Constructions 20
Irrigation networks 15
Equipment and tools 15

53.12. Projects under construction
Projects under construction are recognized initially at cost. Cost includes all expenditures directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. Projects under construction are transferred 
to property, plant and equipment caption when they are completed and ready for their intended use.

53.13. Investments properties under development
Investments properties under development are recognized initially at cost. Cost includes all expenditures directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. Investments properties 
under development are transferred to Investments properties caption when they are completed and ready for their intended use.
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53.14. Intangible assets and goodwill

a. Recognition and measurement

I. Goodwill:
Arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

II. Research and development:
 � Expenditure on research activities is recognized in profit or loss as incurred
 � Development expenditure is recognized only if the expenditure can be measured reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the group 

intends to and has sufficient resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. Otherwise it is recognized in profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, development expenditure 
is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses.

III. Other intangible assets:
Other intangible assets, including patents and trademarks, that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.

b. Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when the intangible asset will increase the future economic benefits embodied in project, research, and development under construction which is recognized as intangible 
assets. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

c. Amortization
Amortization is calculated to write off the cost of intangible assets less their estimated residual values using the (straight - line method) over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognized in profit or loss. 

Goodwill is not amortized.

53.15. Investment properties
This item includes properties held for rent or increase in its value or both of them, Investment property is initially measured at cost and subsequently at fair value with any change therein recognized in profit or loss.

Depreciation is charged to statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of the investment properties. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

Asset Years
Leased units 20
Roads 20
Elevators 10
Agriculture and landscape 10
Air-conditions 5
Sound systems and cameras 2

Any gain or loss on disposal of investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognized in profit or loss.
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53.16. Financial instruments

1. Recognition and initial measurement 
Trade receivables and debt securities issued are initially recognized when they are originated. All other financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

2. Classification and subsequent measurement 

Financial assets- The applied policy from January 1, 2020
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortized cost; FVOCI – debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the 
first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model. 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

 � It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect future cash flows.
 � Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 � It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets.
 � Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably 
designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortized cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise. 

The accounting policies related to the application are similar to the accounting policies applied by the Company, with the exception of the following accounting policy, which came into effect starting from January 1, 
2020.

Financial assets- Business Model Assessment: Policy applied from January 1, 2020
The Company makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed, and information is provided 
to management. The information considered includes: 

 � The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a 
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

 � How the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management; and
 � The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 
 � How managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 
 � The frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for de-recognition are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.
Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.
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Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest: Policy applied from 1 January 2020 
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Company considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains 
a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Company considers: 

 � Contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
 � Terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 
 � Prepayment and extension features; and 
 � Terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse features). 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium to its contractual per amount, a feature 
that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable additional compensation 
for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial recognition. 

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses: Policy applied from January 1, 2020 

Financial assets classified at FVTPL Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value. Changes in the fair value, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortized cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest 
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in 
profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-recognition is recognized in profit or loss. 

Equity investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognized as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents 
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses 
are recognized in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using 
the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognized in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in OCI. On de-
recognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss.

53.17. Share capital

1. Ordinary Shares
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. Income tax relating to transaction costs of an equity transaction are accounted for in accordance with 
EAS No. (24) “Income Tax”.

2. Repurchase and reissue of ordinary shares (treasury shares)
When shares recognized as equity are repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attributable costs is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repurchased shares are classified as 
treasury shares and are presented as a deduction from equity. When treasury shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognized as an increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on 
the transaction is presented within share premium.
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53.18. Impairment

1. Non-derivative financial assets 

Policy applied from January 1, 2020

Financial instruments and contract assets
The Company recognizes loss allowances for ECLs on: 

 � Financial assets measured at amortized cost; 
 � Debt investments measured at FVOCI; and 
 � Contract assets.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs: 

 � Debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and 
 � Other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial recognition. 
 � Loss allowances for trade receivables and lease receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is 
relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and including 
forward-looking information. 

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

 � The debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to actions such as releasing security (if any is held); or 
 � The financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 

The Company considers a debt security to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument. 

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract 
and the cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortized cost and debt securities at FVOCI are credit impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have 
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

 � Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
 � A breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; 
 � The restructuring of a loan or advance by the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise; 
 � It is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or 
 � The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortized cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 

For debt securities at FVOCI, the loss allowance is charged to profit or loss and is recognized in OCI.

Write-off 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. For individual customers, the Company 
has a policy of writing off the gross carrying amount when the financial asset is two years past due based on historical experience of recoveries of similar assets. For corporate customers, the Company individually makes 
an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Company expects no significant recovery from the amount written off. However, 
financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

53.19. Provisions
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the 
discount is recognized as finance cost.

Provision for completion
A provision for completion of work is formed at the estimated value of the completion of the projects’ utility works (relating to the units delivered to customers and the completed units according to the contractual 
terms and conditions and the completed units for which contracts were not concluded) in their final form as determined by the Company’s technical department. The necessary provision is reviewed at the end of each 
reporting year until finalization of all the project works.

Onerous contracts provision
If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present obligations under onerous contracts are recognized and measured as a provision. However, before a separate provision for an onerous contract is established, the 
Group recognizes any impairment loss that has occurred on assets dedicated to that contract. An onerous contract is a contract under which the unavoidable costs (i.e., the costs that the Group cannot avoid because 
it has the contract) of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost of exiting from the 
contract, which is the lower of the cost of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil it.

53.20. Lease contracts

1. Determining whether the arrangement contains a lease contract or not
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.

Initially or when evaluating any arrangement that contains a contract lease, the Company separates the payments and the other consideration which are required by the arrangement of the lease and those of other 
elements based on their relative fair values. If the Company concludes with a finance lease that it is not possible to separate the payments in a reliable manner, then the asset and the liability are recognized at an amount 
equal to the fair value of the underlying asset; Then the liability is reduced when the payments is fulfilled and the finance cost calculated on the obligation is recognized using the Company’s additional borrowing rate.

2. Leased assets
Lease contracts for property, plant and equipment that are transferred in a large degree to the Company, all of the risks and rewards associated with the property are classified as finance leases. Leased assets are initially 
measured at an amount equal to the fair value of the fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments, whichever is less. After initial recognition, the assets are accounted for according to the accounting 
policy applied to that asset.

Assets held under other contracts leases are classified as operating contracts leases and are not recognized in the Company’s statement of financial position.
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3. Lease payments
Operating leases’ payments are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Received lease incentives are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the lease term.

The minimum lease payments of finance leases are divided between financing expenses and the reduction of unpaid liabilities. Finance charges are charged for each period during the lease period to reach a fixed 
periodic interest rate on the remaining balance of the obligation.

53.21. Cash and cash equivalents 
As a basis for preparation of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, checks under collection and time deposits, that have maturity date less than three months from the purchase 
date. Also Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are considered a complementary part of the Group’s cash management.

53.22. Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognized as an expense when incurred using the effective interest rate.

53.23. Interest –bearing borrowings
Interest – bearing borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of attributable transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost, any differences between cost and redemption 
value are recognized in the statement of profit or loss over the year of the borrowing using the effective interest rate. 

53.24. Cost of sold lands
The cost of sold lands is computed based on the value of the net area of land sold in addition to its respective share in road areas as determined by the Company’s technical management, plus its share of the open area 
cost as well as its share of infrastructure cost.

53.25. Employees’ profit sharing 
As per the Companies Law, employees are entitled to receive not less than 10% of the distributed profits, after deducting a percentage to support the legal reserve, according to the rules proposed by the Company’s 
board of directors and after the approval of General Assembly Meeting which should not exceed the total employees’ annual salaries.

Employees’ share in profit is recognized as dividends of profit and shown in the statement of changes in equity and as an obligation in the financial year at which the declaration has been authorized.

53.26. Earnings / (losses) per share
Earnings (losses) per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
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CONTACT US
This annual report is available online at

ir.sodic.com

SODIC
Km. 38 Cairo-Alexandria Desert Road, 
Sheikh Zayed City, Giza, Egypt

P.O. Box 119 Sheikh Zayed

(+202) 3827 0300

www.sodic.com
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